UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q
☒

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.
For the quarterly period ended July 29, 2017.
OR

☐

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.
For the transition period from __________ to __________.
Commission file number 001-14565

FRED’S, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
TENNESSEE
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Organization)

62-0634010
(I.R.S. EmployerIncorporation or Identification Number)

4300 New Getwell Road
Memphis, Tennessee 38118
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)
(901) 365-8880
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐.
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to
be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files). Yes ☒ No ☐.
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an
emerging growth company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer”, “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer ☐
Accelerated filer ☒
Non-accelerated filer ☐

Smaller reporting company ☐
Emerging Growth Company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒.
The registrant had 38,077,675 shares of Class A voting, no par value common stock outstanding as of September 1, 2017.

FRED’S, INC.
INDEX
Page No.
Part I - Financial Information
Item 1 - Financial Statements:
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 29, 2017 (unaudited) and January 28, 2017

3

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Thirteen Weeks and Twenty-Six Weeks Ended July 29, 2017 (unaudited) and
July 30, 2016 (unaudited)

4

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the Thirteen Weeks and Twenty-Six Weeks Ended July 29, 2017
(unaudited) and July 30, 2016 (unaudited)

4

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Twenty-Six Weeks Ended July 29, 2017 (unaudited) and July 30, 2016
(unaudited)

5

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

6-16

Item 2 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

17-23

Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

23

Item 4 – Controls and Procedures

23

Part II - Other Information

24-25

Item 1 – Legal Proceedings
Item 1A – Risk Factors
Item 2 – Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Item 3 – Defaults Upon Senior Securities
Item 4 – Mine Safety Disclosures
Item 5 – Other Information
Item 6 – Exhibits

24
25
25
25
25
25
25

Signatures

26
2

Part I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
FRED’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except for number of shares)
July 29, 2017
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Inventories
Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,089 and $1,952, respectively
Other non-trade receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, at depreciated cost
Goodwill
Other intangibles, net
Other noncurrent assets, net
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Current portion of indebtedness
Accrued expenses and other
Total current liabilities
Long-term portion of indebtedness
Deferred income taxes
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

$

$

$

January 28,
2017

5,732
321,975
50,560
31,686
10,624
420,577
124,682
41,490
74,922
1,115
662,786

$

125,738
62
95,753
221,553
138,660
2,960
28,944
392,117

$

$

5,830
331,809
51,668
33,954
11,945
435,206
130,922
41,490
85,685
6,104
699,407

147,340
60
64,648
212,048
128,388
1,974
19,801
362,211

Commitments and contingencies (see Note 9-Legal Contingencies)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, nonvoting, no par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding
Preferred stock, Series A junior participating nonvoting, no par value, 224,594 shares authorized, none
outstanding
Preferred stock, Series B junior participating voting, $100 par value, 50,000 shares authorized, no shares
issued or outstanding
Preferred stock, Series C junior participating voting, $60 par value, 50,000 shares authorized, no shares issued
or outstanding
Common stock, Class A voting, no par value, 60,000,000 shares authorized, 38,085,378 and 37,940,040
shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Common stock, Class B nonvoting, no par value, 11,500,000 shares authorized, none outstanding
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

122,105
—
148,098
466
270,669
662,786

118,090
—
218,640
466
337,196
699,407

$

FRED’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

$

Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 29,
July 30,
2017
2016
507,837 $
529,503
381,838
401,365
125,999
128,138

$

Twenty-Six Weeks Ended
July 29,
July 30,
2017
2016
1,040,157 $
1,079,051
781,246
809,591
258,911
269,460

Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating loss

11,296
142,806
(28,103)

11,761
127,285
(10,908)

22,922
298,264
(62,275)

23,324
254,616
(8,480)

Interest expense
Loss before income taxes

1,437
(29,540)

610
(11,518)

2,724
(64,999)

1,125
(9,605)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Net Loss

$

(23 )
(29,517 )

$

(4,590 )
(6,928 ) $

979
(65,978 ) $

(3,933 )
(5,672 )

Net loss per share
Basic

$

(0.78 )

$

(0.18 ) $

(1.76 ) $

(0.15 )

$

(0.78 )

$

(0.18 ) $

(1.76 ) $

(0.15 )

Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Effect of dilutive stock options
Diluted

37,461
—
37,461

Dividends per common share

$

0.06

36,760
—
36,760
$

0.06

37,408
—
37,408
$

0.12

36,747
—
36,747
$

0.12

FRED’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(unaudited)
(in thousands)

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (expense), net of tax postretirement plan
adjustment

$

Comprehensive loss

$

Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 29,
July 30,
2017
2016
(29,517) $
(6,928) $
—
(29,517 )

$

—

—

(6,928 ) $

(65,978 ) $

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Twenty-Six Weeks Ended
July 29,
July 30,
2017
2016
(65,978) $
(5,672)
—
(5,672 )

FRED’S, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Twenty-Six Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Net (gain) loss on asset disposition
Provision for store closures and asset impairment
Stock-based compensation
Provision (recovery) for uncollectible receivables
LIFO (credit) charge
Deferred income tax benefit (charge)
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Trade and non-trade receivables
Insurance receivables
Inventories
Other assets
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Other noncurrent liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from asset dispositions
Insurance recoveries for replacement assets
Asset acquisition, net (primarily intangibles)
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Payments of indebtedness and capital lease obligations
Proceeds from revolving line of credit
Payments on revolving line of credit
Debt issuance costs
Proceeds (payments) from exercise of stock options and employee stock purchase plan
Cash dividends paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents - total net change
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year
End of period

$

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes refunded

$
$

(65,978) $
22,922
(124)
2,199
3,168
137
(1,267)
985
91

23,324
320
77
1,496
(767)
1,087
(4,343)
53

3,313
(45)
11,101
6,427

(95)
473
(6,711)
1,066

10,518
(28)
9,141
2,560

(36,502)
3,204
(3,004 )
(25,994 )

(7,529)
1,272
—
(1,853 )
(8,110 )

(13,126)
426
263
(9,157 )
(21,594 )

(29)
464,443
(453,774)
(457)
(167)
(4,564 )
5,452

(592)
490,752
(438,080)
—
251
(4,479 )
47,852

(98)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
5

(5,672)

5,830
5,732

264

$

2,724 $
(1,396) $

5,917
6,181

1,125
(2,472)

FRED’S, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1: BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Fred’s, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Fred’s”, “Fred’s Pharmacy”, “We”, “Our”, “Us” or “Company”) operate, as of July 29, 2017, 601 discount general
merchandise stores and three specialty pharmacy-only locations, in fifteen states in the Southeastern United States. Included in the count of discount general
merchandise stores are 14 franchised locations. There are 350 full service pharmacy departments located within our discount general merchandise stores,
including one within franchised locations.
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and are presented in accordance with the requirements of Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X
and therefore do not include all information and notes necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows in
conformity with GAAP. The accompanying financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring accruals) which are, in the
opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of financial position in conformity with GAAP. The accompanying financial statements should be
read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2017 included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K, which we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 13, 2017.
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2017 presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net loss.
The results of operations for the thirteen week and twenty-six week periods ended July 29, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for
the full fiscal year.
All references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to 2016 and 2017 refer to the fiscal years ended January 28, 2017 and ending February 3, 2018,
respectively.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and
Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. This ASU is intended to simplify the accounting for goodwill impairment by removing the
requirement to perform a hypothetical purchase price allocation. A goodwill impairment will now be the amount by which the reporting unit’s carrying value
exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. All other goodwill impairment guidance will remain largely unchanged. This new
standard will be applied prospectively and is effective for annual or interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019.
Early adoption is permitted after January 1, 2017. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash . This ASU requires that a statement of cash flows
explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents.
Therefore, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling
the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of this
standard will have a material impact on our consolidated statement of cash flows.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. This
ASU addresses the classification of certain specific cash flow issues including debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, settlement of certain debt
instruments, contingent consideration payments made after a business combination, proceeds from the settlement of certain insurance claims and
distributions received from equity method investees. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. An entity that elects early adoption must adopt all of the amendments in the same period. The Company
does not anticipate the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our consolidated statement of cash flows.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-04, Liabilities – Extinguishments of Liabilities (Subtopic 405-20): Recognition of Breakage for Certain Prepaid
Stored-Value Products. The amendments in the ASU are designed to provide guidance and eliminate diversity in the accounting for derecognition of prepaid
stored-value product liabilities. Typically, a prepaid stored-value product liability is to be derecognized when it is probable that a significant reversal of the
recognized breakage amount will not subsequently occur. This is when the likelihood of the product holder exercising its remaining rights becomes remote.
This estimate shall be updated at the end of each period. The amendments in this ASU are effective for the annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2017, including the interim periods within that reporting period. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of this
standard will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The amendments in the ASU are designed to increase transparency and comparability
among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The
amendments in this ASU are effective for the annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including the interim periods within that reporting
period. Early adoption is permitted. The Company has identified all leases impacted by this pronouncement. Currently, the Company is evaluating different
software available to maintain all leases in compliance with this pronouncement. The Company has established a committee to ensure compliance with this
standard upon adoption in 2019. The Company does not plan to early adopt and expects material changes to the financial position created at the inception of
compliance with this standard. The Company will continue to evaluate the impact the guidance will have on the Company’s results of operations and cash
flows.
In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), an update to ASU 2014-09. This ASU amends ASU
2014-09 to defer the effective date by one year for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Subsequently, the FASB has also issued
accounting standards updates which clarify the guidance. This ASU removes inconsistencies, complexities and allows transparency and comparability of
revenue transactions across entities, industries, jurisdictions and capital markets by providing a single comprehensive principles-based model with additional
disclosures regarding uncertainties. The principles-based revenue recognition model has a five-step analysis of transactions to determine when and how
revenue is recognized. The core principle is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Early adoption is permitted for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. In transition, the ASU may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or
retrospectively with the cumulative effect recognized as of the date of adoption. The Company is in the process of developing additional controls to ensure
proper oversight and actively working to comply with this guidance as it relates to gift cards sales, loyalty programs, coupons and discounts and other areas
of the business impacted by the pronouncement. Transition to the new guidance may be made by retroactively revising prior year financial statements or by a
cumulative effect on retained earnings. If a cumulative effect through retained earnings is chosen, additional disclosures are required. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact the guidance will have on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows, and the method of
transition to the new guidance that will be adopted.
Termination of Asset Purchase Agreement
On December 19, 2016, Fred’s and its wholly-owned subsidiary, AFAE, LLC (“Buyer”), entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase
Agreement”) with Rite Aid Corporation (“Rite Aid”) and Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. (“Walgreens”), pursuant to which Buyer agreed to purchase 865
stores, certain intellectual property and other tangible assets (collectively, the “Assets”) and to assume certain liabilities for a cash purchase price of $950
million (the “Rite Aid Transaction”). Pursuant to Section 8.01(g) of the Asset Purchase Agreement, each of Buyer, Walgreens or Rite Aid is permitted to
terminate the Asset Purchase Agreement upon the termination of that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 27, 2015, among Walgreens,
Rite Aid and the other parties thereto (as amended, the “Merger Agreement”).
On June 29, 2017, the Merger Agreement was terminated and, accordingly, the Asset Purchase Agreement was also terminated, effective immediately. In
connection with the termination of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company received a termination fee payment of $25 million on June 30, 2017.
See Note 10: Indebtedness for additional information relating to the termination of the Asset Purchase Agreement.
NOTE 2: INVENTORIES
Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the retail first-in, first-out (FIFO) inventory method for goods in our stores and the
cost FIFO inventory method for goods in our distribution centers. The retail inventory method is a reverse mark-up, averaging method which has been widely
used in the retail industry for many years. This method calculates a cost-to-retail ratio that is applied to the retail value of inventory to determine the cost
value of inventory and the resulting cost of goods sold and gross margin. The assumptions that the retail inventory method provides for valuation at lower of
cost or market and the inherent uncertainties therein are discussed in the following paragraphs. In order to assure valuation at the lower of cost or market, the
retail value of our inventory is adjusted on a consistent basis to reflect current market conditions. These adjustments include increases to the retail value of
inventory for initial markups to set the selling price of goods or additional markups to adjust pricing for inflation and decreases to the retail value of
inventory for markdowns associated with promotional, seasonal or other declines in the market value. Because these adjustments are made on a consistent
basis and are based on current prevailing market conditions, they approximate the carrying value of the inventory at net realizable value (market value).
Therefore, after applying the cost to retail ratio, the cost value of our inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market as is prescribed by GAAP.
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Because the approximation of net realizable value (market value) under the retail inventory method is based on estimates such as markups, markdowns and
inventory losses (shrink), there exists an inherent uncertainty in the final determination of inventory cost and gross margin. In order to mitigate that
uncertainty, the Company has a formal review process, conducted by product class which considers such variables as current market trends, seasonality,
weather patterns and age of merchandise to ensure that markdowns are taken currently, or a markdown reserve is established to cover future anticipated
markdowns on a particular product class. This review also considers current pricing trends and inflation to ensure that markups are taken if necessary. The
estimation of inventory losses (shrink) is a significant element in approximating the carrying value of inventory at net realizable value, and as such the
following paragraph describes our estimation method as well as the steps we take to mitigate the risk of this estimate in the determination of the cost value of
inventory.
The Company calculates inventory losses (shrink) based on actual inventory losses occurring as a result of physical inventory counts during each fiscal
period and estimated inventory losses occurring between yearly physical inventory counts. The estimate for shrink occurring in the interim period between
physical counts is calculated on a store-specific basis and is based on history, as well as performance on the most recent physical count. It is calculated by
multiplying each store’s shrink rate, which is based on the previously mentioned factors, by the interim period’s sales for each store. Additionally, the overall
estimate for shrink is adjusted at the corporate level to a three-year historical average to ensure that the overall shrink estimate is the most accurate
approximation of shrink based on the Company’s overall history of shrink. The three-year historical estimate is calculated by dividing the “book to physical”
inventory adjustments for the trailing 36 months by the related sales for the same period. In order to reduce the uncertainty inherent in the shrink calculation,
the Company first performs the calculation at the lowest practical level (by store) using the most current performance indicators. This ensures a more reliable
number, as opposed to using a higher level aggregation or percentage method. The second portion of the calculation ensures that the extreme negative or
positive performance of any particular store or group of stores does not skew the overall estimation of shrink. This portion of the calculation removes
additional uncertainty by eliminating short-term peaks and valleys that could otherwise cause the underlying carrying cost of inventory to fluctuate
unnecessarily. The methodology that we have applied in estimating shrink has resulted in variability that is not material to our financial statements.
Management believes that the Company’s retail inventory method provides an inventory valuation which reasonably approximates cost and results in
carrying inventory at the lower of cost or market. For pharmacy inventories, which were approximately $29.4 million and $39.5 million at July 29, 2017 and
January 28, 2017, respectively, cost was determined using the retail last-in, first-out (LIFO) inventory method in which inventory cost is maintained using the
retail inventory method, then adjusted by application of the Producer Price Index published by the U.S. Department of Labor for cumulative annual periods.
The current cost of inventories exceeded LIFO cost by approximately $51.5 million at July 29, 2017 and $52.8 million at January 28, 2017.
The Company has historically included an estimate of inbound freight and certain general and administrative costs in merchandise inventory as prescribed
by GAAP. These costs include activities surrounding the procurement and storage of merchandise inventory such as merchandise planning and buying,
warehousing, accounting, information technology and human resources, as well as inbound freight. The total amount of procurement and storage costs and
inbound freight, inclusive of the accelerated recognition of freight capitalization expense, included in merchandise inventory at July 29, 2017 is
$21.4 million, with the corresponding amount of $19.1 million at January 28, 2017.
During 2016, the Company recorded impairment charges for inventory clearance of product that management identified as low-productive and does not fit
our go-forward convenient and pharmacy healthcare services model. The Company recorded a below-cost inventory adjustment in accordance with FASB
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 330, “Inventory,” of approximately $13.0 million (including $1.6 million, for the accelerated recognition of
freight capitalization expense) in cost of goods sold to value inventory at the lower of cost or market on inventory identified as low-productive. At the
beginning of 2017, there was $9.2 million (including $1.2 million, for the accelerated recognition of freight capitalization expense) of impairment charges
remaining for inventory clearance of product related to 2016 strategic initiatives.
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The Company utilized $0.5 million (including $0.2 million for the accelerated recognition of freight capitalization expense) of impairment charges in the
first quarter of 2017 and $1.4 million (including $0.2 million for the accelerated recognition of freight capitalization expense) in the second quarter of 2017.
(See Note 12 – Exit and Disposal Activity).
The following table illustrates the inventory impairment charges related to the inventory clearance initiatives discussed in the previous paragraph (in
millions):
Balance at
January 28, 2017
Inventory markdown on low-productive inventory (2016 initiatives)
Inventory provision for freight capitalization expense (2016 initiatives)
Total

$

Additions

8.0
1.2
9.2

$

Ending Balance
July 29, 2017

Utilization
—
—
—

(1.5) $
(0.4 )
(1.9 ) $

6.5
0.8
7.3

NOTE 3: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans in accordance with FASB ASC 718 “ Compensation – Stock Compensation.” Under FASB
ASC 718, stock-based compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, and therefore has been reduced for estimated forfeitures.
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant based on the Company’s historical forfeiture experience and will be revised in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates.
FASB ASC 718 also requires the benefits of income tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather
than as an operating cash flow as required prior to FASB ASC 718. A summary of the Company’s stock-based compensation (a component of selling, general
and administrative expenses) and related income tax benefit is as follows:
(in thousands):
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016
Stock option expense
Restricted stock expense
ESPP expense
Total stock-based compensation

$

$

$

442
1,448
93
1,983

Income tax benefit on stock-based compensation

$

538
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Twenty-Six Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016
$

$

304
387
51
742

$

$

969
2,014
185
3,168

$

(120)
1,513
103
1,496

$

170

$

791

$

379

The fair value of each option granted during the thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended July 29, 2017 and July 30, 2016 is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016
Stock Options
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life (in years)
Expected dividend yield
Weighted average fair value at grant date

43.9%
2.0%
5.84
1.87%
$

4.99

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life (in years)
Expected dividend yield
Weighted average fair value at grant date

33.2%
1.4%
5.84
1.80%
$

98.8%
1.0%
0.50
0.78%
$

7.67

Twenty-Six Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016

4.05

41.5%
2.1%
5.84
1.86%
$

60.3%
0.9%
0.50
0.79%
$

3.78

4.35

33.3%
1.5%
5.84
1.79%
$

80.3%
1.0%
0.38
0.59%
$

6.31

4.06
59.8%
0.9%
0.38
0.59%

$

3.60

The following is a summary of the methodology applied to develop each assumption:
Expected Volatility - This is a measure of the amount by which a price has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuate. The Company uses actual historical changes
in the market value of our stock to calculate expected price volatility because management believes that this is the best indicator of future volatility. The
Company calculates weekly market value changes from the date of grant over a past period representative of the expected life of the options to determine
volatility. An increase in the expected volatility may increase compensation expense.
Risk-free Interest Rate - This is the yield of a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bond issue effective at the grant date with a remaining term equal to the expected life
of the option. An increase in the risk-free interest rate will increase compensation expense.
Expected Lives - This is the period of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding and is based on historical experience. Options
granted have a maximum term of seven to ten years. An increase in the expected life will increase compensation expense.
Dividend Yield – This is based on the historical yield for a period equivalent to the expected life of the option. An increase in the dividend yield will
decrease compensation expense.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2004 Plan”), which was approved by Fred’s shareholders, permits eligible employees to purchase shares of our
common stock through payroll deductions at the lower of 85% of the fair market value of the stock at the time of grant, or 85% of the fair market value at the
time of exercise. There were 33,878 shares issued during the twenty-six weeks ended July 29, 2017. There are 1,410,928 shares approved to be issued under
the 2004 Plan and as of July 29, 2017, there were 652,029 shares available.
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Stock Options
The following table summarizes stock option activity during the twenty-six weeks ended July 29, 2017:
WeightedAverage
Exercise Price

Options
Outstanding at January 28, 2017
Granted
Cancelled
Exercised
Outstanding at July 29, 2017
Exercisable at July 29, 2017

1,607,656 $
215,573
(120,140)
—
1,703,089 $
319,403

$

Weighted-Average
Contractual Life
(years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(000s)

13.55
12.40
15.19
—
13.29

6.0

$

2,070

5.7

—

15.66

4.7

—

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between Fred’s closing stock price on the last
trading day of the period ended July 29, 2017 and the exercise price of the option multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been
received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on that date. As of July 29, 2017, total unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense net of estimated forfeitures related to non-vested stock options was approximately $3.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of approximately 3.9 years. The total fair value of options vested during the twenty-six weeks ended July 29, 2017 was $827.4 thousand.
Restricted Stock
The following table summarizes restricted stock activity during the twenty-six weeks ended July 29, 2017:
Number of
Shares
Non-vested Restricted Stock at January 29, 2017
Granted
Forfeited / Cancelled
Vested
Non-vested Restricted Stock at July 29, 2017

WeightedAverage Grant
Date Fair Value

598,784 $
182,124
(36,647)
(219,886 )
524,375 $

15.08
12.18
18.18
15.09
13.86

The aggregate pre-tax intrinsic value of restricted stock outstanding as of July 29, 2017 is $3.6 million with a weighted average remaining contractual life of
6.6 years. The unrecognized compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures, related to the outstanding stock is approximately $4.0 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 4.3 years. The total fair value of restricted stock awards that vested during the
twenty-six weeks ended July 29, 2017 was $3.3 million.
NOTE 4 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy, as defined below,
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.
●
●
●

Level 1, defined as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity can access at the
measurement date.
Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which are based on an entity’s own assumptions as there is little, if any, observable
activity in identical assets or liabilities.
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Due to their short-term nature, the Company’s financial instruments, which include cash and cash equivalents, receivables and accounts payable, are
presented on the condensed consolidated balance sheets at a reasonable estimate of their fair value as of July 29, 2017 and January 28, 2017. There were
$125.0 million and $114.3 million of borrowings on the Company’s revolving line of credit as of July 29, 2017 and January 28, 2017, respectively. Refer to
Note 10 – Indebtedness. The fair value of the revolving lines of credit and our mortgage loans are estimated using Level 2 inputs based on the Company’s
current incremental borrowing rate for comparable borrowing arrangements.
The table below details the fair value and carrying values for the revolving line of credit, notes payable and mortgage loans as of the following dates:

(in thousands)
Revolving line of credit
Mortgage loans on land & buildings
Notes Payable

July 29, 2017
Carrying Value
Fair Value
$
125,000 $
125,000
1,609
1,746
13,000
12,528

January 28, 2017
Carrying Value
Fair Value
$
114,331 $
114,331
1,639
1,881
13,000
12,740

NOTE 5: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of assets. Improvements to
leased premises are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the initial term of the lease or the useful life of the improvement. Leasehold
improvements added late in the lease term are amortized over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease (including the upcoming renewal option, if the
renewal is reasonably assured) or the useful life of the improvement. Assets under capital leases are amortized in accordance with the Company’s normal
depreciation policy for owned assets or over the lease term (regardless of renewal options), if shorter, and the charge to earnings is included in depreciation
expense in the consolidated financial statements. Gains or losses on the sale of assets are recorded as a component of selling, general and administrative
expenses.
The following illustrates the breakdown of the major categories within property and equipment (in thousands):
July 29, 2017

January 28, 2017

Property and equipment, at cost:
Buildings and building improvements
Leasehold improvements
Automobiles and vehicles
Airplane
Furniture, fixtures and equipment

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Construction in progress
Land
Total Property and equipment, at depreciated cost

$

117,744 $
84,720
4,916
4,697
282,260
494,337
(381,180 )
113,157
2,944
8,581
124,682 $

117,501
86,019
5,029
4,697
288,868
502,114
(381,579 )
120,535
1,806
8,581
130,922

NOTE 6: EXIT AND DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES
Fixed Assets
The Company’s policy is to review the carrying value of all long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. We measure impairment losses of fixed assets and leasehold improvements as the amount by which the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value as prescribed by FASB ASC 360, “Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” If a long-lived
asset is found to be impaired, the amount recognized for impairment is equal to the difference between the carrying value and the asset’s fair value. The fair
value is based on estimated market values for similar assets or other reasonable estimates of fair market value based upon a discounted cash flow model,
which are considered Level 3 inputs.
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In 2015, the Company recorded impairment charges for fixed assets and leasehold improvements related to 2014 and 2015 planned store closures. In 2016,
the Company utilized all of the impairment charges related to the 2015 store closures and $0.2 million related to the 2014 store closures, leaving $0.5 million
of impairment charges. None of the remaining $0.5 million impairment charges were utilized as of July 29, 2017.
During fiscal 2016, a decision was made to close 39 underperforming stores in fiscal year 2017, which included 18 underperforming pharmacies. As a result,
the Company recorded charges in the amount of $2.0 million in selling, general and administrative expense for the impairment of fixed assets associated with
the closing stores and pharmacies and $2.3 million for the accelerated recognition of amortization of intangible assets associated with the closing pharmacies
of which $0.1 million was utilized during 2016. Additional impairment charges of $3.6 million were for fixed asset impairments related to the corporate
headquarters. During the first quarter of 2017, the locations were closed and the Company utilized the remaining balance of $4.2 million of impairment
charges relating to the 2016 planned store closures. None of the impairment charges relating to the corporate headquarters were utilized as of July 29, 2017.
In the second quarter of 2017, in association with the planned closure of additional underperforming stores and pharmacies, the Company recorded charges in
the amount of $0.8 million in selling, general and administrative expense for the impairment of fixed assets associated with the closing stores and pharmacies
and $1.4 million for the accelerated recognition of amortization of intangible assets associated with the closing pharmacies. None of these charges were
utilized as of July 29, 2017.
Inventory
As discussed in Note 2 - Inventories, we adjust inventory values on a consistent basis to reflect current market conditions. In accordance with FASB ASC 330,
“Inventories,” we write down inventory to net realizable value in the period in which conditions giving rise to the write-downs are first recognized.
In the third quarter of 2016, the Company recorded a below-cost inventory adjustment of approximately $3.2 million (including $1.3 million for the
accelerated recognition of freight capitalization expense) to value inventory at the lower of cost or market in 39 stores that were planned for closure in 2017.
In the fourth quarter of 2016, an additional below-cost inventory adjustment was recorded in the amount of $1.1 million and $0.2 million of the acceleration
recognition of freight cap expense was utilized. In the first quarter of 2017, the locations were closed and the Company utilized the full amount of the
inventory adjustment charges including the accelerated recognition of freight capitalization expense. No charges were recorded in the second quarter related
to planned store closures.
Lease Termination
For lease obligations related to closed stores, we record the estimated future liability associated with the rental obligation on the cease use date (when the
stores were closed). The lease obligations are established at the cease use date for the present value of any remaining operating lease obligations, net of
estimated sublease income, and at the communication date for severance and other exit costs, as prescribed by FASB ASC 420, “ Exit or Disposal Cost
Obligations.” Key assumptions in calculating the liability include the timeframe expected to terminate lease agreements, estimates related to the sublease
potential of closed locations, and estimates of other related exit costs. If actual timing and potential termination costs or realization of sublease income differ
from our estimates, the resulting liabilities could vary from recorded amounts. These liabilities are reviewed periodically and adjusted when necessary.
During fiscal 2016, the Company increased the lease liability for stores closed in 2016 by $0.5 million and utilized $0.3 million, leaving a liability of $0.2
million. In the first quarter of 2017, $0.1 million of this reserve was utilized. None of the remaining liability was utilized during the second quarter leaving
$0.1 million at July 29, 2017.
In the first quarter of 2017, the Company recorded a lease liability relating to the 39 underperforming store closures in fiscal 2017 of $8.2 million. In the
second quarter of 2017, $1.1 million was utilized.
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The following table illustrates the exit and inventory related to store closures, inventory strategic initiatives along with the lease liability related to the
planned store closures discussed in the previous paragraphs (in millions):
Balance
at January 28,
2017
Impairment charge for the disposal of fixed assets for 2017 planned closures
Impairment charge for the disposal of intangible assets for 2017 planned
closures
Impairment charge for the disposal of fixed assets for 2016 planned closures
Impairment charge for the disposal of intangible assets for 2016 planned
closures
Impairment charge for the disposal of fixed assets for corporate office
Impairment charge for the disposal of fixed assets for 2014 planned closures
Inventory markdowns for 2016 planned closures
Inventory provision for freight capitalization expense, 2016 planned
closures
Subtotal
Lease contract termination liability, 2014 - 2016 closures
Lease contract termination liability, 2017 closures
Total

$

—

$

$

Ending Balance
July 29, 2017

Utilization

0.8

$

—

$

0.8

—
2.0

1.4
—

—
(2.0)

1.4
—

2.2
3.6
0.5
3.0

—
—
—
—

(2.2)
—
—
(3.0)

—
3.6
0.5
—

1.1
12.4
0.2
—
12.6

$

Additions

$

$

—
2.2
—
8.2
10.4

$

$

(1.1 )
(8.3) $
(0.1)
(1.1 )
(9.5 ) $

—
6.3
0.1
7.1
13.5

NOTE 7: ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Comprehensive income consists of two components, net income and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) refers to gains
and losses that are recorded as an element of shareholders’ equity but are excluded from net income pursuant to GAAP. The Company’s accumulated other
comprehensive income includes the unrecognized prior service costs, transition obligations and actuarial gains/losses associated with our post-retirement
benefit plan.
The following table illustrates the activity in accumulated other comprehensive income:
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016

(in thousands)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Amortization of post-retirement benefit
Ending balance

$
$

466
—
466

$
$

475
—
475

Year Ended
January 28, 2017
$
$

765
(299 )
466

NOTE 8: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Atlantic Retail Investors, LLC, which is partially owned by Michael J. Hayes, a former director of the Company, owns the land and buildings occupied by
three Fred’s stores. Richard H. Sain, former Senior Vice President of Retail Pharmacy Business Development, owns the land and building occupied by one of
Fred’s Xpress Pharmacy locations. The terms and conditions regarding the leases on these locations were consistent in all material respects with other stores’
leases of the Company with unrelated landlords. The total rental payments made to related party leases were $286.4 thousand and $367.8 thousand for the
twenty-six weeks ended July 29, 2017 and July 30, 2016, respectively.
On April 10, 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of Reeves-Sain Drug Store, Inc., a provider of retail and specialty pharmaceutical services. As
part of the total consideration for the purchase, Fred’s provided notes payable totaling $13.0 million to the sellers of Reeves-Sain Drug Store, Inc., who
became employees of Fred’s as part of the acquisition. As of July 29, 2017, the sellers were former employees. The notes payable are due in three equal
installments to be paid on January 31 st of 2021, 2022 and 2023 and are subordinate to the Company’s revolving line of credit.
NOTE 9: LEGAL CONTINGENCIES
On October 15, 2015, a lawsuit entitled Southern Independent Bank v. Fred’s, Inc. was filed in the United States District Court, Middle District of Alabama
related to the Company’s malware data security incident. The complaint includes allegations made by the plaintiff on behalf of itself and financial
institutions similarly situated (“alleged class of financial institutions”) that the Company was negligent in failing to use reasonable care in obtaining,
retaining, securing and deleting the personal and financial information of customers who use debit cards issued by the plaintiff and alleged class of financial
institutions to make purchases at Fred’s stores. The complaint also includes allegations that the Company made negligent misrepresentations that the
Company possessed and maintained adequate data security measures and systems that were sufficient to protect the personal and financial information of
shoppers using debit cards issued by the plaintiff and alleged class of financial institutions. The complaint seeks monetary damages and equitable relief to
be proved at trial as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company has denied the allegations and has filed a motion to dismiss all claims. This motion has
since been denied, and the Company has now filed a motion to reconsider by certifying the question to the Alabama Supreme Court for clarity, which is still
pending before the court. Future costs or liabilities related to the incident may have a material adverse effect on the Company. The Company has not made
an accrual for future losses related to these claims at this time as the future losses are not considered probable. The Company has general liability policy with
a $10 million limit and $350,000 deductible. The $350,000 deductible represents the Company’s estimate of potential exposure related to this matter.
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On July 27, 2016, a lawsuit entitled The State of Mississippi v. Fred’s Inc., et al was filed in the Chancery Court of Desoto County, Mississippi, Third Judicial
District. The complaint alleges that the Company fraudulently reported their usual and customary prices to Mississippi’s Division of Medicaid in order to
receive higher reimbursements for prescription drugs. The complaint seeks declaratory and monetary relief for the profits alleged to have been unfairly earned
as well as attorney costs. The Company denies these allegations and believes it acted appropriately in its dealings with the Mississippi Division of Medicaid.
The Company successfully filed a Motion to Transfer to Circuit Court. The State filed and the Mississippi Supreme Court has accepted the State’s Petition for
Interlocutory Appeal, despite the Company filing a Joint Response in opposition to the Petition. Future costs and liabilities related to this case may have a
material adverse effect on the Company; however, the Company has not made an accrual for future losses related to these claims as future losses are not
considered probable and an estimate is unavailable. The Company has multiple insurance policies which the Company believes will limit its potential
exposure.
On September 29, 2016, the Company reported to the Office of Civil Rights (“OCR”) that an unencrypted laptop containing clinical and demographic data
for 9,624 individuals had been stolen from an employee’s vehicle while the vehicle was parked at the employee’s residence. On January 13, 2017, the OCR
opened an investigation into the incident. The Company has fully complied with the investigation and timely responded to all requests for information from
the OCR. Future costs and liabilities related to this case may have a material adverse effect on the Company; however, the Company has not made an accrual
for future losses related to these claims as future losses are not considered probable and an estimate is unavailable.
On March 30, 2017, a lawsuit entitled Tiffany Taylor, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated, v. Fred’s Inc. and Fred’s Stores of Tennessee,
Inc. was filed in the United Stated District Court for the Northern District of Alabama Southern Division. The complaint alleges that the Company wrongfully
and willfully violated the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (“FACTA”). On April 11, 2017, a lawsuit entitled Melanie Wallace, Sascha Feliciano,
and Heather Tyler, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, v. Fred’s Stores of Tennessee, Inc. was filed in the Superior Court of Fulton
County in the state of Georgia. The complaint alleges that the Company wrongfully and willfully violated FACTA. On April 13, 2017, a lawsuit entitled
Lillie Williams and Cussetta Journey, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, v. Fred’s Stores of Tennessee, Inc. was filed in the Superior
Court of Fulton County in the state of Georgia. The complaint also alleges that the Company wrongfully and willfully violated FACTA. The complaints are
filed as Class Actions, with the class being open for five (5) years before the date the complaint was filed. The complaint seeks statutory damages, attorney’s
fees, punitive damages, an injunctive order, and other such relief that the court may deem just and equitable. The Company has filed a Motion to Dismiss the
Taylor complaint, and this Motion is still pending before the court. The Company filed and the Court Granted Motions to Remove and Motions to Transfer
the Williams and Wallace matters to the Northern District of Alabama. Since the Williams and Wallace matters were removed and transferred to the Northern
District of Alabama, the Company has filed a Motion to Consolidate the Taylor, Williams, and Wallace matters. The Court has yet to rule on the Motion to
Consolidate. Plaintiff’s counsel for the Williams and Wallace matters has filed a Motion to Remand the matters. Fred’s has opposed the Motion to Remand,
and the Motion to Remand is still pending. Future costs and liabilities related to this case may have a material adverse effect on the Company; however, the
Company has not made an accrual for future losses related to these claims as future losses are not considered probable and an estimate is unavailable.
In addition to the matters disclosed above, the Company is party to several pending legal proceedings and claims arising in the normal course of business.
Although the outcomes of these proceedings and claims against the Company cannot be determined with certainty, management of the Company is of the
opinion that these proceedings and claims should not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial statements as a whole. However, litigation
involves an element of uncertainty. Future developments could cause these actions or claims, individually or in aggregate, to have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s financial statements as a whole. The Company has not made any material accruals for future losses related to these proceedings and claims
as future losses are not considered probable at this time and estimates are unavailable.
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NOTE 10: INDEBTEDNESS
On April 9, 2015, the Company entered into a Revolving Loan and Credit Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Regions Bank and Bank of America to replace
the Company’s previous revolving credit facility. The proceeds were used to refinance amounts outstanding under the prior credit and to support
acquisitions and the Company’s working capital needs. The Agreement initially provided for a $150.0 million secured revolving line of credit, including a
sublimit for letters of credit and swingline loans. The Agreement, which expires on April 9, 2020, was amended effective January 30, 2017 to increase the
loan commitment from $150 million to $225 million. On July 31, 2017 the Company amended the Agreement and related security agreement to: (i) increase
the revolving loan commitment from $225 million to $270 million, (ii) increase the pharmacy scripts advance rate, (iii) revise the excess availability
requirements for certain acquisitions, and (iv) add Bank of America as a co-collateral agent. Draws are limited to the lesser of the commitment amount or the
borrowing base, which is periodically determined by reference to the value of certain receivables, inventory and scripts, less applicable reserves. The
Company may choose to borrow at a spread to either LIBOR or a Base Rate. For LIBOR loans the spread ranges from 1.75% to 2.25% and for Base Rate loans
the spread ranges from 0.75% to 1.25%. The spread depends on the level of excess availability. Commitment fees on the unused portion of the credit line are
37.5 basis points. The Agreement included an up-front credit facility fee which is being amortized over the Agreement term. There were $125.0 million of
borrowings outstanding and $91.0 million, net of borrowings and letters of credit, remaining available under the Agreement at July 29, 2017.
On December 19, 2016, the Company entered into a commitment letter with respect to a senior secured asset based loan facility (the “ABL Commitment
Letter”), and a commitment letter with respect to a term loan facility (the “Term Loan Commitment Letter”); and on January 18, 2017, the Company entered
into an amended and restated ABL Commitment Letter (the “Amended and Restated ABL Commitment Letter”). The Amended and Restated ABL
Commitment Letter and the Term Loan Commitment Letter were entered into with lenders who agreed to provide $1.65 billion of debt financing to be used
by the Company to fund its proposed acquisition of 865 stores, certain intellectual property and certain other tangible assets of Rite Aid Corporation.
On June 9, 2017, the Company amended and restated the Amended and Restated ABL Commitment (the “Second Amended and Restated ABL Commitment
Letter”), and the Term Loan Commitment Letter (the “Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter”) for the purpose of increasing the aggregate
committed debt financing available thereunder to $2.2 billion.
Upon termination of that certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2016, by and between the Company, Buyer, Rite Aid and Walgreens,
on July 21, 2017, the Company terminated the Second Amended and Restated ABL Commitment Letter and the Amended and Restated Term Loan
Commitment Letter. In connection with such termination, the Company incurred applicable termination fees contemplated by the Second Amended and
Restated ABL Commitment Letter and Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter, which were paid in the third quarter of 2017.
In connection with the aforementioned commitment letters, the Company incurred approximately $30 million of debt issuance costs. These costs are reflected
in SG&A in the Statement of Operations. The $25 million termination fee paid by Walgreens, on June 30, 2017, discussed in Note 1: Basis of Presentation,
partially offset these costs.
During the second and third quarter of fiscal 2007, the Company acquired the land and buildings, occupied by seven Fred’s stores which we had previously
leased. In consideration for the seven properties, the Company assumed debt that has fixed interest rates from 6.31% to 7.40%. Mortgages remain on two
locations with a combined balance of $1.6 million outstanding at July 29, 2017. The weighted average interest rate on mortgages outstanding at July 29,
2017 was 7.40%. The debt is collateralized by the land and buildings.
NOTE 11: INCOME TAXES
The Company accounts for its income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC 740 “ Income Taxes.” Pursuant to FASB ASC 740, the Company must consider all
positive and negative evidence regarding the realization of deferred tax assets including past operating results and future sources of taxable income. A
cumulative loss in recent years is a significant piece of negative evidence when evaluating the need for a valuation allowance. Under the provisions of FASB
ASC 740, the Company determined that a full valuation allowance is needed given the cumulative loss in recent years.
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Item 2:
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
Other than statements based on historical facts, many of the matters discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relate to events which we expect or
anticipate may occur in the future. Such statements are defined as “forward-looking statements” under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
(the “Reform Act”), 15 U.S.C.A. Sections 77z-2 and 78u-5 (Supp. 1996). The Reform Act created a safe harbor to protect companies from securities law
liability in connection with forward-looking statements. Fred’s Inc. (“Fred’s” or the “Company”) intends to qualify both its written and oral forward-looking
statements for protection under the Reform Act and any other similar safe harbor provisions.
The words “outlook”, “guidance”, “may”, “should”, “could”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “project”, “plan”, “expect”, “estimate”, “objective”, “forecast”, “goal”,
“intend”, “will likely result”, or “will continue” and similar expressions generally identify forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are
inherently uncertain, and concern matters that involve risks and other factors that may cause the actual performance of the Company to differ materially from
the performance expressed or implied by these statements. Therefore, forward-looking statements should be evaluated in the context of these uncertainties
and risks, including but not limited to: (i) the competitive nature of the industries in which we operate; (ii) the implementation of our strategic plan, and its
impact on our sales, costs and operations; (iii) utilizing our existing and new stores and increasing our pharmacy department presence in new and existing
stores; (iv) our reliance on a single supplier of pharmaceutical products; (v) our pharmaceutical drug pricing; (vi) reimbursement rates and the terms of our
agreements with pharmacy benefit management companies; (vii) our private brands; (viii) the seasonality of our business and the impact of adverse weather
conditions; (ix) operational difficulties; (x) merchandise supply and pricing; (xi) consumer demand and product mix; (xii) delayed openings and operating
new stores and distribution facilities; (xiii) our employees; (xiv) risks relating to payment processing; (xv) our computer system, and the processes supported
by our information technology infrastructure; (xvi) our ability to protect the person information of our customers and employees; (xvii) cyber-attacks; (xviii)
changes in governmental regulations; (xix) the outcome of legal proceedings, including claims of product liability; (xx) insurance costs; (xxi) tax
assessments and unclaimed property audits; (xxii) current economic conditions; (xxiii) changes in third-party reimbursements; (xxiv) the terms of our
existing and future indebtedness; (xxv) our acquisitions and the ability to effectively integrate businesses that we acquire; and (xxvi) our ability to pay
dividends.
Consequently, all forward-looking statements are qualified by this cautionary statement. Readers should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances arising after the date on which it was
made.
GENERAL
Executive Overview
As of July 29, 2017, Fred’s and its subsidiaries operate 601 pharmacy and general merchandise stores, which includes 14 franchised Fred’s Pharmacy
locations and an additional three specialty pharmacy-only locations. The Company’s mission is to improve the lives of patients and customers by providing
quality healthcare services and consumer products that deliver value to the communities served. With a unique store format and strategy that combines the
best elements of a healthcare-focused drug store with a value-focused retailer, Fred’s stores offer more than 12,000 frequently purchased items that address the
healthcare and everyday needs of its customers and patients. This includes nationally recognized brands, proprietary Fred’s Pharmacy label products, and a
full range of value-priced selections. The Company has two distribution centers in Memphis, Tennessee, and Dublin, Georgia.
A Healthcare Company Serving America
Fred’s Pharmacy is the country’s fourth-largest drug store chain and a leading regional pharmacy with deep experience across a spectrum of large, medium
and small markets. The Company’s customers are value-oriented, budget-conscious, and often live in rural areas without access to major hospitals or
superstores, making the healthcare and consumer offerings a significant value-add.
The Company’s model is built on three key differentiators. The first is pharmacy and healthcare offerings. Fred’s serves the Over-the-Counter, Pharmacy and
Health & Beauty space, which includes prescriptions, immunization offerings, disease state management services, specialty pharmacy services, and
medication therapy management, among others. This differentiates Fred’s from dollar chain competitors who only offer discount merchandise. The second is
the discount merchandise offerings, which include a diverse array of value-priced staple and discretionary products including toys, pet accessories, hardware,
appliances and home furnishings, among others. This differentiates Fred’s from the drug channel. The third is the convenience offerings including food,
candy, paper, chemicals, tobacco, and beer and wine. The assortment and pricing strategy enables Fred’s to compete across industries. In sum, Fred’s is a
healthcare-driven, one-stop-shop whose customized cross-sector offerings differentiate it from competitors across industries.
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Another important differentiator is the Company’s management team. Fred’s assembled a highly-qualified management team in 2015 and 2016, and has since
implemented an improved level of sophistication throughout the enterprise. Many members of the management team have at least 30 years of experience in
retail or retail pharmacy. During the second quarter, Jason Jenne was appointed as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Jenne has been an integral
member of the management team and a strong business partner over the past year. As Fred’s Pharmacy continues to execute its turnaround strategy, Mr.
Jenne’s strategic insight and financial experience and expertise will be invaluable to the ongoing efforts to improve performance and create shareholder
value.
Progress on Strategic Execution
In the second quarter, Fred’s continued to make progress on the execution of its strategy. The pharmacy departments continued to deliver strong results, and
total comparable store sales for the second quarter represent the best quarterly sale performance in the past year.
Following an exhaustive and comprehensive evaluation of the business, Fred’s is prioritizing the areas where it has a competitive advantage, as well as areas
where it clearly needs to improve. As the Fred’s management team analyzes the business and the improving performance of the store fleet, it is clear that the
key to driving free cash flow is right sizing the cost structure. The Company’s near-term focus is on reducing selling, general and administrative expenses as a
percentage of sales to drive profitability and cash flows.
Strategic Initiatives
Fred’s is in the process of implementing a more disciplined approach to cost management, which will be the foundation of an aggressive expense reduction
initiative. With selling, general and administrative expenses that are more in line with peers, Fred’s will be able generate free cash flow and have the ability to
deploy additional capital to drive much-needed enhancements and re-invest in high-return areas of the business.
Retail Pharmacy Department
Fred’s retail pharmacy department’s performance continues to improve, delivering flat comparable prescriptions year-to-date adjusted for 90 days, and
increases in Generic Dispensing Rate and overall gross profit dollars per script. Fred’s is also better managing inventory, which is leading improvements in
working capital and cash flow.
Fred’s management team remains focused on the execution of the key drivers of the strategy in the retail pharmacy department, including:
● Benefitting from a continuing shift to more profitable generics, which has led to an increase in generic dispensing rate of 127 basis points year-overyear to 90.0%;
● Optimizing pharmacy inventory, which has yielded a reduction in inventory levels by 9.3% on a year-to-date basis;
● Continuing execution of the 340B program across the chain and focusing on partnerships with local hospitals, clinics and healthcare systems to be
the partner of choice in healthcare services and retail pharmacy;
● Leveraging the 2016 investment in the Enterprise Pharmacy System, and the new investment in a Business Intelligence software to drive efficiencies
and fully utilize available data to inform strategy and real time decisions;
● Taking inefficient costs out of the Fred’s operating model; and
● Executing a variety of highly focused marketing campaigns to drive new patients into stores.
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Specialty Pharmacy Department
Fred’s continued to build on its momentum as a result of the investments made in its people, technology and portfolio of therapies. Fred’s experienced
outstanding sales growth, driven by:
● Geographic expansion into new markets
● Diversification within existing therapies, including Hepatitis C, Multiple Sclerosis, Rheumatoid Arthritis, Growth Hormone, Oncology and
Hematology;
● Focusing on deepening relationships with pharmaceutical manufacturers;
● Converting much of the external reporting from manual to new technology solutions; and
● Most importantly, maintaining the high level of patient care.
One important development this quarter was the installation of a new operating system in the Memphis Specialty facility. Installation will be completed in
the other Specialty Pharmacies by November. With this implementation, retail and specialty businesses will be on the same operating system. This will
provide a single view on patients that will allow Fred’s to drive treatment and therapies across both businesses.
Front Store
Despite ongoing headwinds and food deflation in consumables departments in the Front Store, Fred’s management team is encouraged by improvements in
certain General Merchandise departments over the same quarter last year.
Updates on the continued implementation of growth initiatives include the following:
● Price optimization to help improve value perception as Fred’s management team gains more insight into the spending habits of customers;
● Successful rollout of Beer & Wine to 29 stores in the second quarter, bringing the total number of stores to 40;
● Implementation of pilot stores for the full cosmetics reset took place in July and rollout is expected to be complete chain wide in early October;
● Identified gaps in assortment in key health, beauty, personal care and consumables and rolled out expanded assortment enhancements in June and
July;
● Implementation of a new program through JDA to ensure that the top 200 items are always in stock for customers: and
● Launched new mobile app which will enable Fred’s to provide personalized offers along with digital coupons to customers.
While the Front Store departments continue to perform well outside of core consumable departments, Fred’s management team is working to adapt to
ongoing headwinds. Fred’s continues to see challenges in non-edible departments, such as tobacco, paper, pet and cleaning supplies. For tobacco, Fred’s is
starting to perform more in line with industry levels and expects to see continued improvements in trends due to expanded assortment, investments in pricing
and a marketing campaign to win customers back. In the pet category, Fred’s expects to realize the benefits from the total overhaul of the Pet assortment, a top
consumable department. Across other non-edibles, Fred’s is seeing positive trends that indicate a stabilization of the business.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Company’s condensed consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The critical accounting matters that are particularly important to the portrayal of the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations, and require some of management’s most difficult, subjective and complex judgments, are described
in detail in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2017. The preparation of condensed consolidated financial
statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to inventories, income
taxes, insurance reserves, contingencies and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Thirteen Weeks Ended July 29, 2017 and July 30, 2016
Sales
Net sales for the second quarter of 2017 decreased to $507.8 million from $529.5 million in 2016, a year-over-year decrease of $21.7 million or 4.1%. On a
comparable store basis, sales decreased 0.3% compared to a 2.0% decrease in the same period last year.
General merchandise (non-pharmacy) sales for the second quarter decreased 7.5% to $236.6 million from $255.7 million in 2016. This was driven by the
closure of underperforming stores in the first quarter of 2017. In addition, we experienced sales decreases in promotional inventory and tobacco partially
offset by increases in beverages and prepaid phone cards.
The Company’s pharmacy department sales were 52.8% of total sales in 2017 compared to 50.3% of total sales in the prior year and continue to rank as the
largest sales category within the Company. The total sales in this department increased 1.0% over 2016, with third party prescription sales representing
approximately 93% of total pharmacy department sales in both years. The specialty pharmacy department continues to experience increased sales while the
retail pharmacy department was adversely impacted by pharmacy closures. The Company’s pharmacy department continues to benefit from an ongoing
program of purchasing prescription files from independent pharmacies as well as the addition of pharmacy departments in existing store locations.
The Company had 14 franchised locations at July 29, 2017 and 18 franchised locations as of July 30, 2016. Sales to our franchised locations during 2017
were $3.3 million (0.6% of sales) compared to $6.7 million (1.3% of sales) in the prior year. The Company does not intend to expand its franchise network.
The following table provides a comparison of the sales mix for the thirteen weeks ended July 29, 2017 and July 30, 2016.
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016
52.8%
50.3%
25.0%
24.8%
21.6%
23.6%
0.6 %
1.3 %
100.0 %
100.0 %

Pharmacy
Consumables
Household Goods and Softlines
Franchise
Total Sales Mix

For the second quarter of 2017, comparable store customer traffic decreased 4.6% from the prior period, while the average customer ticket increased 4.3% to
$26.86.
Gross Profit
Gross profit for the second quarter decreased to $126.0 million in 2017 from $128.1 million in 2016, a decrease of $2.1 million or 1.7%. The gross profit
decrease was driven primarily by a sales decline related to the closure of 39 underperforming stores. Gross margin for the quarter, measured as a percentage of
net sales, increased to 24.8% in 2017 from 24.2% in the same quarter last year.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the second quarter, including depreciation and amortization, increased to $154.1 million in 2017 (30.3% of
sales) from $139.0 million in 2016 (26.3% of sales). This increase was primarily attributable to bank fees, financing termination fees, professional and legal
advisory fees incurred in connection with the proposed acquisition of Rite Aid stores, expenses related to store closures, the development and
implementation of the Company’s growth strategy, and increased advertising costs as a result of the Company’s marketing initiative.
Operating Loss
Operating loss for the second quarter of 2017 was $28.1 million or 5.5% of sales compared to an operating loss of $10.9 million in 2016 or 2.1% of sales. This
was due to a decrease in gross profit driven by a sales decline, the closure of underperforming stores, and increases in selling, general and administrative
expenses related to bank fees, financing termination fees, professional and legal advisory fees incurred with the proposed acquisition, expenses related to
store closures, and increased advertising expenses in connection with the Company’s growth strategy.
Interest Expense, Net
Net interest expense for the second quarter of 2017 totaled $1.4 million or 0.3% of sales compared to $0.6 million or 0.1% in the same period of prior year.
Income Taxes
The effective income tax rate for the second quarter of 2017 was less than 0.1% compared to 39.9% in the second quarter of 2016. The rate change was
primarily driven by a valuation allowance against the Company’s deferred tax asset recorded in 2017.
Net Loss
Net loss for the second quarter of 2017 was $29.5 million or $0.78 per share compared to a net loss of $6.9 million or $0.18 per share in 2016, an increase of
$22.6 million. The increase in net loss is primarily attributable to a $15.1 million increase in selling, general and administrative expenses as detailed above, a
$4.6 million increase in valuation allowance against the Company’s deferred tax asset, a $2.1 million decrease in gross profit driven by planned store
closures and increases in interest expense.
Twenty-Six Weeks Ended July 29, 2017 and July 30, 2016
Sales
Net sales for the first six months of 2017 decreased to $1.040 billion from $1.079 billion in 2016, a year-over-year decrease of $38.9 million or 3.6%. On a
comparable store basis, sales decreased 0.8% compared to a 0.6% decrease in the same period last year.
General merchandise (non-pharmacy) sales for the first six months decreased 6.9% to $487.1 million from $523.1 million in 2016. This was driven by the
closure of underperforming stores in first quarter of 2017 and sales decreases in general merchandise departments such as promotional inventory and tobacco,
partially offset by sales increases in beverages and toys.
The Company’s pharmacy department sales for the first six months were 52.5% of total sales in 2017 compared to 50.1% of total sales in the prior year and
continue to rank as the largest sales category within the Company. The total sales in this department increased 1.3% over 2016, with third party prescription
sales representing approximately 93% of total pharmacy department sales in both years. The specialty pharmacy department continues to experience
increased sales while the retail pharmacy department was impacted by pharmacy closures. The Company’s pharmacy department continues to benefit from an
ongoing program of purchasing prescription files from independent pharmacies as well as the addition of specialty pharmacy and pharmacy departments in
existing store locations.
The Company had 14 franchised locations at July 29, 2017 and 18 franchised locations at July 30, 2016. Sales to our franchised locations for the first six
months of 2017 were $7.4 million (0.7% of sales) compared to $14.0 million (1.3% of sales) in the prior year. The Company does not intend to expand its
franchise network.
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The following table provides a comparison of the sales mix for the twenty-six weeks ended July 29, 2017 and July 30, 2016.
Twenty-Six Weeks Ended
July 29, 2017
July 30, 2016
52.5%
50.1%
25.4%
25.2%
21.4%
23.4%
0.7 %
1.3 %
100.0 %
100.0 %

Pharmacy
Consumables
Household Goods and Softlines
Franchise
Total Sales Mix

For the first six months of 2017, comparable store customer traffic decreased 4.7% over the prior period, while the average customer ticket increased 1.0% to
$27.10.
Gross Profit
Gross profit for the first six months decreased to $258.9 million in 2017 from $269.5 million in 2016, a decrease of $10.6 million or 3.9%. The gross profit
decrease was driven primarily by a sales decline related to the closure of 39 underperforming stores. Gross margin for the first six months, measured as a
percentage of net sales, decreased to 24.9% in 2017 from 25.0% in the same period last year.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the first six months, including depreciation and amortization, increased to $321.2 million in 2017 (30.9% of
sales) from $277.9 million in 2016 (25.8% of sales). This increase was primarily attributable to bank fees, financing termination fees, professional and legal
advisory fees incurred in connection with the proposed acquisition of Rite Aid stores, expenses related to store closures, the development and
implementation of the Company’s growth strategy, and increased advertising costs as a result of the Company’s marketing initiative.
Operating Loss
Operating loss for the first six months was $62.3 million in 2017 (6.0% of sales) compared to an operating loss of $8.5 million in 2016 (0.8% of sales). The
change was due to a $10.6 million decrease in gross profit driven by underperforming store closures and a $43.2 million increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses related to bank fees, financing termination fees, professional and legal advisory fees incurred with the proposed acquisition,
expenses related to store closures, and increased advertising expenses in connection with the Company’s growth strategy.
Interest Expense, Net
Net interest expense for the first six months of 2017 totaled $2.7 million or 0.3% of sales compared to $1.1 million or 0.1% in the same period of prior year.
Income Taxes
The effective income tax rate for the first six months of 2017 was (1.5%) compared to 40.9% in the same period of 2016. The rate change was primarily driven
by a valuation allowance against the Company’s deferred tax asset recorded in 2017.
Net Loss
Net loss for the first six months was $66.0 million ($1.76 loss per share) in 2017 compared to a net loss of $5.7 million ($0.15 loss per share) in 2016. The
change in net loss is primarily attributable to a $43.2 million increase in selling, general and administrative expenses as detailed in the Selling, General and
Administrative Expenses section above, $10.6 million reduction in gross profit driven by sales decreases from closed stores, and a $1.6 million increase in
interest expense.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Due to the seasonality of our business, inventories are generally lower at our fiscal year-end than at each quarter-end of the following year.
Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $2.6 million during the twenty-six week period ended July 29, 2017 compared to net cash used in operating
activities of $26.0 million in the same period of the prior year. Cash provided by operating activities in the first six months of 2017 primarily resulted from a
decrease in inventory and accounts receivable balances and increases in operating liabilities, partially offset by a net loss.
22

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $8.1 million during the twenty-six week period ended July 29, 2017 and $21.6 million in the same period of the
prior year. Capital expenditures in the second quarter of 2017 totaled $7.5 million compared to $13.1 million in 2016. The capital expenditures during 2017
consisted primarily of existing and remodeled store and pharmacy expenditures of $5.7 million, technology and other corporate expenditures of $1.4 million,
and new store and pharmacy department growth of $0.4 million. The Company invested $1.9 million in acquisitions of script files in 2017 compared with
$9.2 million in 2016.
Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $5.5 million during the twenty-six week period ended July 29, 2017 and $47.9 million in the same period
of the prior year. The cash flows provided by financing activities of $10.7 million were driven by draws on our revolving line of credit compared to $52.7
million in 2016.
The Company believes that sufficient capital resources are available in both the short-term and long-term through currently available cash, amounts available
under the revolving line of credit and cash generated from future operations to sustain the Company’s operations and to fund our strategic plans.
Item 3.
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
The Company has no holdings of derivative financial or commodity instruments as of July 29, 2017. The Company is exposed to financial market risks,
including changes in interest rates, primarily related to the effect of interest rate changes on borrowings outstanding under our revolving line of credit.
Borrowings under the Agreement bear interest at rates ranging from 1.75% to 2.25% plus LIBOR or 0.75% to 1.25% plus the Base Rate depending on excess
availability. Our potential additional interest expense over one year that would result from a hypothetical and unfavorable change of 100 basis points in
short term interest rates would be in the range of $0.03 to $0.05 of pretax earnings per share assuming borrowing levels of $125.0 million to $175.0 million
throughout 2017. All of the Company’s business is transacted in U.S. dollars and, accordingly, foreign exchange rate fluctuations have never had a
significant impact on the Company, and they are not expected to in the foreseeable future.
Item 4.
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried
out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”)). Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. Additionally, they concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that the Company is
required to file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes during the quarter ended July 29, 2017 in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

On October 15, 2015, a lawsuit entitled Southern Independent Bank v. Fred’s, Inc. was filed in the United States District Court, Middle District of Alabama
related to the Company’s malware data security incident. The complaint includes allegations made by the plaintiff on behalf of itself and financial
institutions similarly situated (“alleged class of financial institutions”) that the Company was negligent in failing to use reasonable care in obtaining,
retaining, securing and deleting the personal and financial information of customers who use debit cards issued by the plaintiff and alleged class of financial
institutions to make purchases at Fred’s stores. The complaint also includes allegations that the Company made negligent misrepresentations that the
Company possessed and maintained adequate data security measures and systems that were sufficient to protect the personal and financial information of
shoppers using debit cards issued by the plaintiff and alleged class of financial institutions. The complaint seeks monetary damages and equitable relief to
be proved at trial as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company has denied the allegations and has filed a motion to dismiss all claims. This motion has
since been denied, and the Company has now filed a motion to reconsider by certifying the question to the Alabama Supreme Court for clarity, which is still
pending before the court. Future costs or liabilities related to the incident may have a material adverse effect on the Company. The Company has not made
an accrual for future losses related to these claims at this time as the future losses are not considered probable. The Company has general liability policy with
a $10 million limit and $350,000 deductible. The $350,000 deductible represents the Company’s estimate of potential exposure related to this matter.
On July 27, 2016, a lawsuit entitled The State of Mississippi v. Fred’s Inc., et al was filed in the Chancery Court of Desoto County, Mississippi, Third Judicial
District. The complaint alleges that the Company fraudulently reported their usual and customary prices to Mississippi’s Division of Medicaid in order to
receive higher reimbursements for prescription drugs. The complaint seeks declaratory and monetary relief for the profits alleged to have been unfairly earned
as well as attorney costs. The Company denies these allegations and believes it acted appropriately in its dealings with the Mississippi Division of Medicaid.
The Company successfully filed a Motion to Transfer to Circuit Court. The State filed and the Mississippi Supreme Court has accepted the State’s Petition for
Interlocutory Appeal, despite the Company filing a Joint Response in opposition to the Petition. Future costs and liabilities related to this case may have a
material adverse effect on the Company; however, the Company has not made an accrual for future losses related to these claims as future losses are not
considered probable and an estimate is unavailable. The Company has multiple insurance policies which the Company believes will limit its potential
exposure.
On September 29, 2016, the Company reported to the Office of Civil Rights (“OCR”) that an unencrypted laptop containing clinical and demographic data
for 9,624 individuals had been stolen from an employee’s vehicle while the vehicle was parked at the employee’s residence. On January 13, 2017, the OCR
opened an investigation into the incident. The Company has fully complied with the investigation and timely responded to all requests for information from
the OCR. Future costs and liabilities related to this case may have a material adverse effect on the Company; however, the Company has not made an accrual
for future losses related to these claims as future losses are not considered probable and an estimate is unavailable.
On March 30, 2017, a lawsuit entitled Tiffany Taylor, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated, v. Fred’s Inc. and Fred’s Stores of Tennessee,
Inc. was filed in the United Stated District Court for the Northern District of Alabama Southern Division. The complaint alleges that the Company wrongfully
and willfully violated the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (“FACTA”). On April 11, 2017, a lawsuit entitled Melanie Wallace, Sascha Feliciano,
and Heather Tyler, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, v. Fred’s Stores of Tennessee, Inc. was filed in the Superior Court of Fulton
County in the state of Georgia. The complaint alleges that the Company wrongfully and willfully violated FACTA. On April 13, 2017, a lawsuit entitled
Lillie Williams and Cussetta Journey, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, v. Fred’s Stores of Tennessee, Inc. was filed in the Superior
Court of Fulton County in the state of Georgia. The complaint also alleges that the Company wrongfully and willfully violated FACTA. The complaints are
filed as Class Actions, with the class being open for five (5) years before the date the complaint was filed. The complaint seeks statutory damages, attorney’s
fees, punitive damages, an injunctive order, and other such relief that the court may deem just and equitable. The Company has filed a Motion to Dismiss the
Taylor complaint, and this Motion is still pending before the court. The Company filed and the Court Granted Motions to Remove and Motions to Transfer
the Williams and Wallace matters to the Northern District of Alabama. Since the Williams and Wallace matters were removed and transferred to the Northern
District of Alabama, the Company has filed a Motion to Consolidate the Taylor, Williams, and Wallace matters. The Court has yet to rule on the Motion to
Consolidate. Plaintiff’s counsel for the Williams and Wallace matters has filed a Motion to Remand the matters. Fred’s has opposed the Motion to Remand,
and the Motion to Remand is still pending. Future costs and liabilities related to this case may have a material adverse effect on the Company; however, the
Company has not made an accrual for future losses related to these claims as future losses are not considered probable and an estimate is unavailable.
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In addition to the matters disclosed above, the Company is party to several pending legal proceedings and claims arising in the normal course of business.
Although the outcomes of these proceedings and claims against the Company cannot be determined with certainty, management of the Company is of the
opinion that these proceedings and claims should not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial statements as a whole. However, litigation
involves an element of uncertainty. Future developments could cause these actions or claims, individually or in aggregate, to have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s financial statements as a whole. The Company has not made any material accruals for future losses related to these proceedings and claims
as future losses are not considered probable at this time and estimates are unavailable.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
The risk factors listed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 28, 2017, should be considered with
the information provided elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which could materially adversely affect the business, financial condition or
results of operations. There have been no material changes to the risk factors as previously disclosed in such Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
On August 27, 2007, the Board of Directors approved a plan that authorized stock repurchases of up to 4.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock.
Under the plan, the Company may repurchase its common stock in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions at such times and at such
prices as determined to be in the Company’s best interest. On February 16, 2012, Fred’s Board authorized the expansion of the Company’s existing stock
repurchase program by increasing the authorization to repurchase an additional 3.6 million shares or approximately 10% of the current outstanding shares.
These repurchases may be commenced or suspended without prior notice depending on then-existing business or market conditions and other factors. No
repurchases were made in the first six months of 2017, leaving 3.0 million shares available for repurchase at July 29, 2017.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
Not applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
Item 6. Exhibits.
The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed, furnished or incorporated by reference as part of Item 6 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
FRED’S, INC.
Date: September 7, 2017

/s/ Michael K. Bloom
Michael K. Bloom
Chief Executive Officer

Date: September 7, 2017

/s/ Jason A. Jenne
Jason A. Jenne
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
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Incorporation by Reference
Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.3†

10.4†

10.5

Exhibit Description
Articles of Amendment to the Charter of Fred’s, Inc. dated June 27,
2017.
Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fred’s
Inc., dated June 15, 2017.
Rights Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2017 between Fred’s, Inc. as
the Company, and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company,
LLC as Rights Agent.
Fred’s, Inc. 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
First Amendment to the Fred’s, Inc. 2017 Long-Term Incentive
Plan.
Second Amended and Restated Commitment Letter, dated as of
June 9, 2017, by and among Fred’s, Inc., Bank of America, N.A.,
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Regions Bank,
Regions Capital Markets, a Division of Regions Bank, and Citizens
Bank, N.A.
Amended and Restated Commitment Letter, dated as of June 9,
2017, by and among Fred’s, Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated, TPG Specialty Lending Inc. and certain of its
affiliated funds, certain affiliated funds of Birch Grove Capital LP,
Crystal Financial LLC, Gordon Brothers Finance Company, LLC,
Pathlight Capital LLC, Silver Point Specialty Credit Fund, L.P.,
Tennenbaum Capital Partners, LLC, Great American Capital
Partners, LLC, certain affiliated funds of Apollo Global
Management, certain affiliated funds of Cerberus Business Finance
LLC, KKR Credit Advisors US LLC and certain of its affiliates,
managed funds and accounts, and White Oak Asset Finance.
Form of Indemnification Agreement.
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Form

SEC File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

8-K

001-14565

3.1

June 28, 2017

8-K

001-14565

3.1

June 16, 2017

8-K

001-14565

4.1

June 28, 2017

DEF 14A
DEFA14A

001-14565
001-14565

Appendix A
Appendix A

May 16, 2017
May 31, 2017

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

8-K

001-14565

10.1

June 16, 2017

Incorporation by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Form

SEC File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, First Amendment to
Amended and Restated Addendum to Credit Agreement and First
Amendment to Security Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2017, by
and among Fred’s, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, Regions
Bank, in its capacity as administrative agent, co-collateral agent
and lender, and Bank of America, N.A., in its capacity as cocollateral agent and lender.
Amended and Restated Cooperation Agreement, dated August 11,
2017, by and between Fred’s, Inc., Alden Global Capital LLC,
Strategic Investment Opportunities LLC, and Heath B. Freeman.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Rule
13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act.

8-K

001-14565

10.1

August 3, 2017

8-K

001-14565

10.1

August 14, 2017

—

—

—

—

31.2†

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Rule
13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act.

—

—

—

—

32††

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to rule 13a–14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

—

—

—

—

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

10.6

10.7
31.1†

Exhibit Description

†
††

Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
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Exhibit 10.3
[EXECUTION COPY]
CONFIDENTIAL
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE,
FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED
One Bryant Park
New York, New York 10036

REGIONS BANK,
REGIONS CAPITAL MARKETS,
A DIVISION OF REGIONS BANK
250 Park Avenue, 6th Floor
New York, New York 10177

CITIZENS BANK, N.A.
28 State Street
Boston, MA 02109

June 9, 2017
Fred’s, Inc.
4300 New Getwell Road
Memphis, Tennessee 38118
Attention: Mr. Rick Hans
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
$1,650,000,000 Senior Secured Loan Facility
Second Amended and Restated Commitment Letter
Ladies and Gentlemen:
Fred’s, Inc. (the “Company”) has advised Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of America”), Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (together,
with its designated affiliates, “MLPFS”, and together with Bank of America, “BofA”), Regions Bank (“Regions Bank”), Regions Capital Markets, a division
of Regions Bank (“RCM”, and together with Regions Bank, “Regions”) and Citizens Bank, N.A. (“Citizens” and together with BofA and Regions,
individually, a “Commitment Party” and collectively, the “Commitment Parties”) that it is seeking a new senior secured asset-based loan facility in an
aggregate principal amount of $1,650,000,000 (the “Credit Facility”) in connection with its acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of the business and operations
consisting of not less than 865 but up to 1,200 retail stores and certain intellectual property, corporate infrastructure and distribution centers of Rite Aid
Corporation (collectively, the “Acquired Business”) and to consummate the other transactions described in the Transaction Description attached hereto as
Exhibit A (the “Transaction Description”). Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to them in the annexes
to this letter, the Transaction Description and in the Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Term Sheet” and together
with this second amended and restated commitment letter, the Transaction Description, and the annexes, exhibits and schedules to this second amended and
restated commitment letter, collectively, the “Commitment Letter”).
1.
Commitment. Each of Bank of America, Regions Bank and Citizens (individually, an “ Initial Lender” and collectively, “Initial Lenders”) is
pleased to advise the Company of its several and not joint commitment, in the case of Bank of America to provide 50% of the aggregate principal amount of
the Credit Facility, in the case of Regions Bank to provide 30% of the aggregate principal amount of the Credit Facility and in the case of Citizens to provide
20% of the aggregate principal amount of the Credit Facility, in each case, allocated between the ABL Revolving Facility, the ABL FILO Term Facility and
the ABL IP Term Facility (as each such term is defined in the Term Sheet) on a ratable basis on the terms set forth in this Commitment Letter (including the
Certain Funds Provision set forth herein), the second amended and restated fee letter of even date herewith among the Commitment Parties (as hereinafter
defined) and the Company (the “Arranger Fee Letter”), the second amended and restated fee letter of even date herewith between Regions and the Company
(the “Regions Fee Letter”), and the second amended and restated fee letter of even date herewith between BofA and the Company (the “Lead Arranger Fee
Letter” and, together with the Arranger Fee Letter and the Regions Fee Letter, collectively, the “ Fee Letters”). The commitments of the Initial Lenders are
several and not joint. The Commitment Parties shall be severally liable in respect of their respective commitments and all other obligations in this
Commitment Letter and in the Fee Letters and no Commitment Party shall be responsible for the commitment or any other obligation of any other
Commitment Party.

2.
Titles and Roles; Sell-Side Advisor. The Company hereby appoints each of MLPFS, RCM and Citizens, in each case acting alone or through
or with branches or affiliates selected by it, to act as the joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners (in such capacities, each an “Arranger” and collectively,
the “Arrangers”). MLPFS in its capacity as Arranger is referred to herein as “Lead Arranger.” Bank of America will act as sole and exclusive administrative
agent under the Credit Facility (in such capacity, the “Agent”), Bank of America and Regions Bank will act as co-collateral agents under the Credit Facility
(in such capacities, the “Collateral Agents”), and Regions Bank will act as exclusive syndication agent under the Credit Facility (in such capacity, the
“Syndication Agent”), in each case, for the Initial Lenders and any other parties to the Credit Facility as lenders (individually a “Lender” and collectively
“Lenders”). Each of Arrangers, Agent, Collateral Agents and Syndication Agent will perform the duties and exercise the authority customarily performed and
exercised by it in such role, subject to the terms below and Bank of America will be the sole physical bookrunning manager. MLPFS will have “left” and
highest placement in the information memorandum and all marketing materials and other documentation used in connection with the Credit Facility, RCM
will have second placement and appear immediately to the right of MLPFS in the information memorandum and all marketing materials and other
documentation used in connection with the Credit Facility and Citizens will appear immediately to the right of RCM in the information memorandum and all
marketing materials and other documentation used in connection with the Credit Facility. The Company agrees that no other agents, co-agents, arrangers or
bookrunners will be appointed, no other titles will be awarded and no compensation (other than compensation expressly contemplated by this Commitment
Letter and the Fee Letters) will be paid to any Lender in connection with the Credit Facility unless Arrangers and the Company shall so agree.
The parties acknowledge that MLPFS and/or its affiliates have been or may be retained as the sell-side financial advisor to the Seller and/or the
Acquired Business (in such capacity, the “Financial Advisor”) in connection with the Transactions. The Company agrees to any such retention, and further
agrees not to assert any claim the Company or any of its affiliates might allege based on any actual or potential conflicts of interest that might be asserted to
arise or result from, on the one hand, the engagement of the Financial Advisor or from MLPFS’ and/or its affiliates’ arranging or providing or contemplating
arranging or providing financing for a competing bidder and, on the other hand, the relationship of MLPFS and/or its affiliates with the Company and its
affiliates as described and referred to herein.
3.
Syndication. The Company agrees, and agrees to cause its subsidiaries, to use commercially reasonable efforts to actively assist in achieving
a timely syndication that is mutually and reasonably satisfactory to the Commitment Parties and the Company. The parties agree that syndication shall be as
set forth in Annex B to this Commitment Letter. The syndication of the Credit Facility is not a condition to the closing of the Credit Facility.
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4 .
Expenses and Indemnification. The Company agrees (a) to pay or reimburse all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and
expenses incurred by the Commitment Parties or their affiliates in connection with their due diligence, approval, documentation, syndication and closing of
the Credit Facility, whether incurred before or after the date hereof, including the preparation and negotiation of this Commitment Letter, the Amended and
Restated Commitment Letter (as hereinafter defined) and the Original Commitment Letter (as hereinafter defined) (including any amendment, amendment
and restatement or other modification hereto or thereto), and including reasonable attorneys’ fees and legal expenses (provided that legal fees shall be limited
to the reasonable fees and disbursements of one counsel each for each Commitment Party and, in addition, one local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction),
appraisal fees, expenses related to the USA Patriot Act compliance and background checks, electronic reporting system set-up fees (if any), filing and search
charges, recording taxes and field examination expenses and the enforcement of any of the rights and remedies of the Commitment Parties under this
Commitment Letter, in each case regardless of whether the Credit Facility is closed, (b) to pay or reimburse all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees,
costs and expenses incurred by the Commitment Parties or their affiliates in connection with the retention of the Agent’s Advisor (as set forth in the Term
Sheet) (such amounts described in clauses (a) and (b), collectively, the “Expenses”) and (c) to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Commitment Parties,
each of their affiliates, and each of their officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors, and other representatives (each, an “Indemnified Person”) as set forth
on Annex A hereto. For the avoidance of any doubt, Expenses shall include all costs and expenses associated with (x) one or more field exam reports of the
Company and the Acquired Business heretofore conducted by Richter Consulting, Inc. (which field exam reports may have been, in part or in whole,
previously conducted on behalf of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and subsequently provided to the Commitment Parties) and (y) one or more
inventory and prescription list appraisal reports of the Company and the Acquired Business heretofore conducted by Tiger Valuation Services, LLC (which
appraisal reports may have been, in part or in whole, previously conducted on behalf of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and subsequently provided
to the Commitment Parties). All Expenses are to be paid to Lead Arranger upon demand by any Commitment Party, together with such advance funds on
account of such charges and expenses as Lead Arranger may from time to time request. The Company agrees that, once paid, none of the Expenses shall be
refundable under any circumstances, regardless of whether the Credit Facility closes, and shall not be credited against any other amount payable by the
Company to any Commitment Party in connection with the Credit Facility or otherwise.
5 .
Fees. As consideration for the commitments and agreements of the Commitment Parties hereunder, the Company agrees to pay the fees
described in the Term Sheet and the Fee Letters as and when required pursuant to the terms thereof and subject to the conditions set forth therein. The terms of
the Fee Letters are an integral part of each Commitment Party’s commitment and other obligations hereunder. Each of the fees described herein and in the Fee
Letters shall be nonrefundable when paid. All fees payable hereunder and under the Fee Letters will be paid in immediately available funds. The obligation
to pay any fee provided for herein or therein or to cause any such fee to be paid will be joint and several with any other party having such an obligation, shall
be absolute and unconditional and shall not be subject to reduction by way of setoff or counterclaim.
6 .
Conditions. The commitments of each of the Commitment Parties under this Commitment Letter and its obligations to make Revolving
Loans and issue Letters of Credit (each as defined in the Term Sheet) on the Closing Date are subject solely to: (a) since January 28, 2017, there shall not
have been any event or circumstances that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Target Material Adverse
Effect (as such term is defined below) that is continuing and (b) the satisfaction of (or procurement of a waiver of) the conditions set forth in Exhibit C to this
Commitment Letter. For the avoidance of doubt, the compliance by the Company with its obligations under this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters,
other than satisfaction by the Company of (or procurement of a waiver of) the conditions described (x) in Section 6(a) and (y) on Exhibit C, is not a condition
to the closing and initial funding of the Credit Facility on the Closing Date.
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The term “Target Material Adverse Effect ” means a material adverse effect on the financial condition or results of operations of the Acquired Stores,
taken as a whole, but shall not be deemed to include any adverse effect arising out of, resulting from or attributable to: (a) an event or circumstance or series
of events or circumstances affecting (i) the United States (or any other country or jurisdiction) or the global economy generally or capital, financial, banking,
credit or securities markets generally, including changes in interest or exchange rates, (ii) political conditions generally of the United States or any other
country or jurisdiction in which Seller or its Affiliates operates or (iii) any of the industries generally in which Seller or any customers thereof operates
(including demand for, and the availability and pricing of, pharmaceutical drugs) or in which products or services of the Acquired Stores are used or
distributed, (b) the negotiation, execution or the announcement of, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by, or the performance of obligations
under, the Acquisition Agreement or the other Transaction Agreements, including effects related to compliance with the covenants or agreements contained
therein or the failure to take any action as a result of any restrictions or prohibitions set forth therein, and any adverse effect proximately caused by (A)
shortfalls or declines in revenue, margins or profitability, (B) loss of, or disruption in, any customer, supplier, and/or vendor relationships, or (C) loss of any
personnel, (c) any changes in applicable Law or U.S. GAAP, or accounting principles, practices or policies that Seller is required to adopt, or the enforcement
or interpretation thereof, (d) actions specifically permitted to be taken or omitted pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement or taken with Buyer’s consent, (e)
the effect of any action taken by Buyer or its Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or with respect to Seller or its Affiliates, (f) any
acts of God, including any earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, tsunami, or other natural disasters, or any other damage to or destruction of Assets
caused by casualty, (g) any hostilities, acts of war (whether or not declared), sabotage, terrorism or military actions, or any escalation or worsening of any such
hostilities, act of war, sabotage, terrorism or military actions, (h) any failure to meet internal or published projections, estimates or forecasts of revenues,
earnings, or other measures of financial or operating performance for any period (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (subject to the other
provisions of this definition) shall not be excluded) or (i) any adverse change or effect that is cured prior to Closing (or each Subsequent Closing, as
applicable); provided, however, that if the event or circumstance described in any of the foregoing clauses (a) or (c), individually or in the aggregate, has a
disproportionate effect on the Acquired Stores relative to other industry participants, the exception described in any of the foregoing clauses (a) or (c) shall
not apply with respect to the portion of such event or circumstance that had such a disproportionate effect on the Acquired Stores. Capitalized terms used in
this paragraph have the meanings given to such terms in the Acquisition Agreement.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Commitment Letter, the Fee Letters, the Loan Documents (as defined in the Term Sheet) or any
other agreement entered into by a Commitment Party concerning the financing of the Acquisition contemplated hereby to the contrary, (a) the only
representations and warranties the accuracy of which shall be a condition to the initial funding under the Credit Facility on the Closing Date shall be (i) such
of the representations and warranties made by the Seller or any of its affiliates in the Acquisition Agreement as are material to the interests of Agent,
Collateral Agents, Arrangers and Lenders, but only to the extent that the Company or any of its affiliates has the right to terminate the Company’s (or such of
its affiliates’) obligations under the Acquisition Agreement (or to not consummate the Acquisition) as a result of a breach of such representations and
warranties in the Acquisition Agreement (the “ Acquisition Agreement Representations”) and (ii) the Specified Representations (as defined below) and (b) the
terms of the Loan Documents shall be in a form such that they do not provide for additional conditions to the initial funding under the Credit Facility on the
Closing Date if the conditions set forth in this Section 6 are satisfied (it being understood that, (i) to the extent any collateral (including the perfection of any
security interest therein) is not or cannot be provided on the Closing Date (other than (A) the pledge and perfection of collateral with respect to which a lien
may be perfected upon closing solely by the filing of financing statements under the Uniform Commercial Code in the jurisdiction of organization of each
Loan Party, and (B) the pledge and perfection of security interests in the equity interests of subsidiaries owned by the Loan Parties (after giving effect to the
Acquisition); the assets described in clauses (A) and (B) being referred to as the “Specified Collateral”) after the use of commercially reasonable efforts by the
Company (and the Seller to the extent provided for in the Acquisition Agreement) to do so, then the provision of such collateral or perfection of any such lien
or security interest in such collateral shall not constitute a condition precedent to the initial funding under the Credit Facility on the Closing Date, but shall
be required to be provided within 60 days after the Closing Date, subject to such extensions as are agreed to by the Arrangers). For purposes hereof,
“Specified Representations” means representations and warranties of the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents relating to organization, existence,
organizational power and authority to enter into the Loan Documents; due authorization, execution, delivery, enforceability of such Loan Documents;
solvency as of the Closing Date (after giving effect to the Transactions) of the Company and its subsidiaries (in form and scope consistent with the solvency
certificate to be delivered pursuant to Exhibit C hereto); no conflicts of the Loan Documents with organizational documents or material laws; Federal
Reserve margin regulations; the Investment Company Act; USA Patriot Act; use of proceeds not violating (i) laws applicable to sanctioned persons, (ii) laws
and regulations promulgated by OFAC, and (iii) anti-money laundering laws or the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; and the creation, perfection and priority of
the security interests (subject to customary permitted liens) granted in the collateral (subject in all respects to the foregoing provisions of this paragraph).
This paragraph and the provisions herein are referred to herein as the “Certain Funds Provision”.
7.
Confidentiality. The Company agrees that this Commitment Letter (including the Term Sheet) and the Fee Letters are for its confidential use
only and that neither its existence, nor the terms hereof or thereof, will be disclosed by the Company to any person other than (a) its officers, directors (or
equivalent managers), employees, accountants, affiliates, independent auditors, attorneys, and other advisors, and then only on a “need-to-know” basis in
connection with the Transactions and on a confidential basis, (b) the Seller and Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. and their respective officers, directors (or
equivalent managers), employees, accountants, independent auditors, attorneys, and other advisors of each of the Seller and Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.,
and then only on a “need-to-know” basis, in connection with their consideration of the Transactions and on a confidential basis (provided that, with respect
to the Fee Letters, to the extent portions thereof have been redacted in respect of the amounts, percentages and basis points of compensation set forth therein
and the pricing and other terms of the “flex provisions” in a manner satisfactory to the respective Arrangers party thereto). The foregoing notwithstanding, the
Company (and, in the case of clause (ii) below, each of the Seller and Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.) may (i) provide a copy of this Commitment Letter (and
the Fee Letters, to the extent portions thereof have been redacted in respect of the amounts, percentages and basis points of compensation set forth therein
and the pricing and other terms of the “flex provisions” in a manner satisfactory to the respective Arrangers party thereto) to potential lenders under the Term
Loan Facility and their officers, directors (or equivalent managers), employees, accountants, affiliates, attorneys, and other advisors involved in the related
commitments subject to confidentiality provisions similar to those provided herein, (ii) following the acceptance of the Company of this Commitment Letter
and the Fee Letters, file or make such other public disclosures of the terms and conditions hereof (including the Term Sheet, but not including the Fee Letters)
as it is required by law, in the opinion of its counsel, to make and (iii) disclose this Commitment Letter and Fee Letters in connection with any exercise of its
remedies in respect hereof and thereof.
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Each Commitment Party agrees that material, non-public information regarding the Company and its subsidiaries and the Acquired Business, their
operations, assets, and existing and contemplated business plans shall be treated by it in a confidential manner, and shall not be disclosed by it to persons
who are not parties to this Commitment Letter, except: (i) to its officers, directors, employees, attorneys, advisors, accountants, auditors, and consultants to
such Commitment Party on a “need to know” basis in connection with Transactions and on a confidential basis, (ii) to subsidiaries and affiliates of such
Commitment Party, provided that any such subsidiary or affiliate shall have agreed to receive such information hereunder subject to the terms of this
paragraph, (iii) to regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over such Commitment Party or its affiliates, (iv) as may be required by statute, decision, or judicial
or administrative order, rule, or regulation, provided that prior to any disclosure under this clause (iv), the disclosing party agrees to provide the Company
with prior notice thereof, to the extent that it is practicable to do so and to the extent that the disclosing party is permitted to provide such prior notice to the
Company pursuant to the terms of the applicable statute, decision, or judicial or administrative order, rule, or regulation, (v) as may be agreed to by the
Company (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), (vi) as requested or required by any governmental authority pursuant to any subpoena or other legal
process, provided that prior to any disclosure under this clause (vi) the disclosing party agrees to provide the Company with prior notice thereof, to the extent
that it is practicable to do so and to the extent that the disclosing party is permitted to provide such prior notice to the Company pursuant to the terms of the
subpoena or other legal process, (vii) as to any such information that is or becomes generally available to the public (other than as a result of disclosure by
such Commitment Party in violation of the terms hereof), (viii) in connection with any proposed assignment or participation of such Commitment Party’s
interest in the Credit Facility, provided that any such proposed assignee or participant shall have agreed to receive such information subject to the terms of
this paragraph or as provided below, (ix) to the extent that such information was already in the possession of such Commitment Party or its affiliates or is
independently developed by it or them, (x) to the extent that such information was received by such Commitment Party from a third party, that is not, to its
knowledge, subject to confidentiality obligations owing to the Company, and (xi) for purposes of establishing a “due diligence” defense and in connection
with any litigation or other adverse proceeding involving any parties to this Commitment Letter or the Fee Letters. This paragraph shall terminate on the
second anniversary of the date of the Original Commitment Letter.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Commitment Letter, the Company agrees that (i) each Commitment Party shall have the right to
provide information concerning the Credit Facility to loan syndication and reporting services, and (ii) that the Projections, the Marketing Materials and all
other information provided by or on behalf of the Company and its affiliates to a Commitment Party regarding the Company and its affiliates and the
Transactions in connection with the Credit Facility may be disseminated by or on behalf of such Commitment Party to prospective lenders and other persons,
who have agreed to be bound by customary confidentiality undertakings (including, “click-through” agreements), all in accordance with the standard loan
syndication practices of such Commitment Party (whether transmitted electronically by means of a website, e-mail or otherwise, or made available orally or in
writing, including at potential lender or other meetings). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Commitment Letter, the Company agrees that a
Commitment Party may share with its affiliates any information relating to the Credit Facility, the Company or its subsidiaries or the Acquired Business for
purposes of the evaluation, negotiation, documentation and syndication of the Credit Facility and on and after the Closing Date, may disclose information
relating to the Credit Facility to Gold Sheets and other publications or for its marketing materials, with such information to consist of deal terms and other
information customarily found in such publications or marketing materials and that a Commitment Party may otherwise use the corporate name and logo of
the Company or its subsidiaries or the Acquired Business in “tombstones” or other advertisements, marketing materials or public statements.
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8 .
Information. The Company hereby represents and warrants (but limited, solely in the case of the Acquired Business, to the best of its
knowledge) that (i) all written information, other than Projections (as defined below) and other than forward-looking information and information of a general
economic nature or industry specific information, which has been or is hereafter made available to the Arrangers by or on behalf of the Company or its
subsidiaries or any of their representatives in connection with the Company and its subsidiaries and the Acquired Business (“Information”), as and when
furnished, is or will be, when furnished and taken as a whole, correct in all material respects and does not or will not, when furnished and taken as a whole,
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading in
light of the circumstances under which such statements are made and (ii) all financial projections concerning the Company and its subsidiaries and the
Acquired Business that have been or are hereafter made available to Arrangers or prospective Lenders by the Company or its subsidiaries (the “Projections”),
have been or will be prepared in good faith based upon assumptions that are believed by the Company to be reasonable at the time made and made available
to the Arrangers (it being understood that projections by their nature are inherently uncertain and that, even though the Projections are prepared in good faith
on the basis of assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time such Projections were prepared, the results reflected in the Projections may not be achieved
and actual results may differ and such differences may be material). If at any time the Company becomes aware that any of the representations in the
preceding sentence would be incorrect in any material respect if the Information and Projections were being furnished, and such representations were being
made at such time, then the Company will promptly supplement the Information and Projections so that such representations will be correct in all material
respects under those circumstances. The Company agrees to furnish, or cause to be furnished (using commercially reasonable efforts with respect to the
Acquired Business), to each Commitment Party such Information and Projections as it may reasonably request and to supplement the Information and the
Projections from time to time until the earlier of the Closing Date and the occurrence of a Successful Syndication (as defined in the Arranger Fee Letter). In
arranging and syndicating each Credit Facility, Arrangers and Lenders will be using and relying on the Information and the Projections without independent
verification thereof. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Commitment Letter or the Fee Letters, none of the accuracy of any
representation under this Section 8, the provision of any supplement to any Information or the Projections, nor the accuracy of any such supplement shall
constitute a condition precedent to the closing and/or initial funding of any of the Credit Facility on the Closing Date.
9 .
Sharing Information; Absence of Fiduciary Relationship; Affiliate Activities . The Company acknowledges that each Commitment Party or
one or more of its affiliates may be providing debt financing, equity capital or other services (including financial advisory services) to other companies in
respect of which the Company may have conflicting interests regarding the transactions described herein or otherwise. The Company also acknowledges that
the Commitment Parties do not have any obligation to use in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter, or to furnish to the
Company, confidential information obtained by a Commitment Party from other companies (including the Seller).
Each of the parties hereto further acknowledges that Regions and BofA are currently providing debt financing and other services to the Company in
respect of which Regions and BofA may have conflicting interests regarding the transactions described herein or otherwise. Each of the parties hereto also
acknowledges that neither Regions or BofA have any obligation to any other Commitment Party to disclose confidential information obtained by Regions or
BofA in connection with such existing debt financing.
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The Company further acknowledges and agrees that (a) no fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship between the Company, on the one hand, and a
Commitment Party, on the other hand, is intended to be or has been created in respect of any of the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter,
irrespective of whether such Commitment Party or one or more of its affiliates has advised or is advising the Company on other matters, (b) each Commitment
Party, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, has an arms-length business relationship that does not directly or indirectly give rise to, nor do
you rely on, any fiduciary duty on the part of such Commitment Party, (c) the Company is capable of evaluating and understanding, and it understands and
accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter, (d) the Company has been advised that each
Commitment Party or one or more of its affiliates is engaged in a broad range of transactions that may involve interests that differ from its interests and that
such Commitment Party does not have any obligation to disclose such interests and transactions to it by virtue of any fiduciary, advisory or agency
relationship, and (e) the Company waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against a Commitment Party for breach of fiduciary
duty or alleged breach of fiduciary duty and agrees that the Commitment Parties shall not have any liability (whether direct or indirect) to it in respect of such
a fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on behalf of or in right of the Company, including its stockholders, employees or
creditors. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of this paragraph apply only to the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter and the
relationships and duties created in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter.
The Company further acknowledges that one or more of the affiliates of any Commitment Party are full service securities firm engaged in securities
trading and brokerage activities as well as providing investment banking and other financial services. In the ordinary course of business, each Commitment
Party or one or more of its affiliates may provide investment banking and other financial services to, and/or acquire, hold or sell, for their respective own
accounts and the accounts of customers, equity, debt and other securities and financial instruments (including bank loans and other obligations) of, the
Company, and other companies with which the Company may have commercial or other relationships. With respect to any debt or other securities and/or
financial instruments so held by a Commitment Party or one or more of its affiliates or any of their respective customers, all rights in respect of such securities
and financial instruments, including any voting rights, will be exercised by the holder of the rights, in its sole discretion.
In particular, the Company acknowledges that the Company has been advised of the role of MLPFS and/or its affiliates as Financial Advisor and
that, in such capacity, (i) the Financial Advisor may recommend to the Seller that the Seller not pursue or accept the offer or proposal of the Company for the
acquisition of the Acquired Business, (ii) the Financial Advisor may advise the Seller and/or the Acquired Business in other manners adverse to the interests
of the Company, including, without limitation, by providing advice on pricing, leverage levels, and timing and conditions of closing with respect to the bid
by the Company, taking other actions with respect to the bid of the Company and taking action under any definitive agreement between the Company, Seller
and/or the Acquired Business, and (iii) the Financial Advisor may possess information about the Seller and/or the Acquired Business, the acquisition of the
Acquired Business, and other potential purchasers and their respective strategies and proposals, but the Financial Advisor shall have no obligation to
disclose to the Company the substance of such information or the fact that it is in possession thereof. In addition, the Company acknowledges that any of the
Arrangers or Commitment Parties or their respective affiliates may be arranging or providing (or contemplating arranging or providing) a committed form of
acquisition financing to other potential purchasers of the Acquired Business and that, in such capacity, such Arranger, Commitment Party or affiliate may
acquire information about the Acquired Business, the sale thereof, and such other potential purchasers and their strategies and proposals, but such party shall
have no obligation to disclose to the Company the substance of such information or the fact that such party is in possession thereof.
10.
USA Patriot Act. Each Commitment Party hereby notifies the Company that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act, Title III
of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001) (the “USA Patriot Act”), the Commitment Parties and the other Lenders may be required to obtain, verify
and record information that identifies the Loan Parties (as defined in the Term Sheet), which information includes the name, address, tax identification
number and other information regarding the Loan Parties that will allow the Commitment Parties and other Lenders to identify the Loan Parties in accordance
with the USA Patriot Act. This notice is given in accordance with the requirements of the USA Patriot Act and is effective as to each Lender.
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1 1 .
Entire Agreement . This Commitment Letter contains the entire commitment of the Commitment Parties for this transaction and, upon
acceptance by the Company, supersedes all prior proposals, commitment letters, negotiations, discussions and correspondence (including, without limitation,
the Amended and Restated Commitment Letter and the Original Commitment Letter (in each case, except to the extent provided herein)). This Commitment
Letter may not be contradicted by evidence of any alleged oral agreement. No party has been authorized by a Commitment Party to make any oral or written
statements inconsistent with this Commitment Letter. This Commitment Letter is addressed solely to the Company and is not intended to confer any
obligations to or on, or benefits to or on, any third party (other than the Indemnified Persons). Each of the parties hereto agrees that, if executed and accepted
by the parties in the manner required herein, each of this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters is a binding and enforceable agreement with respect to the
subject matter contained herein or therein (including the obligation of the parties to negotiate the Loan Documents in good faith); it being acknowledged
and agreed that the initial funding of the Credit Facility is subject solely to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in Section 6 hereof, including the
execution and delivery of the relevant Loan Documents by the parties hereto in a manner consistent with this Commitment Letter (including the applicable
Documentation Principles and the obligation to negotiate in good faith); provided that nothing contained in this Commitment Letter obligates the Company
or any of its affiliates to consummate the Acquisition or to draw down any portion of the Credit Facility.
1 2 .
Surviving Provisions. The expense and indemnification, sharing information; absence of fiduciary relationship; affiliate transactions,
confidentiality, jurisdiction, governing law and waiver of jury trial provisions contained herein shall remain in full force and effect regardless of whether
definitive financing documentation shall be executed and delivered and notwithstanding the termination or expiration of this Commitment Letter or
termination of the commitments of the Commitment Parties described herein; provided that, upon the execution and effectiveness of such definitive
financing documentation, to the extent subject to, and covered by the provisions of such financing documentation, the provisions hereof with respect to
expense, indemnification and confidentiality shall be superseded thereby.
13.
Counterparts. This Commitment Letter may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, and all of which,
when taken together, shall constitute one agreement. Delivery of an executed signature page of this Commitment Letter by facsimile transmission or other
electronic means (including an email with a “pdf”) shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.
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1 4 .
No Assignment by Company; Governing Law. This Commitment Letter may not be assigned by the Company without the prior written
consent of each Commitment Party and may not be amended, waived or modified, except in writing signed by each Commitment Party and the Company.
This Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters, the rights of the parties hereto or thereto with respect to all matters arising hereunder or related hereto, and any
and all claims, controversies or disputes arising hereunder or related hereto shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of
New York, but excluding any principles of conflicts of law or other rule of law that would cause the application of the law of any jurisdiction other than the
State of New York, provided that, notwithstanding the preceding sentence and the governing law provisions of this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters, it
is understood and agreed that (a) the interpretation of the definition of “Target Material Adverse Effect” (and whether or not a Target Material Adverse Effect
has occurred), (b) the determination of the accuracy of any Acquisition Agreement Representation and whether as a result of any inaccuracy thereof the
Company or any of its affiliates has the right to terminate its or their obligations under the Acquisition Agreement or to decline to consummate the
Acquisition and (c) the determination of whether the Acquisition has been consummated in accordance with the terms of the Acquisition Agreement and, in
any case, claims or disputes arising out of any such interpretation or determination or any aspect thereof, in each case, shall be governed by, and construed
and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of
conflicts of laws thereof. Each of the parties hereto agrees that all claims, controversies, or disputes arising hereunder or hereto shall be tried and litigated
only in the state courts, and to the extent permitted by applicable law, federal courts, in each case located in New York County, New York and each of the
parties hereto submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts relative to any such claim, controversy or dispute. It is understood that with
respect to any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to the Acquisition Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby and which does not
involve this Commitment Letter, the Credit Facility or claims by or against the Company, any Commitment Party or Lenders or any Indemnified Person, the
immediately preceding sentence shall not override any jurisdiction provision set forth in the Acquisition Agreement.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties hereby agree that MLPFS may, without notice to the Company or any other
Commitment Party, assign its rights and obligations under this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters to any other registered broker-dealer wholly-owned by
Bank of America Corporation to which all or substantially all of Bank of America Corporation’s or any of its subsidiaries’ investment banking, commercial
lending services or related businesses may be transferred following the date of this Commitment Letter.
1 5 .
JURY TRIAL WAIVER . EACH COMMITMENT PARTY AND THE COMPANY EACH WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN
RESPECT OF ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY, OR DISPUTE (WHETHER BASED IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS COMMITMENT LETTER OR THE TRANSACTIONS OR THE ACTIONS OF A COMMITMENT PARTY OR ANY OF ITS
AFFILIATES IN THE NEGOTIATION, PERFORMANCE, OR ENFORCEMENT OF THIS COMMITMENT LETTER OR THE TRANSACTIONS OR THE
ACTIONS OF A COMMITMENT PARTY OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES IN THE NEGOTIATION, PERFORMANCE, OR ENFORCEMENT OF THIS
COMMITMENT LETTER.
16.
Amendment and Restatement. This Commitment Letter amends and restates in its entirety that certain amended and restated commitment
letter dated as of January 18, 2017 (as in effect immediately prior to effectiveness of this Commitment Letter, the “Amended and Restated Commitment
Letter”), which Amended and Restated Commitment Letter amended and restated that certain commitment letter dated as of December 19, 2016 (as amended
by that certain joinder letter dated as of December 23, 2016, and as in effect immediately prior to effectiveness of the Amended and Restated Commitment
Letter, the “Original Commitment Letter”) among the Commitment Parties (or their applicable affiliates) and the Company.
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1 7 .
Acceptance and Termination . This Commitment Letter will be of no force and effect unless executed by each Commitment Party and a
counterpart hereof is accepted and agreed to by the Company and, as so accepted and agreed to, received by Bank of America by 11:59 p.m. (Central time) on
June 9, 2017, together with the Fee Letters as duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company, provided that the Lead Arranger Fee Letter shall only
be delivered to BofA and the Regions Fee Letter shall only be delivered to Regions. The commitment of each Commitment Party under this Commitment
Letter, if accepted and agreed to by the Company as provided in the immediately preceding sentence, will terminate (unless the Closing Date occurs on or
prior thereto) upon the earliest of (i) 5:00 p.m. on July 31, 2017 (the “Stated Commitment Termination Date”); provided that upon the written request of the
Company to the Commitment Parties made prior to the occurrence of the Stated Commitment Termination Date (which written request may only be made
once), the Stated Commitment Termination Date may, at the sole discretion of the Company (but subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this
Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters), be extended to a time not later than 5:00 p.m. on October 31, 2017 (such later time, the “Extended Commitment
Termination Date”), (ii) the closing of the Acquisition without the closing of the Credit Facility, or (iii) after delivery of a fully executed and effective
Acquisition Agreement, the termination or expiration of the Acquisition Agreement; provided that the termination of any commitment or this Commitment
Letter pursuant to this sentence does not prejudice your rights and remedies in respect of any breach of this Commitment Letter that occurred prior to any
such termination.
[Signature Pages to Follow]
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If the Company accepts and agrees to the foregoing, please so indicate by executing and returning the enclosed copy of this letter to Bank of
America, together with the Fee Letters. We look forward to continuing to work with you to complete this transaction.
Very truly yours,
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
By: /s/ Adam Cady
Name: Adam Cady
Title: Managing Director
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
By: /s/ Adam Cady
Name: Adam Cady
Title: Managing Director
Project Flintstone - Second Amended and Restated ABL Commitment Letter

REGIONS BANK
By: /s/ Louis Alexander
Name: Louis Alexander
Title: Managing Director
REGIONS CAPITAL MARKETS, A DIVISION OF REGIONS BANK
By: /s/ Nikki Stephenson
Name: Nikki Stephenson
Title: Director
Project Flintstone - Second Amended and Restated ABL Commitment Letter

CITIZENS BANK, N.A.
By: /s/ Alex D’Alessandro
Name: Alex D’Allesandro
Title: Senior Vice President
By: /s/ Brad Mascott
Name: Brad Mascott
Title: Managing Director
Project Flintstone - Second Amended and Restated ABL Commitment Letter

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO
AS OF THE DATE FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN:
FRED’S, INC.
By: /s/ Michael K. Bloom
Name: Michael K. Bloom
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Project Flintstone - Second Amended and Restated ABL Commitment Letter

ANNEX A
Indemnification Provisions
To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Company (the “ Indemnifying Person”) agrees that it will indemnify, defend, and hold harmless
each of the Indemnified Persons from and against (i) any and all losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses
and disbursements and (ii) any and all actions, suits, proceedings and investigations in respect thereof, and (iii) any and all legal costs (provided, that, the
obligations to reimburse any Indemnified Person for legal fees and expenses shall be limited to reasonable legal fees and expenses of one firm of counsel for
all such Indemnified Persons and if necessary, of one local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction (and, to the extent required by the subject matter, one
specialist counsel for each such specialized area of law in each appropriate jurisdiction) and in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest, one
counsel for such affected Indemnified Person) or other costs, expenses or disbursements in giving testimony or furnishing documents in response to a
subpoena or otherwise (including, without limitation, the costs, expenses and disbursements, as and when incurred, of investigating, preparing or defending
any such action, proceeding or investigation (whether or not in connection with litigation in which any of the Indemnified Persons is a party) and including,
without limitation, any and all losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses and disbursements, resulting
from any act or omission of any of the Indemnified Persons), directly or indirectly, caused by, relating to, based upon, arising out of or in connection with (a)
the Transactions or (b) the Commitment Letter, the Amended and Restated Commitment Letter, the Original Commitment Letter or the Fee Letters; provided
that such indemnity agreement shall not apply to any portion of any such loss, claim, damage, obligation, penalty, judgment, award, liability, cost, expense
or disbursement of an Indemnified Person to the extent it is found in a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction (not subject to further appeal) to
have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person. These Indemnification Provisions shall be in addition to any
liability which the Indemnifying Person may have to the Indemnified Persons.
If any action, suit, proceeding or investigation is commenced, as to which any of the Indemnified Persons proposes to demand indemnification, it
shall notify the Indemnifying Person with reasonable promptness; provided that any failure by any of the Indemnified Persons to so notify the Indemnifying
Person shall not relieve the Indemnifying Person from its obligations hereunder. The Indemnified Persons shall have the right to retain counsel of their choice
to represent them, and the Indemnifying Person shall pay the reasonable fees, expenses, and disbursement of such counsel, and such counsel shall, to the
extent consistent with its professional responsibilities, cooperate with the Indemnifying Person and any counsel designated by the Indemnifying Person. The
Indemnifying Person shall be liable for any settlement of any claim against any of the Indemnified Persons made with its written consent, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld. Without the prior written consent of the applicable Indemnified Person, the Indemnifying Person shall not settle or
compromise any claim, unless (i) such Indemnified Person and each other Indemnified Person from which such Indemnified Person could have sought
indemnification or contribution has given his, her or its prior written consent or (ii) the settlement, compromise, consent or termination (A) includes an
express unconditional release of all Indemnified Persons and their respective affiliates from all losses, claims, damages, expenses and liabilities, directly or
indirectly, arising out of, relating to, resulting from or otherwise in connection with such claim, (B) does not include any statements as to or any findings (or
admissions) of fault, culpability or failure to act by or on behalf of any Indemnified Person and (C) is paid by the Indemnifying Person in cash.
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In order to provide for just and equitable contribution, if a claim for indemnification pursuant to these Indemnification Provisions is made but is
found by a judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction (not subject to further appeal) that such indemnification may not be enforced in such case, even
though the express provisions hereof provide for indemnification in such case, then the Indemnifying Person, on the one hand, and the applicable
Indemnified Persons, on the other hand, shall contribute to the losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses
and disbursements to which the applicable Indemnified Persons may be subject in accordance with the relative benefits received by the Indemnifying Person,
on the one hand, and the applicable Indemnified Persons, on the other hand, and also the relative fault of the Indemnifying Person, on the one hand, and the
applicable Indemnified Persons collectively and in the aggregate, on the other hand, in connection with the statements, acts or omissions which resulted in
such losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses and disbursements and the relevant equitable
considerations shall also be considered, provided, that, no Indemnified Person shall be liable for any fault, fraud, tort, or breach of any other Indemnified
Person or for a claim or cause of action against such other Indemnified Person. No person found liable for a fraudulent misrepresentation shall be entitled to
contribution from any other person who is not also found liable for such fraudulent misrepresentation.
Neither expiration nor termination of the commitment of a Commitment Party under the Commitment Letter or funding or repayment of the loans
under the Credit Facility shall affect these Indemnification Provisions which shall remain operative and continue in full force and effect.
No Indemnified Person shall be liable for any damages arising from the use by others of Information or other materials obtained through internet,
Intralinks, SyndTrak or other similar transmission systems in connection with the Credit Facility, unless to the extent it is found in a final non-appeable
judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction (not subject to further appeal) to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such
Indemnified Person. In addition, no Indemnified Person shall be responsible or liable for special, indirect, consequential, exemplary, incidental or punitive
damages which may be alleged as a result of this Commitment Letter or the Fee Letters and the Company, on behalf of itself and each of its affiliates,
irrevocably and unconditionally waives any right to seek such damages for any claim that may be alleged as a result of any breach, or as a result, of this
Commitment Letter or any element of the transactions contemplated hereby.
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ANNEX B
Syndication Provisions
Arrangers will be entitled, in consultation with the Company, to manage all aspects of the syndication of the Credit Facility, including decisions as
to the selection of prospective lenders to be approached and included, the timing of all offers to prospective lenders, the amount offered, the allocation and
acceptance of prospective commitments, the amount of compensation payable to prospective lenders, and any titles to be awarded to such prospective
lenders. The Company agrees that no Lender in such capacity will receive any compensation for its participation in the Credit Facility except as expressly
agreed to and offered by the Arrangers. In any event Arrangers will not syndicate to (i) any natural person, (ii) those banks, financial institutions and other
institutional lenders and investors that have been separately identified in writing by the Company to Arrangers prior to the date of the Original Commitment
Letter, (iii) those persons that are competitors of the Company that are separately identified by the Company to Arrangers in writing (it being understood and
agreed that any bona fide debt funds or any financial investors in such persons shall not constitute a competitor thereof) prior to the date of the Original
Commitment Letter or from time to time thereafter (and if after the date of the Original Commitment Letter subject to the approval of Arrangers and provided
that such notice shall not apply to retroactively disqualify any parties that have previously acquired an assignment of or participation interest in the
commitments in respect of the Credit Facility), and (iv) in the case of each of clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), any of their affiliates that are clearly identifiable as such
by their names or identified in writing by the Company to Arrangers (clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, collectively, “Disqualified Lenders”).
Until the earlier of 60 days after the Closing Date and a Successful Syndication (as defined in the Arranger Fee Letter), the Company agrees to
cooperate, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Seller (including the Acquired Business) to cooperate, and in each case to assist Arrangers
in completing a Successful Syndication. To assist Arrangers in their syndication efforts, without limiting the foregoing, the Company agrees, upon the
reasonable request of Lead Arranger, to:
(a) make senior management and representatives of the Company, and using commercially reasonable efforts, management and representatives of the
Acquired Business, if requested, available to participate in meetings and to provide information to prospective lenders in a timely manner at such times and
places as Lead Arranger may reasonably request,
(b) use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the syndication efforts of the Arrangers benefits from the existing lending relationships of the
Company and the Seller,
(c) at the expense of the Company, host, with the Arrangers, one or more meetings of prospective lenders, and, in connection with any such lender
meeting (a “Lender Meeting”), consulting with the Lead Arranger with respect to the presentations to be made at any such Lender Meeting, and making
available appropriate officers and other representatives of the Company (and using commercially reasonable efforts, senior management and representatives
of the Acquired Business) to attend and participate, and allowing Arrangers to participate in rehearsing such presentations prior to such Lender Meetings, as
reasonably requested by Lead Arranger, and
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(d) promptly prepare and provide (and to use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Acquired Business to assist in the preparing and
providing) to Arrangers such information with respect to the Company and its subsidiaries (including the Acquired Business) and the Transactions as
Arrangers may reasonably request, including, without limitation, (i) an updated confidential information memorandum that includes information with respect
to the Company and its subsidiaries (including the Acquired Business) and the Transactions as Arrangers may reasonably request, including the Projections,
all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Arrangers (the “Marketing Materials”), and (ii) a version of the Marketing Materials (the “Public
Information Materials”) that does not contain Projections or other material non-public information concerning the Company and its subsidiaries (including
the Acquired Business) or its securities for purposes of the United States federal and state securities laws (“Material Non-Public Information”).
The Company understands that in arranging and syndicating the Credit Facility, Arrangers may use and rely on the Marketing Materials without
independent verification thereof. Until the earlier of 60 days after the Closing Date and a Successful Syndication, the Company will promptly notify the
Arrangers of any changes in circumstances that could be expected to call into question the continued reasonableness of any assumption underlying the
Projections and agrees to update the Marketing Materials as may be reasonably requested by Arrangers.
Before distribution of any Marketing Materials (a) to prospective lenders that do not wish to receive Material Non-Public Information concerning
the Company and its subsidiaries (including the Acquired Business) or their securities (such lenders, “Public Lenders;” all other lenders, “Private Lenders”),
the Company agrees to provide the Arrangers with a customary letter authorizing the dissemination of the Public Information Materials and confirming the
absence of Material Non-Public Information therein and (b) to prospective Private Lenders, the Company agrees to provide Arrangers with a customary letter
authorizing the dissemination of those materials. In addition, at the request of Arrangers, the Company will identify Public Information Materials by clearly
and conspicuously marking the same as “PUBLIC.” The Company agrees that the Arrangers may distribute the following documents to all prospective
lenders, unless the Company advises the Arrangers in writing (including by email) within a reasonable time prior to their intended distributions that such
material should only be distributed to prospective Private Lenders: (i) administrative materials for prospective lenders such as lender meeting invitations and
funding and closing memoranda, and (ii) other materials intended for prospective lenders after the initial distribution of the Marketing Materials, including
drafts and final versions of the definitive documentation for the Credit Facility. If the Company advises the Arrangers that any of the foregoing items should
be distributed only to Private Lenders, then Arrangers agree not to distribute such materials to Public Lenders without the prior written consent (including by
email) of the Company, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
To ensure an orderly and effective syndication of the Credit Facility, the Company agrees that:
(a) from the date hereof until the earlier of the completion of a Successful Syndication and 60 days following the Closing Date, the Company will
not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to, and will require that the Acquired Business (but not the Seller) agree not to, syndicate or issue, attempt to
syndicate or issue, announce or authorize the announcement of the syndication or issuance of, or engage in discussions concerning the syndication or
issuance of, any debt facility, or debt security, syndicated credit facilities, or bank or institutional financings of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
including the Acquired Business (other than the syndication of the Credit Facility as contemplated hereby and the syndication of the Term Loan Facility in
accordance with the terms thereof), including any renewals or refinancings of any existing debt facility, without the prior written consent of the Arrangers,
provided, that, the foregoing shall not apply to (i) purchase money financing of equipment, (ii) borrowings under existing credit facilities, (iii) the Term Loan
Facility and (iv) other immaterial ordinary course indebtedness, and
(b) the Arrangers shall have a syndication period prior to the Closing Date commencing on June 9, 2017 and ending July 7, 2017.
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Notwithstanding any other provision of the Commitment Letter or this Annex B to the contrary and notwithstanding any syndication, assignment or
other transfer by any Initial Lender (a) no Initial Lender shall be relieved, released or novated from its obligations hereunder (including its obligation to fund
its applicable percentage of the Credit Facility on the Closing Date upon the satisfaction (or waiver by the Commitment Parties) of the conditions specified in
Section 6 of the Commitment Letter) in connection with any syndication, assignment or other transfer until after the initial funding of such Initial Lender’s
commitment under the Credit Facility on the Closing Date or the Company otherwise agrees in writing, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
(b) except to the extent consented to by the Company as provided in clause (a) above, no such syndication, assignment or other transfer shall, with respect to
any portion of any Initial Lender’s commitments to fund its applicable percentage of the Credit Facility on the Closing Date, relieve such Initial Lender from
its obligations hereunder to fund its applicable percentage of the Credit Facility on the Closing Date upon the satisfaction (or waiver by the Commitment
Parties) of the conditions specified in Section 6 of the Commitment Letter, except to the extent such portion is otherwise funded upon the initial funding on
the Closing Date) and (c) unless the Company agrees in writing, each Initial Lender, Commitment Party and Arranger shall retain exclusive control over all
rights and obligations with respect to its commitments in respect of the Credit Facility, including all rights with respect to consents, waivers, modifications,
supplements and amendments, until the Closing Date has occurred.
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CONFIDENTIAL
EXHIBIT A
FRED’S, INC.
Transaction Description
June 9, 2017
Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Exhibit A shall have the meanings set forth in the Commitment Letter or the other Exhibits and
Annexes thereto.
The Company (through one or more of its wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries) intends to acquire (the “Acquisition”) all of (w) the Purchased Assets
and assume the Assumed Liabilities (as each of such terms is defined in the Acquisition Agreement) of not less than 865 but up to 1,200 retail stores of Rite
Aid Corporation, (x) the Distribution Centers and the Cross-Dock Facilities (as each such term is defined in the Acquisition Agreement) (hereinafter, the
“Acquired Distribution Centers”), and (y) the Purchased Intellectual Property and the Corporate Infrastructure (as each of such terms is defined in the
Acquisition Agreement) (such assets, collectively, the “ Acquired Business”), in each case, from Rite Aid Corporation (“Seller”), all as set forth in the
Acquisition Agreement as defined below. In connection therewith:
(a) The Acquisition will be effected pursuant to an Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement, in form and substance satisfactory to the
Arrangers and the Agent in their sole discretion, by and among AFAE, LLC and Seller, and for the limited purposes set forth therein, the Company and
Walgreen Boots Alliance, Inc. (and together with the schedules and exhibits thereto, the Transition Services Agreement and the other Ancillary Agreements
referred to therein, and the other documents and instruments executed and/or delivered in connection therewith, including any reverse transition services
agreement (each of which shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Arrangers and the Agent in their sole discretion), collectively, the “ Acquisition
Agreement”; provided that until such time the Acquisition Agreement shall be duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto, capitalized terms used
herein by reference to definitions contained in the Acquisition Agreement, shall instead be defined by reference to the definitions contained in the draft
Acquisition Agreement provided to the Commitment Parties with the heading “Sidley Comments March 14, 2017” (the “Draft Acquisition Agreement ”) (it
being understood and agreed that the Arrangers and Agent have not approved the Draft Acquisition Agreement as an acceptable form of the Acquisition
Agreement). Such Acquisition shall be consummated pursuant to an initial Closing and one or more Subsequent Closings (each, as defined in the Acquisition
Agreement) (such retail store locations and the related assets acquired pursuant to a Subsequent Closing, being hereinafter a “Series”, provided that all retail
store locations and the related assets acquired pursuant to a Series of Subsequent Closings (each an “Acquired Store Series”) occurring on consecutive
business days (with an average of not less than 50 retail stores per day acquired pursuant thereto (or, if less, (x) the entire remaining balance of stores and
related assets to be acquired by the Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, (y) at any time after the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired
67% of all retail store locations and related assets required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, up to 25 separate transfers of one or more
retail store locations and related assets to be acquired by the Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement or (z) as agreed to by Agent) shall be deemed
to form a part of the same Acquired Store Series). Following the Acquisition, the Acquired Business will be owned by the Company, except for any assets to
be acquired in connection with any Subsequent Closing or the Distribution Center Closing (as each of such terms are defined in the Acquisition Agreement
and with the Distribution Center Closing being hereinafter referred to as the “Final APA Closing”).
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(b) The Acquired Business will be released from all obligations in connection with any debt for borrowed money, including the credit facility
provided to Seller and its subsidiaries for which Citibank, N.A. is the agent (the “Existing Credit Facility”) and any security interests in, encumbrances or
liens on any of the assets of the Acquired Business (other than Permitted Liens (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement)) will be released and terminated
(such release of obligations and the termination and discharge of such liens and encumbrances, the “Release”).
(d) Borrowers and the other Loan Parties (as defined in Exhibit B) will enter into the Credit Facility and the applicable Loan Documents.
(e) Borrowers will enter into a term loan facility on the terms and conditions set forth in that certain $550,000,000 Senior Secured Term Loan
Facility Amended and Restated Commitment Letter, dated as of the date of this Commitment Letter, by and among the Company, MLPFS, as arranger and
agent and the other parties thereto, with such changes thereto as are reasonably satisfactory to the Arrangers (the “Term Loan Facility ”), which shall be
secured by liens that are subordinated to the liens securing the Credit Facility, except for the liens on equipment, fixtures, real property and certain related
assets that secure the Term Loan Facility which will be senior to the liens securing the Credit Facility.
(f) The fees, premiums, expenses and other transaction costs incurred in connection with the Transactions that are due and payable on or prior to the
Closing Date (the “Transaction Costs”) will be paid.
(g) The proceeds of the Credit Facility and Term Loan Facility will be used to pay the consideration and other amounts owing in connection with
the Acquisition under the Acquisition Agreement, to pay all or a portion of the Transaction Costs and for general corporate purposes.
The Acquisition, the Release, the Credit Facility and the Term Loan Facility and the other transactions described above or related thereto are
collectively referred to as the “Transactions”.
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EXHIBIT B
TO
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED COMMITMENT LETTER
FRED’S, INC.
$1,650,000,000 Senior Secured Revolving Loan Facility
(“Credit Facility”)
Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions
June 9, 2017
This Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions (the “Term Sheet”) is part of the second amended and restated commitment letter, dated June 9, 2017 (the
“Commitment Letter”), addressed to Fred’s, Inc. (the “Company”) by Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of America”), Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated (together, with its designated affiliates, “MLPFS”, and together with Bank of America, “BofA”), Regions Bank (“Regions Bank”), Regions
Capital Markets, a division of Regions Bank (“RCM”, and together with Regions Bank, “Regions”) and Citizens Bank, N.A. (“Citizens”) and is subject to the
terms and conditions of the Commitment Letter. Capitalized terms used herein and the accompanying annexes shall have the meanings set forth in the
Commitment Letter unless otherwise defined herein.
Borrowers:

The Company, AFAE, LLC and any other wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company organized under the laws of
the United States or a State or instrumentality thereof with assets to be included in the Borrowing Base
(individually, a “Borrower” and collectively, “Borrowers”). All references to Borrowers shall mean such
subsidiaries of the Company after giving effect to the Acquisition.

Guarantors:

Each of the Company’s existing and subsequently acquired or organized direct or indirect subsidiaries that are not
Borrowers (collectively, the “Guarantors”, and together with Borrowers, individually a “Loan Party” and
collectively, “Loan Parties”); provided, that, Guarantors shall not include (a) any non-US subsidiary of the
Company organized or acquired after the Closing Date that is a “controlled foreign corporation” (within the
meaning of Section 957 of the Internal Revenue Code) (“CFC”) and any U.S. subsidiary of the Company that is
treated as a “disregarded entity” for federal income tax purposes the sole assets of which are equity interests in
CFCs and that has no material assets or material operations other than the equity interests of CFC’s (such entity, a
“CFC Holdco”), (b) immaterial subsidiaries (to be defined in a mutually acceptable manner as to individual and
aggregate revenues and assets), and (c) special purpose entities whose only assets consist of real estate,
improvements and fixtures thereon that are subject to existing mortgages to secure debt for borrowed
money. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event any holder of any debt for borrowed money of any Loan
Party obtains any guaranty from any such CFC or such CFC Holdco, then, in such event, such CFC and/or CFC
Holdco shall be required to provide a guaranty of the obligations under the Credit Facility.

Agent:

Bank of America (in such capacity, “Agent”).
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Collateral Agent:

Bank of America and Regions Bank as co-collateral agents (in such capacities, “Collateral Agents”). The
Collateral Agents and Agent shall enter into a customary co-collateral agent’s agreement, pursuant to which,
among other things, Collateral Agents shall have rights as expansive as the rights afforded to the Agent under the
Loan Document relating to (i) (x) the definition of the term “Excess Availability” and any component of such
definition, and (y) the definitions in the Loan Documents of the Borrowing Base, the FILO Borrowing Base, the
ABL IP Borrowing Base and any component of each such definition (including, without limitation, reserves,
advance rates and eligibility criteria), (ii) reporting requirements and appraisals, examinations and collateral
audits, and (iii) the establishment, determination, modification or release of any of the reserves established
pursuant to the Loan Documents.

Syndication Agent:

Regions Bank as syndication agent (in such capacity, “Syndication Agent”).

Co-Documentation
Agents:

Citizens and other Lenders to be determined.

Lenders:

Bank of America, Regions Bank, Citizens and such other institutions as may become parties to the Credit Facility
as lenders (collectively, “Lenders”) but not including any Disqualified Lenders. Lenders holding commitments
under the ABL Revolving Facility are referred to herein, collectively, as the “Revolving Lenders”. Lenders
holding commitments or term loans under the ABL FILO Term Facility are referred to herein, collectively, as the
“FILO Term Lenders”. Lenders holding commitments or term loans under the ABL IP Term Facility are referred to
herein, collectively, as the “IP Term Lenders”.
The term “Disqualified Lender” means (i) any natural person, (ii) those banks, financial institutions and other
institutional lenders and investors that have been separately identified in writing by the Company to Arrangers (as
defined in the Commitment Letter) prior to the date of the Original Commitment Letter, (iii) those persons that are
competitors of the Company that are separately identified by the Company to Arrangers in writing (it being
understood and agreed that any bona fide debt funds or any financial investors in such persons shall not constitute
a competitor thereof) prior to the date of the Original Commitment Letter or from time to time thereafter (and if
after the date of the Original Commitment Letter subject to the approval of Agent and provided that such notice
shall not apply to retroactively disqualify any parties that have previously acquired an assignment of or
participation interest in the loans or commitments in respect of the Credit Facility), and (iv) in the case of each of
clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), any of their affiliates that are clearly identifiable as such by their names or identified in
writing by the Company to Arrangers.

Swing Line Lender:

Bank of America (in such capacity, “Swing Line Lender”).

Letter of Credit Issuer:

Bank of America, Regions Bank and other Lenders who shall agree to become a letter of credit issuer (in such
capacity, each an “Issuing Bank”), with such sublimits as each may require for the outstanding aggregate amount
of Letters of Credit issued by it at any time.
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Joint Lead Arrangers and Bookrunners: MLPFS, RCM and Citizens.
Credit Facility:

A senior secured asset-based credit facility provided to Borrowers in an aggregate principal amount of
$1,650,000,000 consisting of (a) senior secured asset-based term loans advanced on a “first-in, last-out” basis in an
aggregate principal amount of $350,000,000, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein (the “ABL
FILO Term Facility”), (b) senior secured asset-based IP term loans advanced on a “last out” basis (i.e., ranking after
the principal of the loan and letters of credit under the ABL Revolving Facility and the ABL FILO Term Facility in
the “waterfall” provisions under the Loan Documents, provided, however, that the IP Term Lenders shall have a
priority claim (ranking prior to the principal of the loan and letters of credit under the ABL Revolving Facility and
the ABL FILO Term Facility in the “waterfall” provisions under the Loan Documents) with respect to any proceeds
of intellectual property assets of the Borrowers) in an aggregate principal amount of $50,000,000, subject to the
terms and conditions contained herein (the “ABL IP Term Facility ”) and (c) a senior secured asset-based revolving
loan and letter of credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,250,000,000, subject to the Borrowing
B ase as provided herein and other terms and conditions contained herein (the “ABL Revolving Facility”).
Amounts under the Credit Facility will be available in U.S. dollars.
The term “Maximum Credit” as used herein means the aggregate amount of the commitments under the ABL
Revolving Facility. In the event that 1,000 stores are not purchased under the Acquisition Agreement or if the final
Subsequent Closing does not occur prior to the one-year anniversary of the Closing Date, the Lenders shall be
entitled to reduce the Maximum Credit in manner and subject to terms to be agreed.
Revolving loans under the ABL Revolving Facility (the “Revolving Loans”) may be drawn, repaid and
reborrowed.
The entire principal amount of the ABL FILO Term Facility will be available in a single drawing on the date that is
the earlier to occur of (x) the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired 900 retail store locations (and related
assets) required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement and (y) within ninety (90) days of the
Closing Date (or such earlier date as may be requested by the Borrowers upon five (5) business days’ written notice
to Agent) (subject to the implementation of any applicable ABL FILO Push Down Reserve as provided herein and
other terms and conditions contained herein), provided that in each such case, the entire Term Loan Facility shall
be fully funded at such time. The term loans advanced under ABL FILO Term Facility (the “ ABL FILO Term
Loans”) may not be repaid or prepaid, except (i) in connection with a termination of all commitments under the
Credit Facility and payment in full of all secured obligations under or described in the Credit Facility or (ii) twelve
full months after giving effect to the final Subsequent Closing, if the ABL TL Prepayment Conditions (as
described below) are satisfied.
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The entire principal amount of the ABL IP Term Facility will be available in a single drawing on the date that is
the earlier to occur of (x) the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired 900 retail store locations (and related
assets) required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement and (y) within ninety (90) days of the
Closing Date (or such earlier date as may be requested by the Borrowers upon five (5) business days’ written notice
to Agent) (subject to the implementation of any applicable ABL IP Push Down Reserve as provided herein and
other terms and conditions contained herein), provided that in each such case, the entire Term Loan Facility and
the ABL FILO Term Facility shall be fully funded at such time. The term loans advanced under ABL IP Term
Facility (the “ABL IP Term Loans”) may not be repaid or prepaid, except (i) in connection with a termination of all
commitments under the Credit Facility and payment in full of all secured obligations under or described in the
Credit Facility or (ii) twelve full months after giving effect to the final Subsequent Closing, if the ABL TL
Prepayment Conditions (as described below) are satisfied.
“ABL TL Prepayment Conditions” means, at the time of determination with respect to any prepayment of the ABL
FILO Term Loans or the ABL IP Term Loans, the following:
(a) as of the date of any such prepayment, and after giving effect thereto, no default or event of default shall exist
or have occurred and be continuing;
(b)

as of the date of any prepayment, on a pro forma basis and after giving effect thereto: (A) the Excess
Availability for the immediately preceding 30 consecutive day period shall have been not less than the greater
of (1) 30.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $600,000,000, (B) the Excess Availability on the date of such
prepayment shall be not less than the greater of such amounts, and (C) Excess Availability as projected as of
the end of each month for each of the twelve (12) months following such prepayment shall be not less than the
greater of such amounts; and

(c) Agent shall have received a certificate of an authorized officer of Borrowers certifying as to compliance with
the preceding clauses and demonstrating (in reasonable detail) the calculations required thereby.
The ABL FILO Term Loans and ABL IP Term Loans that are repaid or prepaid may not be reborrowed.
The Company will be appointed to act as the agent for Loan Parties for all purposes of dealing with Agent, Issuing
Bank, and Lenders, including requesting Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit.
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Facility Increase:

Borrowers will have the option to increase the aggregate amount of the commitments under the ABL Revolving
Facility and/or the ABL FILO Term Facility (each, a “ Facility Increase”) (x) in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$50,000,000 for all Facility Increases occurring on or prior to the Closing Date (solely to the extent there shall be a
Successful Syndication as of such date) and (y) in an aggregate amount not to exceed $200,000,000 for all Facility
Increases occurring after the Closing Date, provided that, as to each Facility Increase occurring after the Closing
Date, each of the following conditions is satisfied: (a) Borrowers shall deliver to Agent a certificate of each Loan
Party dated as of the effective date of such Facility Increase (the “Increase Effective Date”) signed by a responsible
officer of such Loan Party (i) certifying and attaching the resolutions adopted by such Loan Party approving or
consenting to such increase, and (ii) certifying that, before and after giving effect to such increase, the
representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true and correct on and as of the Increase
Effective Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in
which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date; (b) Borrowers shall have paid such fees and other
compensation to Arrangers as may be agreed; (c) Borrowers shall deliver to Agent and Lenders an opinion or
opinions, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent, from counsel to Borrowers reasonably
satisfactory to Agent and dated the Increase Effective Date; (d) Borrowers shall have delivered such other
instruments, documents and agreements as Agent may have reasonably requested; (e) as of the Increase Effective
Date and after giving effect thereto, no default or event of default exists; (f) each such Facility Increase occurring
after the Closing Date shall be in minimum increments of $10,000,000; (g) each such Facility Increase shall be
offered to each of the existing Lenders on a pro rata basis and, to the extent the existing Lenders do not agree to
provide the entire amount of the requested Facility Increase, to new Lenders reasonably acceptable to Agent; (h)
no Lender shall be required to provide additional commitments for such Facility Increase; (i) such Facility Increase
shall be subject to obtaining additional commitments of Lenders (whether existing Lenders or new Lenders); (j) the
terms of such Facility Increase shall be the same as for all commitments under the ABL Revolving Facility or the
ABL FILO Term Facility, as applicable (other than as to fees payable for such additional commitments); and (k)
Agent and Lenders shall have received not less than 10 business days’ prior written notice of the request prior to
the effectiveness of any Facility Increase. For certainty, with respect to Facility Increases occurring on or prior to
the Closing Date, (i) no Initial Lender or any other Lender shall have any obligation to provide any additional
commitments for such Facility Increase, (ii) such Facility Increase shall be subject to the approval of the Arrangers
and (iii) the terms of such Facility Increase shall be the same as for all other commitments under the ABL
Revolving Facility and/or the ABL FILO Term Facility, as applicable.
In no event shall the fees, interest rate and other compensation offered or paid in respect of additional
commitments or increase in commitments have higher rates than the amounts paid and payable to the then existing
Lenders in respect of their commitments, unless the fees, interest rate and other compensation payable to the then
existing Lenders are increased to the same as those paid in connection with the new or additional commitments,
except for the initial fee payable in respect of the new or additional commitment of a Lender.
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Letters of Credit Subfacility:

A portion of the ABL Revolving Facility will be available for letters of credit arranged by Agent and issued by an
Issuing Bank (“Letters of Credit”) in an aggregate amount at any time outstanding not to exceed $100,000,000.
Letters of Credit will reduce the amount of the Revolving Loans available under the Borrowing Base and the
Maximum Credit.
Letters of Credit will be issued by the Issuing Bank and each Lender will purchase an irrevocable and
unconditional participation in each Letter of Credit.
If any Lender becomes a “Defaulting Lender”, then the Letter of Credit exposure of such Defaulting Lender will
automatically be reallocated among the non-defaulting Lenders pro rata in accordance with their commitments
under the ABL Revolving Facility up to an amount such that the revolving credit exposure of each such nondefaulting Lender does not exceed its commitments. In the event such reallocation does not fully cover the
exposure of such Defaulting Lender, the Issuing Bank may require Borrowers to repay (or provide cash collateral
for) such “uncovered” exposure in respect of the Letters of Credit and will have no obligation to provide Letters of
Credit to the extent such Letters of Credit would result in the exposure of the non-defaulting Lenders exceeding
their commitments under the ABL Revolving Facility.

Swing Line Facility:

A portion of the ABL Revolving Facility will be available as swing line loans (“Swing Line Loans”) with a
sublimit on Swing Line Loans to Borrowers outstanding at any time of $100,000,000 (the “Stated Swing Line
Limit”); provided, however, that notwithstanding the Stated Swing Line Limit and solely during the Acquisition
Period (as hereinafter defined), the Swing Line Lender may (in its sole and absolute discretion and in lieu of Agent
requiring Lenders to make Revolving Loans or FILO Loans), make Swing Line Loans available to the Borrowers to
fund the purchase price of the Purchased Assets acquired in connection with any Subsequent Closing. Swing Line
Loans will reduce the amount of the Revolving Loans available under the Borrowing Base and the Maximum
Credit. The term “Revolving Loans” as used herein includes Swing Line Loans, except as otherwise provided
herein.
Swing Line Loans will be made available by Swing Line Lender and each Lender will purchase an irrevocable and
unconditional participation in each Swing Line Loan.
If any Lender becomes a “Defaulting Lender”, then the swing line exposure of such Defaulting Lender will
automatically be reallocated among the non-defaulting Lenders pro rata in accordance with their commitments
under the ABL Revolving Facility up to an amount such that the revolving credit exposure of each such nondefaulting Lender does not exceed its commitments. In the event such reallocation does not fully cover the
exposure of such Defaulting Lender, the Swing Line Lender may require Borrowers to repay such “uncovered”
exposure in respect of the Swing Line Loans and will have no obligation to make Swing Line Loans to the extent
such Swing Line Loans would result in the non-defaulting Lenders exceeding their commitments.
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Swing Line Loans shall be repaid by the Borrowers (other than with the proceeds of other Swing Line Loans) no
later than 7 days after the funding thereof (or, during the Acquisition Period, such other increased frequency as
may be required by the Swing Line Lender).
Borrowing Bases:

Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit shall be provided to Borrowers subject to the terms and conditions of the
Loan Documents (which will be consistent with the terms of this Commitment Letter) and availability under the
ABL Revolving Facility will be calculated as follows (the “Borrowing Base”):
(a) 90% of the face amount of eligible credit card receivables of Borrowers; plus
(b) 85% of the net amount of eligible pharmacy receivables of Borrowers; plus
(c) 90% of the Net Recovery Percentage of eligible merchandise inventory (other than pharmacy inventory) of
Borrowers multiplied by the value of such eligible inventory; plus
(d) 90% of the Net Recovery Percentage of eligible pharmacy inventory of Borrowers multiplied by the value of
such eligible inventory; plus
(e) Pharmacy Scripts Availability; minus
(f) the ABL FILO Push Down Reserve; minus
(g) the ABL IP Push Down Reserve; minus
(h) the Term Loan Push Down Reserve; minus
(i) applicable reserves established by Agent in its Permitted Discretion.
The amount of the “Net Recovery Percentage” means the fraction, expressed as a percentage (a) the numerator of
which is the amount equal to the recovery on the aggregate amount of the applicable category of eligible
inventory at such time on a “going out of business” basis (or, in the case of any Acquired Store (through the period
during which the Transition Services Agreement is in effect), on a “store closing sale” basis) as set forth in the most
recent acceptable inventory appraisal received by Agent in accordance with the requirements of the Loan
Documents, net of operating expenses, liquidation expenses and commissions reasonably anticipated in the
disposition of such assets and (b) the denominator of which is the original cost (or as to certain categories of
inventory as specified by Agent, the retail value) of the aggregate amount of the eligible inventory subject to such
appraisal.
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The “value” of each category of eligible inventory will be determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles as consistently applied by the Company pursuant to its then current practices (or in the case
of certain categories of inventory to be specified by Agent, the retail value thereof), but in any event at all times
consistent with the practices used in the most recent field examination and appraisals that have been received by
Agent.
“Pharmacy Scripts Availability ” means 10% of the product of (i) the average per script “net orderly liquidation
value” of eligible prescription files (“pharmacy scripts”) based on the most recent acceptable appraisal received by
Agent in accordance with the requirements of the Loan Documents, net of operating expenses, liquidation
expenses and commissions reasonably anticipated in the disposition of such assets, multiplied by (ii) the number
of eligible pharmacy scripts; provided that in no event shall such amount exceed 20% of the Borrowing Base at
any time.
The term “Permitted Discretion” as used in this Term Sheet with reference to Agent, shall mean a determination
made in good faith in the exercise of its reasonable (from the perspective of a secured asset based lender in credit
facilities of this type) business judgment based on how an asset-based lender with similar rights providing a credit
facility of the type set forth herein would act in similar circumstances at the time with the information then
available to it.
The ABL FILO Term Facility shall be provided to Borrowers subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan
Documents (which will be consistent with the terms of this Commitment Letter). The borrowing base for the ABL
FILO Term Facility will be calculated as follows (the “FILO Borrowing Base”):
(a) the FILO Pharmacy Scripts Availability; minus
(b) applicable reserves established by Agent in its Permitted Discretion (provided that such reserves shall not be
duplicative of reserves maintained against the Borrowing Base).
“FILO Pharmacy Scripts Availability ” means 30% of the product of (i) the average per script “net orderly
liquidation value” of eligible prescription files (“pharmacy scripts”) based on the most recent acceptable appraisal
received by Agent in accordance with the requirements of the Loan Documents, net of operating expenses,
liquidation expenses and commissions reasonably anticipated in the disposition of such assets, multiplied by (ii)
the number of eligible pharmacy scripts.
If at any time, and for so long as, the outstanding amount of the ABL FILO Term Loans under the ABL FILO Term
Facility exceeds the FILO Borrowing Base, Agent shall establish and maintain a reserve against the Borrowing
Base in an amount equal to the difference between (a) such outstanding amount of ABL FILO Term Loans and (b)
the FILO Borrowing Base at such time (the “ABL FILO Push Down Reserve”).
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The ABL IP Term Facility shall be provided to Borrowers subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan
Documents (which will be consistent with the terms of this Commitment Letter). The borrowing base for the ABL
IP Term Facility (the “ABL IP Borrowing Base”) will be equal to the lesser of (a) $50,000,000, and (b) the result of
(x) the IP Availability minus (y) applicable reserves established by Agent in its Permitted Discretion (provided that
such reserves shall not be duplicative of reserves maintained against the Borrowing Base).
“IP Availability ” means the IP Advance Rate multiplied by the “liquidation value” of eligible Purchased
Intellectual Property (consisting of the Rite Aid Corporation brand name only) based on the most recent
acceptable appraisal received by Agent in accordance with the requirements of the Loan Documents, net of
operating expenses, liquidation expenses and commissions reasonably anticipated in the disposition of such
assets. The intellectual property appraisals shall employ a valuation methodology and include other assumptions
satisfactory to the Arrangers, including, without limitation, that no more than 400 store locations are liquidated
pursuant to a sale transaction under Section 363 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.
“IP Advance Rate” means the lesser of (a)(i) prior to the first anniversary of the initial funding of the ABL IP Term
Loans, 50%, (ii) from and after the first anniversary of the initial funding of the ABL IP Term Loans, but prior to
the second anniversary thereof, 45%, (iii) from and after the second anniversary of the initial funding of the ABL IP
Term Loans, but prior to the third anniversary thereof, 40%, (iv) from and after the third anniversary of the initial
funding of the ABL IP Term Loans, but prior to the fourth anniversary thereof, 35%, and (v) from and after the
fourth anniversary of the initial funding of the ABL IP Term Loans, 30% and (b) commencing twelve (12) full
fiscal months following the Closing Date, in the event pro forma Consolidated EBITDA (to be defined in a manner
to be mutually agreed) of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the end of any fiscal month (for the twelve (12)
consecutive fiscal month period then ended) is less than $300,000,000, the applicable percentage in the chart set
forth below determined by reference to pro forma Consolidated EDITDA.
TTM Consolidated EBITDA

IP Advance
Rate

Less than $300,000,000 but
greater than or equal to
$250,000,000

40%

Less than $250,000,000 but
greater than or equal to
$200,000,000

30%

Less than $200,000,000 but
greater than or equal to
$150,000,000

20%

Less than $150,000,000

0%
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If at any time, and for so long as, the outstanding amount of the ABL IP Term Loans under the ABL IP Term
Facility exceeds the ABL IP Borrowing Base, Agent shall establish and maintain a reserve against the Borrowing
Base in an amount equal to the difference between (a) such outstanding amount of the ABL IP Term Loans and (b)
the ABL IP Borrowing Base at such time (the “ABL IP Push Down Reserve”).
Agent shall establish reserves in an amount equal to, without duplication (a) commencing on the date that is six (6)
months prior to the stated termination date of the Transition Services Agreement (as in effect after giving effect to
any extension of the Transition Services Agreement, in accordance with the terms thereof), 50% of the aggregate
amount required to be paid in connection with the Final APA Closing upon the termination of the Transition
Services Agreement including in respect of services provided under the Transition Services Agreement, the
Acquired Distribution Centers, the Corporate Infrastructure, and the Purchased Intellectual Property under the
Acquisition Agreement (collectively, the “ TSA Termination Transactions”) (exclusive of (x) the allocable share of
such purchase price in respect of inventory located at the Acquired Distribution Centers and (y) amounts to be
financed pursuant to equity and/or debt arrangements satisfactory to the Agent in its Permitted Discretion and
otherwise permitted under the terms of the Loan Documents), (b) from and after the date of delivery of a notice (a
“Notice of TSA Termination ”) from the Borrowers and the Seller of their intention to terminate the Transition
Services Agreement (which Notice of TSA Termination shall be delivered no later than ninety (90) days prior to
the consummation of the TSA Termination Transactions), 50% of the aggregate amount required to be paid in
connection with the TSA Termination Transactions (exclusive of (x) the allocable share of such purchase price in
respect of inventory located at the Acquired Distribution Centers, but only to the extent the Borrowers shall have
received commitments from lenders to a Facility Increase (up to the projected suppressed availability under the
Borrowing Base covered by such Facility Increase) and (y) amounts to be financed pursuant to equity and/or debt
arrangements satisfactory to the Agent in its Permitted Discretion and otherwise permitted under the terms of the
Loan Documents), and (c) from and after the date that is sixty (60) days prior to the consummation of the TSA
Termination Transactions, Agent shall establish reserves in an amount equal to 100% of the aggregate amount
required to be paid in connection with the TSA Termination Transactions (exclusive of (x) the allocable share of
such purchase price in respect of inventory located at the Acquired Distribution Centers, but only to the extent the
Borrowers shall have received commitments from lenders to a Facility Increase (in an amount not less than the
projected suppressed availability under the Borrowing Base generated by such inventory) and (y) amounts to be
financed pursuant to equity and/or debt arrangements satisfactory to the Agent in its Permitted Discretion and
otherwise permitted under the terms of the Loan Documents). All reserves in respect of the TSA Termination
Transactions described above shall be released concurrently with the payment of such amounts.
B-10

If at any time the outstanding amount of the loans under the Term Loan Facility exceed the borrowing base
established under the Term Loan Facility, Agent may be required to establish a reserve against the Borrowing Base
in an amount equal to the difference between (a) such outstanding amount of the loans under the Term Loan
Facility and (b) such term loan borrowing base at such time (the “Term Loan Push Down Reserve”). For purposes of
the Term Loan Push Down Reserve, Agent will be entitled to rely solely on the calculation made by Borrowers
unless Agent is notified by the Term Loan Agent (as defined below) that such calculation is inaccurate. In such
event, Agent shall be entitled to rely solely on the calculation of the Term Loan Push Down Reserve made by the
Term Loan Agent.
Eligibility:

Criteria for determining eligible credit card receivables, eligible pharmacy receivables, eligible merchandise
inventory, eligible pharmacy inventory, eligible pharmacy scripts and eligible intellectual property will be in the
Permitted Discretion of Agent in accordance with Agent’s customary practices and as appropriate under the
circumstances as determined by Agent pursuant to field examinations and other due diligence (it being understood
that eligibility criteria with respect to the foregoing as of the Closing Date shall be mutually acceptable to the
Collateral Agents).
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Agent will retain the right from time to time to
establish or modify standards of eligibility and reserves against availability that it deems necessary or appropriate
in its Permitted Discretion. The right of Agent to establish reserves will be in accordance with its customary
practices in the exercise of its Permitted Discretion and as may be applicable under the circumstances based on its
field examination and other due diligence to be conducted and for matters that adversely affect the Collateral, its
value or the amount that Agent might receive from the sale or other disposition thereof or the ability of Agent to
realize thereon, defaults and other matters. The amount of any reserve established by Agent shall have a reasonable
relationship to the event, condition or other matter which is the basis for such reserve as determined by Agent in its
Permitted Discretion and to the extent that such reserve is in respect of amounts that may be payable to third
parties the applicable reserve may be deducted from the Maximum Credit at any time that such limit is less than
the amount of the Borrowing Base. It is understood and agreed that reserves as of the Closing Date shall be
mutually acceptable to the Collateral Agents.

Amortization:

The principal amount of the ABL IP Term Loans will be repaid, commencing on the first anniversary of the
funding date for the ABL IP Term Facility, in an amount equal to $5,000,000, and thereafter, on the first business
day of each calendar quarter in equal quarterly installments equal to $1,250,000, with the final installment to be in
the then remaining balance of the ABL IP Term Loans (including principal, accrued and unpaid interest and other
amounts) due on the Maturity Date.
There shall be no other amortization under the Credit Facility.

Optional Prepayments:

The Revolving Loans may be prepaid in whole or in part from time to time without penalty or premium, but
including all breakage or similar costs actually incurred by a Lender.
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The ABL FILO Term Loans and ABL IP Term Loans may not be prepaid except as expressly provided under the
heading “Credit Facility” above.
Mandatory Prepayments:

Borrowers will be required to repay Revolving Loans and provide cash collateral to the extent that Revolving
Loans and Letters of Credit exceed the lesser of the Borrowing Base then in effect or the Maximum Credit, in each
case, in cash without any prepayment premium or penalty (but including all breakage or similar costs).
At any time there is a Cash Dominion Event, all proceeds of Collateral shall be applied to the obligations under
the Credit Facility in a manner to be agreed.
In addition, Borrowers will be required to make prepayments:
(a)

in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of asset dispositions (except for (i) dispositions in
connection with any Permitted Real Estate Financings (as hereinafter defined) or (ii) dispositions resulting
from casualty losses or condemnations and subject to exceptions to the extent mutually agreed upon and
including sales in the ordinary course of business, but not any bulk sales);

(b) in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of any debt issued by any Loan Party or its subsidiaries
(other than indebtedness under Permitted Real Estate Financings and certain other categories of permitted
debt to be specified);
(c)

in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of any equity issuance by any Loan Party or its
subsidiaries (other than equity issuances by a Loan Party or its subsidiary to its or their members or
management and other employees, in each case as to such members, management or other employees pursuant
to employee stock or option plans approved by the board of directors and other exceptions to be agreed);

(d)

in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of casualty insurance and condemnation receipts
received by any Loan Party or its subsidiaries, subject to reinvestment rights to be agreed;

(e) in an amount equal to 100% of the net proceeds of extraordinary receipts (the definition of which is to be
agreed); and
(f) in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds received from the Permitted Real Estate Financings.
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Mandatory prepayments specified in clauses (a) through (e) will be applied first to the Revolving Loans (without
permanent reduction in commitments), second to cash collateralize Letters of Credit, third to the outstanding ABL
FILO Term Loans and fourth to the outstanding ABL IP Term Loans, in the event that the asset sold or that is the
basis for the receipts is ABL Priority Collateral (except with respect to proceeds of any disposition of intellectual
property assets of the Loan Parties or their subsidiaries, which proceeds shall be applied to the outstanding ABL IP
Term Loans prior to application to any other obligations under the Credit Facility) or first to the loans under the
Term Loan Facility in the event that the asset sold is the basis for the receipts is Term Loan Priority Collateral;
provided that, if the Prepayment Exception Conditions are satisfied at the time of a prepayment under clauses (b)
or (c) above, such amounts may be applied first to the loans under the Term Loan Facility and thereafter to the
Credit Facility, first to the Revolving Loans (and in the case of the Revolving Loans, without permanent reduction
in commitments), second to cash collateralize Letters of Credit, third to the outstanding ABL FILO Term Loans
and fourth to the outstanding ABL IP Term Loans. Mandatory prepayments specified in clause (f) will be applied
as provided in the definition of Permitted Real Estate Financings.
The “Prepayment Exception Conditions” means: (A) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, (B) Excess Availability for the immediately preceding 30 consecutive day period shall have been (i)
for the period from the Closing Date through the second anniversary of the Closing Date, not less than the greater
of (1) 35% of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $600,000,000 and (ii) thereafter, not less than the greater of (1) 30%
of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $535,000,000, (C) after giving effect to any such prepayment, the Excess
Availability shall be not less than the greater of such amounts in the foregoing clause (B), (D) Excess Availability
as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12) months following such payment shall be not
less than the greater of such amounts in the foregoing clause (B), and (E) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, on a
pro forma basis, after giving effect to the specified transaction the proceeds of which are proposed to be used to
make such prepayment, (x) based on the most recent financial statement received by Agent prior to the date thereof
for the 12 month period prior thereto and (y) as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12)
months following such specified transaction, in each case of clause (x) and (y), shall be not less than 1.00 to 1.00.
Interest and Fees:

See Schedules 1 and 2 to this Exhibit B and the Fee Letters.

Use of Proceeds:

The proceeds of the Loans and Letters of Credit will be used by Borrowers (a) on the Closing Date, for the payment
of a portion of the consideration for the Acquisition and for repayment of the Existing Fred’s ABL, (b) to pay costs,
expenses and fees in connection with the Credit Facility, the Acquisition and the other Transactions, and (c) on
and after the Closing Date, for payment of consideration for the acquisition of additional retail stores and related
assets and/or the Acquired Distribution Centers pursuant to, and in accordance with, the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement and for working capital of Borrowers and their subsidiaries and other general corporate purposes
including funding permitted acquisitions and capital expenditures.

Closing Date:

Any time prior to the Commitment Termination Time (as such term is defined in the Commitment Letter) at which
time the conditions set forth in Section 6 of the Commitment Letter are satisfied or waived and the initial funding
of loans under the Credit Facility occurs (the “Closing Date”).
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Term:

5 years from the Closing Date (the “Maturity Date”).

Collateral:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the limitations set forth below, to secure all obligations of each Loan
Party, (a) first priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens), perfected security interests in and liens on all
ABL Priority Collateral and (b) second priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens), perfected security
interests in and liens on all Term Loan Priority Collateral subordinate only to the liens securing the Term Loan
Facility pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement (as defined below).
“ABL Priority Collateral” means all present and future assets and properties of the Loan Parties, including (a)
accounts (other than accounts arising under contracts for sale of Term Loan Priority Collateral as such term is
defined below) and payment intangibles, including credit card receivables, (b) general intangibles (including all
intellectual property and loans or advances payable by a Loan Party to any other Loan Party) and prescription
files, (c) chattel paper (other than chattel paper relating to Term Loan Priority Collateral), (d) documents, (e)
instruments (including any promissory notes), (f) supporting obligations, (g) letters of credit and letter-of-credit
rights, (h) deposit and securities accounts, investment property (including any stock or other equity or ownership
interests in the subsidiaries and affiliates of each Loan Party), (i) commercial tort claims, (j) inventory, (k) all
books, records and documents related to the foregoing (including databases, customer lists and other records,
whether tangible or electronic, which contain any information relating to any of the foregoing) and (l) all proceeds
and products of any or all of the foregoing in whatever form received, including proceeds of business interruption
and other insurance and claims against third parties), other than (x) Excluded Assets or (y) to the extent
constituting Term Loan Priority Collateral.
“Term Loan Priority Collateral” means all present and future assets and properties of the Loan Parties consisting of
(a) equipment, (b) fixtures, (c) motor vehicles, (d) fee and leasehold real property (including improvements and
rights related thereto), (e) any deposit account used exclusively for the deposit of proceeds of Term Loan Priority
Collateral, (f) to the extent evidencing, governing, securing or otherwise related to any of the foregoing and the
other Term Loan Priority Collateral, documents, general intangibles (excluding all intellectual property, any loans
or advances payable by a Loan Party to any other Loan Party and all prescription files), chattel paper, instruments,
investment property (excluding any stock or other equity or ownership interests in the subsidiaries and affiliates of
each Loan Party), commercial tort claims, letters of credit, supporting obligations and letter of credit rights, (g)
accounts arising from contracts of sale of Term Loan Priority Collateral and (h) all proceeds and products of any or
all of the foregoing in whatever form received (but not including proceeds of business interruption insurance or
any identifiable proceeds of ABL Priority Collateral), other than Excluded Assets.
“Collateral” means the ABL Priority Collateral and the Term Loan Priority Collateral.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, except to the extent that Arrangers may determine
otherwise, the Collateral will not include real property.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Collateral shall not include the following (the
“Excluded Assets”): (a) shares of any subsidiary that is a CFC or a CFC Holdco, in each case in excess of sixty-five
percent of all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of such subsidiary entitled to vote to secure the
obligations of Borrowers, if a pledge of a greater percentage would result in material adverse tax consequences to
the Company, (b) leasehold interests in real property, (c) deposit accounts exclusively used for trust, payroll,
payroll taxes and other employee wage and benefit payments to or for the benefit of any Loan Party’s employees,
(d) any rights or interests in any contract, agreement, lease, permit, license, charter or license agreement, as such, if
under the terms of such contract, agreement, lease, permit, license, charter or license agreement covering real or
personal property, or applicable law with respect thereto, the valid grant of a security interest or lien therein to
Agent would constitute or result in a breach, termination or default under such contract, agreement, lease, permit,
license, charter or license agreement and such breach, termination or default has not been or is not waived or the
consent of the other party to such contract, agreement, lease, permit, license, charter or license agreement has not
been or is not otherwise obtained or under applicable law such prohibition cannot be waived; provided, that, the
foregoing exclusion shall in no way be construed (i) to apply if any such prohibition is unenforceable under
Sections 9-406, 9-407 or 9-408 of the Uniform Commercial Code or other applicable law or (ii) so as to limit,
impair or otherwise affect Agent’s unconditional continuing security interests in and liens upon any rights or
interests of a Loan Party in or to monies due or to become due under any such contract, lease, permit, license,
charter or license agreement, (e) any United States intent-to-use trademark applications to the extent that, and
solely during the period in which, the grant of a security interest therein would impair the validity or
enforceability of such intent-to-use trademark applications under applicable federal law; provided that, upon
submission and acceptance by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office of an amendment to allege use pursuant to 15
U.S.C. Section 1060(a), such intent-to-use trademark application shall be considered Collateral, (f) any
governmental licenses or state or local franchises, charters and authorizations, to the extent security interests in
such licenses, franchises, charters or authorizations are prohibited thereby, provided, that, the foregoing exclusion
shall in no way be construed (i) to apply if any such prohibition is unenforceable under the Uniform Commercial
Code or other applicable law or (ii) so as to limit, impair or otherwise affect Agent’s unconditional continuing
security interests in and liens upon any proceeds thereof, (g) equipment owned by any Loan Party on the Closing
Date or thereafter acquired that is subject to a lien securing a purchase money obligation or capitalized lease
permitted to be incurred pursuant to the Loan Document if the contract or other agreement in which such lien is
granted validly prohibits the creation of any other lien on such equipment, and (h) pledges and security interests
prohibited by applicable law, rule or regulation (including any legally effective requirement to obtain the consent
of any governmental authority). Proceeds of Excluded Assets shall be deemed Collateral.
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In addition, no actions will be required by Loan Parties to perfect security interests in (i) motor vehicles or other
assets subject to a certificate of title other than by filing UCC or PPSA financing statements in the appropriate
jurisdiction, (ii) commercial tort claims with a value of less than an amount to be agreed, (iii) promissory notes in
an principal amount of less than an amount to be agreed, (iv) share certificates of subsidiaries organized under the
laws of a jurisdiction outside of the United States or Canada and (v) store deposit accounts which are not
maintained at a depository bank where other deposit accounts are and so long as funds in such accounts are
remitted to a concentration account on a daily basis or other regular periodic basis in a manner consistent with the
requirements contained under the heading “Cash Management”.
As to specific items of Collateral, Agent may determine not to perfect its security interest therein based on the de
minimus value thereof relative to the costs of such perfection. The obligations secured shall include hedging and
bank product obligations of any Loan Party where a Lender or an affiliate of a Lender is a counterparty.
Intercreditor arrangements between Agent and the agent or other representative for the Term Loan Facility (the
“Term Loan Agent ”) will be set forth in an intercreditor agreement (the “Intercreditor Agreement ”), which will be
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D, subject to such revisions as may be agreed by the Arrangers
and the Term Loan Agent.
Documentation:

Definitive loan documentation (collectively, the “Loan Documents”), including, without limitation, a credit
agreement, security agreements, pledge agreements, guarantees, control agreements, evidence of insurance
coverage, lender’s loss payable endorsements as to casualty and business interruption insurance, the Intercreditor
Agreement, lien search results, customary opinion letters of counsel to the Loan Parties, collateral access
agreements, collateral assignment of rights under acquisition documents (including any transition services
agreement), payoff letters, borrowing base certificate and documents and agreements related to all of the foregoing,
each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, Agent and Arrangers.
The terms and provisions of the Loan Documents will be mutually agreed upon, the terms of which (including
materiality thresholds, baskets, exceptions, qualifications and grace periods) will be negotiated in good faith
(giving due regard to the operational requirements, size, industry, businesses, financial condition, leverage, capital
structure, projected performance, reporting and accounting systems, Excess Availability, collateral and practices of
the Company and its subsidiaries, the Transactions, and the practices and procedures of Agent and the asset-based
lending market), and will be consistent with this Term Sheet (the “Documentation Principles”).
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With respect to lien waivers and access agreements from lessors of leased real property or operators of premises
where inventory or books and records of Borrowers are located, Borrowers shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to obtain such agreements prior to closing for the corporate headquarters, distribution centers and
warehouses (but not for retail store locations) and to the extent not delivered prior to closing, shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such agreements thereafter. To the extent that Agent has not received a
reasonably acceptable lien waiver and access agreement for a leased or third party location of any Loan Party
consisting of a warehouse, distribution center or store location in a state where a landlord has a lien under
applicable law, Agent shall establish a one-month reserve in respect of amounts payable under the applicable lease
or other agreement with such lessor or operator subject to certain limitations to be agreed.
Representations and Warranties:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the Documentation Principles, limited to the following, and subject to
materiality and other negotiated limitations and exceptions, in each case as agreed by the parties, the credit
agreement governing the Credit Facility will contain the following representations and warranties: due
organization and qualification; accuracy of financial information; subsidiaries; due authorization; no conflict;
governmental consents; binding obligations; perfected liens; title to assets; no encumbrances; jurisdiction of
organization; location of chief executive office; organizational identification number; commercial tort claims;
litigation; compliance with law (including regulatory and licensing requirements), regulation, etc. (including
without limitation Regulations T, U and X, Investment Company Act, the USA Patriot Act, environmental laws,
FCPA, OFAC and other anti-terrorism laws); no material adverse change; fraudulent transfer; solvency; ERISA
compliance; employee and labor matters; environmental matters; intellectual property; leases; deposit accounts
and securities accounts; complete disclosure; material contracts; indebtedness; payment of taxes; margin stock;
the Acquisition and acquisition documents (including the Acquisition Agreement and the Transition Services
Agreement); eligible credit card receivables, eligible pharmacy receivables, eligible inventory, eligible
prescription files, eligible intellectual property and other eligible assets; location of inventory and equipment;
inventory records; insurance; no default; no brokers; equity interests; customer and trade relations; no casualty.

Affirmative Covenants:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the Documentation Principles, limited to the following, and subject to
materiality and other negotiated limitations and exceptions, in each case as agreed by the parties, the credit
agreement governing the Credit Facility will contain the following affirmative covenants: financial statements,
financial projections, management letters and other information; notices of defaults, litigation and other material
events; collateral matters (including without limitation, reporting, notices and appraisal requirements); payment of
obligations; cash management; reports and certificates; existence; maintenance of properties, including
implementation and maintenance of appropriate systems; taxes; insurance; inspection; compliance with laws
(including without limitation the USA Patriot Act, FCPA, OFAC and other anti-terrorism laws and
Medicaid/Medicare or other regulatory laws); environmental; disclosure updates; formation of subsidiaries; senior
debt status; bank products; accounting changes; further assurances; additional loan parties; lender meetings;
material contracts (including the Acquisition Agreement and the Transition Services Agreement); employee and
labor matters; new locations of Collateral; use of proceeds; compliance with terms of leaseholds; books and
records; accountants; physical inventories; ERISA matters.
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(a) Not later than 10 business days after the Closing Date (or, if earlier, the date that is 5 business days after the date
the Company shall have provided to the lenders a request for the initial borrowing under the Term Loan Facility),
the Borrowers shall have received term loan proceeds in an amount not less than 50% of the aggregate principal
amount of the Term Loan Facility (after giving effect to any reduction thereof on account of any Facility Increase
effected on the Closing Date) and (b) not later than the earliest to occur of (x) the date that the Borrower shall have
acquired 600 retail store locations (and related assets) required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition
Agreement, (y) within ninety (90) days of the Closing Date and (z) 5 business days’ after the date the Company
shall have provided to the lenders a request for the borrowing of the remaining term loans under the Term Loan
Facility, the Borrowers shall have received all remaining proceeds of the term loans to be made under the Term
Loan Facility (subject, in each case, to the implementation of any applicable Term Loan Push Down Reserve). The
proceeds of such Term Loans (i) to the extent drawn to fund any portion of the purchase price payable in
connection with amounts payable with respect to the Purchased Assets under a Subsequent Closing, shall (x) first,
be applied to the payment of such purchase price, (y) second, be applied to the repayment of Revolving Loans
under the Credit Facility (without a reduction in the commitments relating thereto), in each case, substantially
concurrently with such borrowing and (ii) to extent not drawn to fund any portion of the purchase price payable in
connection with amounts payable with respect to the Purchased Assets under a Subsequent Closing, shall be
applied to the repayment of Revolving Loans under the Credit Facility (without a reduction in the commitments
relating thereto), substantially concurrently with such borrowing.
Collateral and Financial Reporting:

Collateral and financial reporting shall be usual and customary for facilities of this nature and as may be deemed
appropriate by Agent, including:
(a)

at any time prior to the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired 90% of all retail store locations (and
related assets) required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, weekly borrowing base
certificates (except that, in connection with a Subsequent Closing, such borrowing base certificate may be
delivered upon the consummation of a Subsequent Closing) and, thereafter, monthly borrowing base
certificates so long as Excess Availability is not less than the greater of (i) 20.0% of the Combined Loan Cap
or (ii) $335,000,000 and no default or event of default exists, otherwise weekly; provided that, at any time
borrowing base certificates are delivered on a weekly basis, such borrowing base certificates shall continue to
be delivered weekly until the later of (A) the date that is four consecutive weeks after such weekly reporting
commenced and (B) (1) if such weekly reporting commenced as a result of the occurrence of any default or
event of default, the date that no default or event of default is continuing, and/or (2) if such weekly reporting
commenced as a result of the Borrowers’ failure to maintain Excess Availability as required above, the date
that Excess Availability shall have exceeded such levels, at all times, for a period of thirty (30) consecutive
days;
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(b) field examinations and appraisals as Agent may from time to time require (which at a minimum will be 1 field
examination and 1 appraisal each 12 month period), but no more than:
(i)

2 field examinations and 2 appraisals of each of inventory, pharmacy scripts and intellectual property in
any 12 month period at the expense of Borrowers so long as Excess Availability is not less than the
greater of (A) 20.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (B) $335,000,000 during such 12 months;

(ii) 3 field examinations and 3 appraisals of each of inventory, pharmacy scripts and intellectual property in
any 12 month period at the expense of Borrowers if at any time Excess Availability during such 12
months is less than the greater of (A) 20.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (B) $335,000,000; and
(iii) such other field examinations and appraisals as Agent may request at any time upon the occurrence and
during the continuance of an Event of Default at the expense of Borrowers, or at any time at the expense
of Agent;
(c) monthly financial statements, annual unqualified audited financial statements and projections (on a monthly
basis);
(d) delivery of a certificate setting forth the calculation of Consolidated EBITDA of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the most recent period of twelve (12) consecutive fiscal months;
(e) other financial and collateral reports (including, rolling 13-week cash flow projections and reporting); and
(f) prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall provide monthly financial statements for Fred’s Inc. and shall use
reasonable best efforts to cause the Seller to deliver monthly financial statements for the 1,200 retail stores of
the Acquired Business including the 4-Wall EBITDA.
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The term “Combined Loan Cap” means, at any time, (i) prior to the repayment in full of the Term Loan Facility, the
lesser of (A) the Maximum Credit, plus the then outstanding principal amount of the term loans and commitments
under the ABL FILO Term Facility, plus the then outstanding principal amount of the term loans and commitments
under the ABL IP Term Facility, plus the then outstanding principal amount of the loans and commitments under
the Term Loan Facility or (B) the sum of the Borrowing Base (without giving effect to the ABL FILO Push Down
Reserve, the ABL IP Push Down Reserve or the Term Loan Push Down Reserve), plus the FILO Borrowing Base,
plus the ABL IP Borrowing Base, plus the borrowing base under the Term Loan Facility and (ii) after the
repayment in full of the Term Loan Facility, the lesser of (A) the Maximum Credit, plus the then outstanding
principal amount of the term loans and commitments under the ABL FILO Term Facility, plus the then outstanding
principal amount of the term loans and commitments under the ABL IP Term Facility or (B) the sum of the
Borrowing Base (without giving effect to the ABL FILO Push Down Reserve or the ABL IP Push Down Reserve),
plus the FILO Borrowing Base, plus the ABL IP Borrowing Base.
The term “Loan Cap” means, at any time, the lesser of (i) the Borrowing Base at such time and (ii) the Maximum
Credit at such time.
The term “Excess Availability” as used herein means, at any time, (i) the Loan Cap at such time (plus, with respect
to the ABL FILO Term Facility and the ABL IP Term Facility, at any time prior to the date that is ninety (90) days
after the Closing Date and solely to the extent the ABL FILO Term Facility and/or the ABL IP Term Facility, as
applicable, is not funded, the sum of (A) the lesser of (x) the FILO Borrowing Base and (y) the undrawn
commitments under the ABL FILO Term Facility and (B) the lesser of (x) the ABL IP Borrowing Base and (y) the
undrawn commitments under the ABL IP Term Facility), minus (ii) the Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit then
outstanding. At all times Excess Availability is tested the Borrowers shall certify to the Agent that all expenses,
including rent, trade payables and amounts due under the Transition Services Agreement have been paid in the
ordinary course of business, in all material respects.
Through the later of the date that is (x) the six (6) month anniversary of the Closing Date and (y) sixty (60) days
following the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired 80% of all retail store locations (and related assets)
required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Agent will, at the expense of the Borrowers,
retain Berkeley Research Group, LLC as a consultant and financial advisor (“Agent’s Advisor ”) to provide: (i)
financial reporting and borrowing base validation services (including, without limitation, rolling 13-week cash
flow projections and reporting); (ii) pre-close evaluation of the cash management and collateral reporting available
off the clone system following a month-end close during the ten (10) store pre-close testing project; (iii) progress
reporting on the Company’s progress relating to integration and Transition Services Agreement processes; (iv)
evaluation of the satisfactory integration (during such period of engagement) and plan of integration of the ERP
system; and (v) financial advisory services as requested by the Agent and approved by the Company.
Cash Management:

As of the Closing Date, Loan Parties shall have a cash management system in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Agent (it being understood that a cash management system similar in function to that of Rite Aid
Corporation shall be satisfactory to Agent). Loan Parties will direct all credit card issuers and processors, and those
customers making payments on receivables, to remit payments to deposit accounts that, subject to the Certain
Funds Provision, are the subject of control agreements among the applicable Loan Party, Agent and the depository
bank in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent and Loan Parties will be required to promptly remit
any payments received by them to these accounts. Funds deposited into the deposit accounts of Loan Parties shall
be remitted to Agent for application to the obligations upon a Cash Dominion Event.
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“Cash Dominion Event” means (a) Excess Availability is less than the greater of (i) 15.0% of the Combined Loan
Cap at any time or (ii) $270,000,000, or (b) an event of default exists or has occurred and is continuing; provided,
that,
(i)

to the extent that the Cash Dominion Event has occurred due to clause (a) of this definition, if Excess
Availability shall be equal to or greater than the applicable amount for at least 30 consecutive days, the
Cash Dominion Event shall no longer be deemed to exist or be continuing until such time as Excess
Availability may again be less than the amount in clause (a) of this definition, and

(ii) to the extent that the Cash Dominion Event has occurred due to clause (b) of this definition, if such event
of default is cured or waived or otherwise no longer exists, the Cash Dominion Event shall no longer be
deemed to exist or be continuing.
Financial Covenant:

Borrowers shall maintain minimum Excess Availability at all times equal to the greater of (a) the sum of (i) 10% of
the lesser of (A) the Maximum Credit, plus the then outstanding principal amount of the term loans and
commitments under the ABL FILO Term Facility, plus the then outstanding principal amount of the term loans and
commitments under the ABL IP Term Facility, and (B) the sum of the Borrowing Base (without giving effect to the
ABL FILO Push Down Reserve, ABL IP Push Down Reserve or the Term Loan Push Down Reserve), plus the FILO
Borrowing Base, plus the ABL IP Borrowing Base, and (ii) at all times prior to the repayment in full of the Term
Loan Facility, 5% of the lesser of (A) the then outstanding principal amount of the loans and commitments under
the Term Loan Facility and (B) the borrowing base under the Term Loan Facility, and (b) (x) from the Closing Date
through the 60 day anniversary of the Closing Date, $135,000,000 and (y) thereafter, $175,000,000.

Negative Covenants:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the Documentation Principles, limited to the following, and subject to
materiality and other negotiated limitations and exceptions (including baskets in amounts to be agreed for certain
covenants), in each case as agreed by the parties, the credit agreement governing the Credit Facility will contain
the following negative covenants: dividends, distributions, redemptions and repurchases of capital stock;
incurrence of debt (including capital leases, provided that indebtedness in respect of Permitted Real Estate
Financings shall be permitted) and guarantees; repurchases, repayments, or prepayment of subordinated debt or
optional repurchases, prepayments or other optional payments in respect of other debt; creation or suffering of
liens; loans, investments and acquisitions (including the acquisition of additional store locations under the
Acquisition Agreement after the Closing Date); affiliate transactions; changes in the conduct of business, fiscal
year or accounting practices; asset sales, store closings, mergers, consolidations and other fundamental changes;
restrictions affecting subsidiaries; limitation on amendment of organizational documents and certain material
agreements (including the Acquisition Agreement and Transition Services Agreement); use of proceeds; inventory
and equipment with bailees; bank accounts and credit card arrangements; and burdensome agreements.
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The negative covenant on dividends, redemptions and repurchases of capital stock and on optional prepayments
of indebtedness will expressly allow such dividends, redemptions and repurchases, or such optional prepayments,
provided, that, (i) no such dividends, redemptions and repurchases or optional prepayments may be made on or
before the second anniversary of the Closing Date (other than dividends in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$10,000,000 in any fiscal year, so long as no default or event of default shall have occurred and be continuing or
would result therefrom (including under the Financial Covenant)) and (ii) Loan Parties may make dividends,
redemptions and repurchases of capital stock and on optional prepayments of indebtedness after the second
anniversary of the Closing Date, provided that, (A) as of the date of any such payment in respect thereof, and after
giving effect thereto, each of the Payment Conditions (as defined below) is satisfied and (B) Agent shall have
received prior notice and other information related to such transactions in a manner and on terms to be agreed.
The negative covenants shall permit the Loan Parties to enter into one or more (a) term loan real estate financings
(“Mortgage Financing”) and/or (b) asset dispositions consisting of sale-leaseback transactions (“Sale-Leaseback”
and, together with any Mortgage Financing, collectively, the “Permitted Real Estate Financings”) of any owned
real estate and related improvements including, without limitation, with respect to any of the Acquired
Distribution Centers so long as (A) no default or event of default then exists or would arise therefrom, (B) in the
case of any Sale-Leaseback, (x) any disposition of any such property shall be for the fair market value of such
property being sold pursuant to such Sale-Leaseback at the time of such disposition, (y) such Sale-Leaseback is
made pursuant to leases on market terms, and (z) the Loan Parties shall cause each purchaser to enter into a
collateral access agreement with the Agent on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Agent (unless otherwise agreed
by the Agent, which shall not impair the right of the Agent to impose Reserves), (C) in the case of any Mortgage
Financing, (w) such indebtedness shall not have a maturity date occurring prior to 91 days after the term of the
Credit Facility or require amortization payments in excess of monthly straight-line amortization on a thirty (30)
year term, (x) the Liens securing such Mortgage Financing shall not at any time encumber any property other than
the applicable Acquired Distribution Center that is the subject of such financing, (y) the obligors under any such
Mortgage Financing shall not consist of any party that is not a Loan Party (other than to the limited extent of any
SPE holding title to such Acquired Distribution Center), and (z) the Loan Parties shall cause each holder of
indebtedness under such Mortgage Financing (or agent therefor) to enter into a collateral access agreement with
the Agent on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Agent (unless otherwise agreed by the Agent, which shall not
impair the right of the Agent to impose Reserves), (D) the aggregate Sale-Leaseback amount indebtedness
(including capitalized lease obligations) incurred pursuant to any such Permitted Real Estate Financings shall not
exceed $125,000,000 at any time outstanding and (E) the net proceeds from any such Permitted Real Estate
Financings shall be applied as follows: (x) up to 30% of such net proceeds to the repayment of the outstanding
Term Loan Facility and (y) the remainder of such net proceeds, first to the Revolving Loans (without permanent
reduction in commitments), second to cash collateralize Letters of Credit, third to the outstanding ABL FILO Term
Loans and fourth to the outstanding ABL IP Term Loans.
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The negative covenant governing acquisitions after the Closing Date (other than pursuant to the Acquisition
Agreement) will expressly allow an acquisition, provided that, except as otherwise provided below, (i) no
acquisition or series of related acquisitions involving consideration in excess of $40,000,000 per year (of which,
through the first anniversary of the Closing Date, not more than $20,000,000 in the aggregate shall be paid in
consideration of any acquisition of assets not constituting prescription files), in any one case or in the aggregate,
shall occur prior to the second anniversary of the Closing Date; provided that the limitations set forth in this clause
(i) shall no longer apply in the event that Excess Availability as of the fiscal year ended January 2018 is greater
than $500,000,000, (ii) as of the date of any such acquisition and after giving effect thereto, each of the Payment
Conditions is satisfied, (iii) the acquisition shall be with respect to an operating company or division or line of
business that engages in a line of business substantially similar, reasonably related or incidental to the business
that Borrowers are engaged in, (iv) the board of directors (or other comparable governing body) of the person to be
acquired shall have duly approved such acquisition and such person shall not have announced that it will oppose
such acquisition or shall not have commenced any action which alleges that such acquisition will violate
applicable law, and (v) Agent shall have received prior notice and other information related to such transactions in
a manner and on terms to be mutually agreed.
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The negative covenants will include a provision permitting the acquisition by the Borrowers of additional stores
(and related assets) from Seller under the Acquisition Agreement, provided that the consummation of any such
Subsequent Closing shall be subject only to the following conditions (the “Subsequent Acquisition Conditions”):
(a) the closing of the acquisition of Purchased Assets pursuant to such Subsequent Closing, in accordance with the
Acquisition Agreement, (b) as of the date of any such purchase and after giving effect thereto, Excess Availability
shall be not less than the greater of (x) 25% of the Combined Loan Cap and (y) $200,000,000 (determined after
giving effect to the acquisition of the eligible assets related to such stores), (c) to the extent not previously
provided, the Agent shall have received customary lien release documents with respect to the assets then being
acquired, (d) Agent shall have received a current borrowing base certificate with respect to the assets acquired
pursuant to such Subsequent Closing, (e) Agent shall have received not less than three business days’ prior written
notice of the proposed Subsequent Closing, (f) (i) at any time during the Acquisition Period (so long as (after
giving effect to the proposed Acquired Store Series) no more than (A) six (6) Acquired Store Series shall have been
made in reliance on this clause (f)(i)(A) (of which, not more than two (2) such Series shall consist of Acquired Store
Series of less than 100 retail stores, unless (x) otherwise agreed to by Agent (such agreement not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed)) and (B) at any time after to the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired
67% of all retail store locations and related assets required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement,
twenty-five (25) additional Acquired Store Series shall have been made in reliance on this clause (f)(i)(B)
(collectively, clauses (A) and (B), the “LCT Limitation”)), (x) the Specified Representations shall be true and
correct in all material respects at such time where not already qualified by materiality or “material adverse effect”,
otherwise in all respects, (y) the Acquisition Agreement Representations (set forth in (1) the first sentence of
Section 3.05 (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement, (2) Section 3.09 (or equivalent
substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement, (3) second and third sentence of Section 3.13 (or equivalent
substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement, (4) the last sentence of Section 3.15 (or equivalent substitute
provision) of the Acquisition Agreement, (5) the last sentence of Section 3.18 (or equivalent substitute provision)
of the Acquisition Agreement and (6) such other provisions of the Acquisition Agreement, as mutually agreed by
the Arrangers and the Borrowers) will be true and correct as and to the same extent required by Section 6 of the
Commitment Letter (it being understood that references to “the Acquisition” therein shall for this purpose refer to
such Subsequent Closing) and (z) the Seller shall have certified to the Borrowers that the covenants contained in
the first sentence of Section 5.01 (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement (with respect to
Inventory levels and prescription volumes), Section 5.01(f) (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition
Agreement and such other Sections of the Acquisition Agreement (as may be mutually agreed by the Arrangers and
the Borrowers) have been complied with in all material respects; and subject to upon satisfaction of such
conditions set forth in clauses (a) through this (f)(i), and the request of the Company (which request shall be
delivered in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents), Lenders will make Revolving Loans (or, at the
option of the Swing Line Lender, the Swing Line Lender shall made Swing Line Loans) the proceeds of which
shall be used to pay the purchase price for such Acquired Store Series in the applicable Subsequent Closing in the
amounts required by the Acquisition Agreement, notwithstanding that any other conditions precedent set forth
below under the heading “Conditions Precedent to all Borrowings After the Closing Date” with respect to such
Revolving Loans are not satisfied as of the date of such Revolving Loans, and (ii) at any time after the Acquisition
Period or after the LCT Limitation has been exceeded, the Borrowers shall have satisfied all conditions precedent
set forth below under the heading “Conditions Precedent to all Borrowings” with respect to such Revolving Loans,
and (g) Agent shall have received a certificate of a responsible officer of the Company certifying and attaching
calculations demonstrating (as applicable), compliance with each of the conditions set forth herein.
“Acquisition Period” means, the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the six-month
anniversary of the Closing Date.
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Any new domestic or foreign subsidiary acquired pursuant to an acquisition after the Closing Date will be joined
as a Borrower or Guarantor (except as to any subsidiary that is not required to be a Guarantor) and additional Loan
Documents executed and delivered in connection therewith. Assets acquired after the Closing Date (other than
pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement) will only be eligible after a satisfactory field examination,
appraisal and legal diligence, subject, in all instances (including in respect of assets acquired pursuant to the terms
of the Acquisition Agreement), to reserves and eligibility criteria.
“Payment Conditions” means, at the time of determination with respect to any specified transaction or payment the
following:
(a) The Agent shall have received unqualified audited financial statements for the fiscal year of the Borrowers
ended January 2019,
(b) as of the date of any such transaction or payment, and after giving effect thereto, no default or event of default
shall exist or have occurred and be continuing,
(c) as of the date of any such transaction or payment, on a pro forma basis and after giving effect thereto, either:
(i)

(A) the Excess Availability for the immediately preceding 30 consecutive day period shall have been not
less than the greater of (1) 20.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $335,000,000, (B) the Excess
Availability on the date of such specified transaction or payment shall be not less than the greater of such
amounts, (C) Excess Availability as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12)
months following such transaction or payment (with certain exceptions to be agreed) shall be not less
than the greater of such amounts and (D) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio based on the most recent
financial statement received by Agent prior to the date thereof for the 12 month period prior thereto, shall
be not less than 1.00 to 1.00; or

(ii)

provided that the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for any 12 month period ended on or after the second
anniversary of the Closing Date, shall not have been less than 1.00 to 1.00, (A) the Excess Availability
for the immediately preceding 30 consecutive day period shall have been not less than the greater of (1)
30.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $500,000,000, (B) the Excess Availability on the date of such
specified transaction or payment shall be not less than the greater of such amounts, and (C) Excess
Availability as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12) months following such
transaction or payment shall be not less than the greater of such amounts; and,
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(d) Agent shall have received a certificate of an authorized officer of Borrowers certifying as to compliance with
the preceding clauses and demonstrating (in reasonable detail) the calculations required thereby.
Borrowers shall not be permitted to consummate the Final APA Closing or otherwise make any payments with
respect to the TSA Termination Transactions without providing the Agent with a Notice of TSA Termination not
less than 90 days prior to the termination of the Transition Services Agreement (it being understood and agreed
that any acquisition pursuant to the Final APA Closing shall be a permitted acquisition after the Closing Date,
subject only to the satisfaction of the Subsequent Acquisition Conditions and the provision of the Notice of TSA
Termination as provided above).
Events of Default:

Limited to the following, subject to the Documentation Principles, and subject to cure periods to be agreed,
materiality and other negotiated limitations, in each case as agreed by the parties, the credit agreement governing
the Credit Facility will contain the following events of default: payment and performance defaults under any of the
Loan Documents, cross-defaults to other material indebtedness (to be defined as indebtedness in excess of
$25,000,000), an early termination date occurs under any swap contract, breach of representations and warranties,
insolvency (whether or not insolvency proceedings have been instituted), voluntary and involuntary bankruptcy,
judgments and attachments in excess of an amount to be agreed (or not subject to stay), non-monetary judgments
that could have a material adverse effect, revocation of (or attempted revocation of) any guaranty, dissolution,
change in control, impairment of a material portion of the security, ERISA, actual or asserted invalidity or
unenforceability of any Loan Documents or liens securing obligations under the Loan Documents, invalidity of
subordination or intercreditor provisions, material uninsured loss, felony indictment, injunction or court or other
governmental order preventing continuing conduct of all or any material part of the business affairs of the Loan
Parties, or suspension or termination of all or a substantial portion of its business.

Conditions Precedent to All Borrowings: Subject on (x) the Closing Date, to the Certain Funds Provision, and (y) with respect to any Subsequent Closing,
the Subsequent Acquisition Conditions, the conditions to all Revolving Loans, ABL FILO Term Loans, ABL IP
Term Loans and Letters of Credit will consist of (a) prior written notice of the request for such Revolving Loans
ABL FILO Term Loans, ABL IP Term Loans or Letter of Credit in accordance with the procedures set out in the
Loan Documents, (b) the accuracy of representations and warranties in the Loan Documents in all material respects
(except where qualified by materiality, then just the accuracy thereof), (c) the absence of any default or event of
default at the time of, and after giving effect to the making of such Revolving Loans, ABL FILO Term Loans or
ABL IP Term Loans or the issuance (or amendment or extension) of such Letter of Credit, and (d) after giving effect
to any requested Revolving Loan, ABL FILO Term Loan, ABL IP Term Loan or Letter of Credit, the outstanding
Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit will not exceed the lesser of the Maximum Credit or the Borrowing Base;
provided that with respect to any Revolving Loan, ABL FILO Term Loan or ABL IP Term Loan used to
consummate a Subsequent Closing, the foregoing shall be limited to only the Subsequent Acquisition Conditions
(it being understood and agreed that Swing Line Lender may in its sole discretion, in lieu of requesting Lenders to
fund any such Revolving Loan or ABL FILO Term Loan, fund a Swing Line Loan).
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Conditions Precedent to Initial
Borrowings:

The conditions precedent to the initial borrowings under the Credit Facility will consist of those conditions
precedent set forth in Section 6 of the Commitment Letter.

Assignments and Participations:

Each Lender will be permitted to make assignments of its interest in the Credit Facility in a minimum amount
equal to $5,000,000 to other financial institutions (other than (to the extent not consented to by the Company)
Disqualified Lenders) approved by Agent, Swing Line Lender, Issuing Banks, and the Company, which approval
of the Company shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed; provided, that, (a) the approval of the
Company not be required at any time that an event of default exists or has occurred and is continuing, and (b) the
approval of the Company shall not be required in connection with assignments to other Lenders, to any affiliate of
a Lender, to any Approved Fund (as such term will be defined in the Loan Documents), or for any
participation. The Company’s consent shall be deemed to have been given if the Company has not responded
within 10 business day of an assignment request made in writing. No assignment or participation may be made to
natural persons, any Loan Party or any of their affiliates or subsidiaries, or any holder of any subordinated debt of a
Loan Party or any Disqualified Lenders that have been identified to Agent and whose identity is available to each
Lender on request. Agent shall not have any responsibility or obligations to determine whether any Lender or
potential Lender is a Disqualified Lender and will have no liability with respect to any assignment to a
Disqualified Lender.
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Amendments and Waivers:

Amendments, waivers and consents with respect to the provisions of the Loan Documents will require the approval
of Agent and the Required Lenders, provided that, in addition to the approval of Required Lenders, (a) the consent
of each Lender directly and adversely affected thereby will be required with respect to matters relating to (i)
increases in the commitment of such Lender, (ii) reductions of principal, interest or fees (provided that a waiver of
default interest, default or event of default shall not constitute a reduction of interest for this purpose), (iii)
extensions of final maturity or the due date of any interest, fee or other payments, and (iv) changes to the order of
application of funds, (b) the consent of all Lenders will be required with respect to: (i) modifications of the pro rata
sharing requirements of the Loan Documents, (ii) modification of the voting percentage or change in the definition
of “Required Lenders” or any other provisions specifying the number of Lenders or portion of the Loans or
commitments required to take any action under the Loan Documents, (iii) permitting any Borrower to assign its
rights under the Loan Documents, (iv) releases of all or substantially all of the value of the Collateral or guarantees
(other than in connection with transactions permitted pursuant to the Loan Documents), or (v) subordination of the
lien on Collateral in favor of Agent (other than with respect to certain permitted liens to be agreed) or
subordination of the payment of the obligations in respect of the Credit Facility, (c) the consent of all Revolving
Lenders will be required with respect to: (i) increases in the percentages applied to eligible assets in the Borrowing
Base and (ii) modifications to the Borrowing Base or any components thereof which would result in an increase in
the amount of the Borrowing Base (but exclusive of the right of the Agent to add, increase, eliminate or reduce the
amount of reserves or to exercise other discretion it may have pursuant to such provisions), (d) the consent of all
FILO Term Lenders will be required with respect to certain matters, including (i) increases in the percentages
applied to eligible assets in the FILO Borrowing Base, (ii) modifications to the FILO Borrowing Base or any
components thereof which would result in an increase in the amount of the FILO Borrowing Base (but exclusive of
the right of the Agent to add, increase, eliminate or reduce the amount of reserves or to exercise other discretion it
may have pursuant to such provisions) and (iii) modifications of the “ABL FILO Push Down Reserve”, and (e) the
consent of all IP Term Lenders will be required with respect to certain matters, including (i) increases in the
percentages applied to eligible assets in the ABL IP Borrowing Base, (ii) modifications to the ABL IP Borrowing
Base or any components thereof which would result in an increase in the amount of the ABL IP Borrowing Base
(but exclusive of the right of the Agent to add, increase, eliminate or reduce the amount of reserves or to exercise
other discretion it may have pursuant to such provisions) and (iii) modifications of the “ABL IP Push Down
Reserve”. Matters affecting Agent, the Swing Line Lender or an Issuing Bank will require the approval of such
party.
“Required Lenders” means those non-defaulting Lenders who collectively hold more than 50% of the total
commitments or exposure under the Credit Facility, provided, that, at any time that there are 2 or more unaffiliated
Lenders, “Required Lenders” must include at least 2 unaffiliated Lenders.
The Loan Documents shall contain customary provisions for replacing defaulting Lenders, replacing Lenders
claiming increased costs, tax gross ups and similar required indemnity payments and replacing non-consenting
Lenders in connection with amendments and waivers requiring the consent of all Lenders or of all Lenders
adversely affected thereby so long as Lenders holding at least 50% of the aggregate amount of the loans and
commitments under the Credit Facility shall have consented thereto.

Cost and Yield Protections:

Customary for facilities and transactions of this type, including customary tax gross-up provisions and including
provisions relating to Dodd-Frank, Basel III and FATCA.

Governing Law:

New York but excluding any principles of conflicts of law or other rule of law that would cause the application of
the law of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York (other than certain security documents that will be
governed by local law as applicable or as the parties may otherwise agree), subject to the proviso set forth in the
“Governing Law” section of the Commitment Letter.
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Expenses, Waivers and Indemnity:

The Loan Parties will pay all of the reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses and customary
administrative charges incurred by Agent and MLPFS (in its capacity as Arranger, Swing Line Lender and Issuing
Bank), including, without limitation, reasonable legal costs and expenses, reasonable financial consultant and
advisor costs and expenses, filing and search charges, recording taxes, appraisals, and field examination charges
and expenses, provided, that, legal fees shall be limited to the reasonable fees of one counsel for Agent and, in
addition, one local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction and, to the extent required by the subject matter, one
specialist counsel for each such specialized area of law in each appropriate jurisdiction, and in the case of the
enforcement, collection or protection of the rights of Lenders, in addition, one additional counsel for the Lenders
in the absence of any conflict of interest.
Waivers to include, but not be limited to a waiver by Agent, Lenders and each Loan Party of its rights to jury trial;
waiver by each Loan Party of claims for special, punitive, exemplary, indirect or consequential damages in respect
any breach or alleged breach by Agent, Arrangers, Issuing Bank or any Lender of any of the Loan Documents.
Loan Parties shall indemnify and hold harmless Agent, Arrangers, Lenders and Issuing Banks and their respective
directors, officers, agent, representatives and employees from and against all losses, claims, damages, expenses, or
liabilities including, but not limited to, reasonable and documented legal or other expenses incurred in connection
with investigating, preparing to defend, or defending any such loss, claim, damage, expenses or liability, incurred
in respect of the Credit Facility or the relationship between Agent, any Arranger, any Lender or Issuing Bank and
any Loan Party (provided, that, the obligation to reimburse any indemnified person for legal fees and expenses
shall be limited to legal fees and expenses of one firm of counsel for all such indemnified persons and one local
counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction (and, to the extent required by the subject matter, one specialist counsel
for each such specialized area of law in each appropriate jurisdiction) and in the case of an actual or perceived
conflict of interest as determined by the affected indemnified person, one counsel for such affected indemnified
person), except that the foregoing indemnity will not, as to any Indemnified Person, apply to costs, expenses or
liabilities to the extent they (a) are found in a final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction
to have resulted from (i) the willful misconduct, bad faith or gross negligence of such indemnified person or (ii) a
material breach of the material obligations of such indemnified person under the Commitment Letter, the Fee
Letters or the Loan Documents or (b) relate to any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding solely between or
among indemnified persons other than (x) claims against any Agent, Arranger or Lenders or their respective
affiliates, in each case in their respective capacities or in fulfilling their respective roles as the agent or arranger or
any other similar role under the Credit Facility as the case may be (excluding their role as a Lender) to the extent
such persons are otherwise entitled to indemnification and (y) claims arising out of any act or omission on the part
of the Loan Parties or their subsidiaries or affiliates.
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This Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions for the Credit Facility is not meant to be, nor shall it be construed as an attempt to describe all of the terms
of the documentation, or the specific phrasing for, the provisions of the documentation. Rather, it is intended only to outline certain material terms to be
included in the Loan Documents, provided that the Loan Documents will not contain any conditions precedent to (x) the initial borrowings under the Credit
Facility other than those set forth in Section 6 of the Commitment Letter and (y) borrowings used to consummate a Subsequent Closing under the Credit
Facility other than the Subsequent Acquisition Conditions. All references to any Commitment Party in this Term Sheet include its successors and assigns and
such Commitment Party may designate one of its affiliates to act in its place in any of the roles for which it is specified in the Term Sheet.
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SCHEDULE 1
TO
EXHIBIT B TO COMMITMENT LETTER
Interest and Certain Fees
Interest Rate Options:

Borrowers may elect that Revolving Loans (other than Swing Line Loans) bear interest at a rate per annum
equal to (a) the Base Rate (to be defined as the highest of (i) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, (ii) the
Bank of America prime rate and (iii) the one (1) month LIBOR adjusted daily plus 1.00%) plus the
Applicable Margin or (b) the LIBOR Rate plus the Applicable Margin. Swing Line Loans will bear interest
at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate plus the Applicable Margin. Borrowers may elect that ABL FILO
Terms Loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to (a) the Base Rate plus the Applicable Margin or (b)
the LIBOR Rate plus the Applicable Margin. If LIBOR or the Base Rate shall be less than zero, such rate
shall be deemed zero for purposes of the Credit Facility.
As used herein:
“Applicable Margin” means with respect to Revolving Loans, other than Swing Line Loans, ABL FILO
Term Loans, and ABL IP Term Loans, a percentage determined in accordance with the pricing grids attached
hereto as Schedule 2 to Exhibit B to the Commitment Letter.
“LIBOR Rate” means the rate per annum equal to the London Interbank Offered Rate, or a comparable or
successor rate which rate is approved by the Agent, as published on the applicable Bloomberg screen page
(or such other commercially available source providing such quotations as may be designated by the Agent
in its reasonable discretion from time to time) at or about 11:00 a.m., London time, two (2) Business Days
prior to the commencement of any interest period, for Dollar deposits (for delivery on the first day of such
interest period) with a term equivalent to such interest period. The LIBOR Rate shall be available for interest
periods of one, two, three or six months.
Interest rate reference terms will be subject to customary provisions, including applicable reserve
requirements, limits on the number of outstanding LIBOR Rate loans and minimum amounts of each LIBOR
Rate loan.

Unused Line Fee:

Borrowers shall pay to Agent an unused line fee calculated at 0.50% per annum until the last day of the 3rd
full month after the Closing Date and adjusted thereafter every month to an amount equal to 0.50% per
annum if the average of the outstanding Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit during the immediately
preceding month is less than 50% of the Maximum Credit and 0.375% per annum if the average of the
outstanding Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit during the immediately preceding month is equal to or
greater than 50% of the Maximum Credit. The unused line fee shall be calculated based on the then
applicable percentage multiplied by the difference between the Maximum Credit and the average
outstanding Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit during the immediately preceding month and payable
monthly in arrears. Swing Line Loans will not be considered in the calculation of either the amount or the
level of the rate of the unused line fee.
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ABL FILO Term Facility
Unused Commitment Fee:

Borrowers shall pay to Agent an unused commitment fee in respect of the ABL FILO Term Facility
calculated at 0.50% per annum until the funding of all ABL FILO Term Loans under the ABL FILO Term
Facility. The unused commitment fee in respect of the ABL FILO Term Facility shall be calculated based on
0.50% per annum multiplied by the difference between the aggregate commitments under the ABL FILO
Term Facility and the outstanding ABL FILO Term Loans during the immediately preceding month
(calculated on a daily basis) and payable monthly in arrears.

ABL IP Term Facility
Unused Commitment Fee:

Borrowers shall pay to Agent an unused commitment fee in respect of the ABL IP Term Facility calculated at
0.50% per annum until the funding of all ABL IP Term Loans under the ABL IP Term Facility. The unused
commitment fee in respect of the ABL IP Term Facility shall be calculated based on 0.50% per annum
multiplied by the difference between the aggregate commitments under the ABL IP Term Facility and the
outstanding ABL IP Term Loans during the immediately preceding month (calculated on a daily basis) and
payable monthly in arrears.

Letter of Credit Fees:

Borrowers shall pay to Agent, for the account of Lenders (to the extent and in accordance with the
arrangements by and among Lenders), on the daily outstanding balance of Letters of Credit, a letter of credit
fee which shall accrue at a per annum rate equal to the Applicable LIBOR Rate Margin for the ABL
Revolving Facility times the daily outstanding balance of the undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of
Credit, payable monthly in arrears. In addition, Borrowers shall pay customary issuance, arranging and other
fees of the Issuing Bank.

Default Rate:

Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default, the applicable rates of interest
for all Revolving Loans, ABL FILO Term Loans, ABL IP Term Loans and commitments and rate for letter of
credit fees shall be increased by 2% per annum above the otherwise then applicable rates.

Rate and Fee Basis; Payment Dates:

All per annum rates and fees will be computed on basis of actual days elapsed over a 360 day year (or 365 or
366 days, as the case may be, in the case of Revolving Loans, ABL FILO Term Loans or ABL IP Term Loans
for which the Base Rate is used). In the case of Revolving Loans, ABL FILO Term Loans or ABL IP Term
Loans for which the LIBOR Rate is used, interest is payable on the last day of each relevant interest period
or in the case of an interest period longer than 3 months, then within 3 months, in arrears, and in the case of
Revolving Loans, ABL FILO Term Loans or ABL IP Term Loans for which the Base Rate is used, interest is
payable monthly in arrears.
B-32

SCHEDULE 2
TO
EXHIBIT B TO COMMITMENT LETTER

Tier
1
2
3

Applicable LIBOR Rate
Margin for the ABL Revolving
Facility
2.25%

Applicable
Base Rate Margin for the ABL
Revolving Facility
1.25%

Less than or equal to 66 2/3% of the Maximum Credit and greater than
33 1/3% of the Maximum Credit

2.50%

1.50%

Less than or equal to 33 1/3% of the Maximum Credit

2.75%

1.75%

Quarterly Average Excess Availability
Greater than 66 2/3% of the Maximum Credit

The Applicable Margin for the interest rates for the ABL Revolving Facility shall be the applicable percentage calculated based on the percentage set forth in
Tier 3 of the chart above until the last day of the second full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date. The interest rates will be adjusted every fiscal quarter
thereafter based on the chart above. Commencing with the fifth (5th) full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date, if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (to be
defined in a manner to be agreed) for the four quarter period then ended is less than 3.25 to 1.00, then so long as no default or event of default shall have
occurred and is continuing the margins set forth in the chart above shall be decreased by 0.25% at all Tiers of the chart for the upcoming fiscal quarter of the
Borrowers (it being understood and agreed that any such decrease in margins shall not be permanent, but shall be determined on a quarterly basis).

Tier
1
2

3

Applicable LIBOR Rate
Margin for the ABL FILO Term
Facility
3.75%

Applicable
Base Rate Margin for the ABL
FILO Term Facility
2.75%

Less than or equal to 66 2/3% of the Maximum Credit and greater than
33 1/3% of the Maximum Credit

4.00%

3.00%

Less than or equal to 33 1/3% of the Maximum Credit

4.25%

3.25%

Quarterly Average Excess Availability
Greater than 66 2/3% of the Maximum Credit

B-33

The Applicable Margin for the interest rates for the ABL FILO Term Facility shall be the applicable percentage calculated based on the percentage set forth in
Tier 2 of the chart above until the last day of the second full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date. The interest rates will be adjusted every fiscal quarter
thereafter based on the chart above. Commencing with the fifth (5th) full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date, if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (to be
defined in a manner to be agreed) for the four quarter period then ended is less than 3.25 to 1.00, then so long as no default or event of default shall have
occurred and is continuing the margins set forth in the chart above shall be decreased by 0.25% at all Tiers of the chart for the upcoming fiscal quarter of the
Borrowers (it being understood and agreed that any such decrease in margins shall not be permanent, but shall be determined on a quarterly basis).

Tier
1
2

3

Applicable LIBOR Rate
Margin for the ABL IP Term
Facility
4.25%

Applicable
Base Rate Margin for the ABL IP
Term Facility
3.25%

Less than or equal to 66 2/3% of the Maximum Credit and greater than
33 1/3% of the Maximum Credit

4.50%

3.50%

Less than or equal to 33 1/3% of the Maximum Credit

4.75%

3.75%

Quarterly Average Excess Availability
Greater than 66 2/3% of the Maximum Credit

The Applicable Margin for the interest rates for the ABL IP Term Facility shall be the applicable percentage calculated based on the percentage set forth in
Tier 2 of the chart above until the last day of the second full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date. The interest rates will be adjusted every fiscal quarter
thereafter based on the chart above. Commencing with the fifth (5th) full fiscal quarter after the Closing Date, if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (to be
defined in a manner to be agreed) for the four quarter period then ended is less than 3.25 to 1.00, then so long as no default or event of default shall have
occurred and is continuing the margins set forth in the chart above shall be decreased by 0.25% at all Tiers of the chart for the upcoming fiscal quarter of the
Borrowers (it being understood and agreed that any such decrease in margins shall not be permanent, but shall be determined on a quarterly basis).
The Applicable Margin shall be calculated and established once every fiscal quarter, effective as of the first day of such fiscal quarter and shall remain in
effect until adjusted thereafter at the end of such fiscal quarter.
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The term “Applicable Margin” as used in the Term Sheet means, at any time (subject to the paragraph above), (a) as to Revolving Loans for which interest is
calculated based on the Base Rate, the Applicable Base Rate Margin for the ABL Revolving Facility, (b) as to Revolving Loans for which interest is
calculated based on the LIBOR Rate, the Applicable LIBOR Rate Margin for the ABL Revolving Facility, (c) as to ABL FILO Term Loans for which interest
is calculated based on the Base Rate, the Applicable Base Rate Margin for the ABL FILO Term Facility, (d) as to ABL FILO Term Loans for which interest is
calculated based on the LIBOR Rate, the Applicable LIBOR Rate Margin for the ABL FILO Term Facility, (e) as to ABL IP Term Loans for which interest is
calculated based on the Base Rate, the Applicable Base Rate Margin for the ABL IP Term Facility, and (f) as to ABL IP Term Loans for which interest is
calculated based on the LIBOR Rate, the Applicable LIBOR Rate Margin for the ABL IP Term Facility, in each case under clauses (a) through (f) determined
if the Quarterly Average Excess Availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter period is at or within the amounts indicated for such percentage as
of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter.
The term “Quarterly Average Excess Availability” shall mean, at any time, the average of the Excess Availability for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter
as calculated by Agent.
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EXHIBIT C
TO
COMMITMENT LETTER
Conditions Precedent to Initial Borrowings under Credit Facility
The conditions precedent to the initial borrowings under the Credit Facility will consist of the condition precedent set forth in Section 6(a) of the
Commitment Letter and the following conditions precedent:
(a)

The Arrangers shall have received (i) an effective Acquisition Agreement, duly executed by each of the parties thereto, in form and substance
satisfactory to the Arrangers and the Agent in their sole discretion and (ii) evidence the Acquisition (other than the Acquired Stores, the Acquired
Distribution Centers, the Corporate Infrastructure, and the related assets and liabilities to be acquired in any Subsequent Closing or the Final APA
Closing, as each of such terms is defined in the Acquisition Agreement) shall have been, or, substantially concurrently with the initial borrowing
under the Credit Facility shall be, consummated in all material respects in accordance with applicable laws and the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement (including the Ancillary Agreements referred to therein).

(b)

The Acquired Store Series of the Company commencing on the Closing Date shall not consist of less than 100 retail stores of the Acquired Business
(which, for the avoidance of any doubt, shall be completed within 10 business days thereafter).

(c)

The Term Loan Facility shall have been or, substantially concurrently with the initial borrowing under the Credit Facility shall be, closed (but not
funded).

(d)

Subject in all cases to the Certain Funds Provisions, the Agent shall have received: (i) the loan agreement, guaranties, security agreements, pledge
agreements, intellectual property security agreements, Intercreditor Agreement, collateral assignment of rights under acquisition documents
(including any transition services agreement) and other definitive documentation for the Credit Facility, in each case to the extent the Loan Parties
are party thereto, executed and delivered by the applicable Loan Parties and the Commitment Parties party thereto subject to and on terms and
consistent with this Commitment Letter (including the Funds Certain Provisions and Documentation Principles) and the Fee Letters (including the
“flex provisions” thereunder), (ii) a reasonably satisfactory cooperation and license agreement from the Seller and its affiliates in connection with
the Agent’s and/or Lenders’ access to conduct field examinations of the Purchased Assets, including, the Duplicate IT System (as defined in the
Acquisition Agreement) (subject to the limits on field examinations set forth herein), use of any intellectual property licensed to the Borrowers and
exercise of rights and remedies under the Credit Facility (including conducting “store closing” and similar themed sales), as applicable, in respect of
any retail stores of the Acquired Business subject to the Transition Services Agreement or which utilize (in accordance with the Acquisition
Agreement) intellectual property of the Seller, (iii) customary legal opinions, (iv) customary evidence of authority from each Loan Party, (v)
customary officer’s certificates from each Loan Party, (v) good standing certificates (to the extent applicable) in the respective jurisdictions of
organization of each Loan Party, (vi) customary lien searches with respect to each Loan Party, (vii) UCC financing statements for each Loan Party,
(viii) evidence of insurance coverage including certificates naming the Agent as additional insured and lender’s loss payee to casualty and business
interruption insurance, (ix) current borrowing base certificate dated as of the Closing Date (or such other date agreed to by Agent), and (x) borrowing
request and disbursement authorization letter (including funds flow memorandum). Agent shall have received evidence that notices to each credit
card processor used by Borrowers have been sent to such credit card processor with respect to the security interest of Agent and instructions to remit
payments to a bank account of Borrowers specified therein and not to change such bank account without the prior written consent of Agent. Subject
in all cases to the Certain Funds Provision, Agent, for the benefit of itself, Lenders, Issuing Bank, bank product providers, and swap providers shall
hold perfected, first priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens) security interests in and liens upon the ABL Priority Collateral and
perfected second priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens) security interests in and liens upon the Term Loan Priority Collateral (other
than real property), and none of the Collateral shall be subject to any other pledges, security interests, mortgages or assignments as security, except
for liens permitted under the Loan Documents. Receipt by Agent of (A) customary payoff letters as to Fred’s existing ABL credit facility (the
“Existing Fred’s ABL”) reflecting the amounts required to repay in full all outstanding obligations thereunder (other than (x) contingent indemnity
and expense reimbursement obligations for which no claims have been asserted and (y) any letters of the credit outstanding thereunder which shall
be permitted to be rolled into the Credit Facility and “grandfathered” thereunder) and providing that upon receipt of such funds all such
arrangements under the Existing Fred’s ABL are terminated and the liens securing any obligations thereunder are released and (B) customary lien
releases and discharges in respect of the Existing Credit Facility for the assets acquired on the Closing Date under the Acquisition Agreement.
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On the Closing Date, after giving effect to the Transactions, the Company, the Loan Parties and their respective subsidiaries shall not have any third
party debt for borrowed money other than (i) the Credit Facility, (ii) the Term Loan Facility, (iii) ordinary course capital leases, purchase money
indebtedness, equipment financings, letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds of the Loan Parties and their respective subsidiaries that are
not otherwise prohibited by the Loan Documents, (iv) intercompany indebtedness of the Loan Parties and their subsidiaries not otherwise prohibited
by the Loan Documents and (v) certain other debt for borrowed money that the Company and the Arrangers reasonably agree may remain
outstanding after the Closing Date.
(e)

The opening Excess Availability at closing after the application of proceeds of the initial funding under the Credit Facility and/or issuance of initial
Letters of Credit under the Credit Facility and after payment of all fees and expenses of the Transactions payable on the Closing Date, shall be not
less than the greater of (x) 25% of the Combined Loan Cap and (y) $200,000,000.

(f)

Arrangers (and each Lender) shall have received at least 5 business days prior to the Closing Date all documentation and information as is
reasonably requested by Arranger or Agent or a Lender that is required by regulatory authorities under applicable “know your customer” and antimoney-laundering rules and regulations, including, without limitation, the USA Patriot Act, in each case to the extent requested in writing at least
10 business days prior to the Closing Date.
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(g)

Arrangers shall have received (i) (A) projected balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flows and projected Excess Availability,
Borrowing Base, FILO Borrowing Base and ABL IP Borrowing Base of the Company and its subsidiaries after giving effect to the Transactions and
covering the term of the Credit Facility, which projections shall be on a monthly basis for the twelve-month period following the Closing Date and
on an annual basis thereafter for the term of the Credit Facility, in each case with the results and assumptions in all of such projections in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Arrangers (it being understood that Arrangers have received all such projections under this clause (A) as of the
date of the Commitment Letter) and (B) to the extent the Company may prepare them, any updates and modifications to such projected financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, (ii) an opening pro forma balance sheet, income statements, statements of cash flows for the
Company and its subsidiaries (including the Acquired Business) as of and for the twelve-month period ended at least 30 calendar days prior to the
Closing Date, (iii) interim unaudited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year to date period ended at least 30 calendar
days prior to the Closing Date, with prior year comparison since the last audited financial statements for which financial statements are available,
(iv) a quality of earnings report from Ernst & Young for the 1,200 retail stores of the Acquired Business setting forth 4-wall EBITDA for the fiscal
year ended January 28, 2017 and a report prepared by Seller’s management setting forth 4-wall EBITDA for the 1,200 retail stores of the Acquired
Business for the period of 12 fiscal months ended April 29, 2017, and (v) acceptable appraisals of each of inventory and pharmacy scripts for the
1,200 retail stores of the Acquired Business and of the intellectual property of the Acquired Business.

(h)

Arrangers shall have received a customary solvency certificate from the chief financial officer of the Company substantially in the form attached
hereto as Annex I as of the Closing Date.

(i)

All costs, fees and expenses contemplated hereby or in the Fee Letters due and payable on the Closing Date to Agent, Arrangers and Lenders in
respect of the Transactions shall have been paid, provided that invoices for any costs and expenses to be reimbursed on the Closing Date must be
received at least two business days (or such later date as to which the Company may agree in its sole discretion) prior to the Closing Date or
otherwise such costs and expenses will be paid no later than 10 days after the Closing Date.

(j)

The Specified Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date where not already qualified by materiality or
“material adverse effect”, otherwise in all respects, and the Acquisition Agreement Representations will be true and correct as and to the extent
required by Section 6 of the Commitment Letter.

(k)

Arrangers shall have a syndication period prior to the Closing Date commencing on June 9, 2017 and ending July 7, 2017.
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ANNEX I
TO
EXHIBIT C TO COMMITMENT LETTER
SOLVENCY CERTIFICATE
of
FRED’S, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
[Pursuant to the [Credit Agreement], the undersigned hereby certifies, solely in such undersigned’s capacity as chief financial officer of Fred’s, Inc. (the
“Company”) and not individually, as follows:
As of the date hereof, after giving effect to the consummation of the Transactions occurring on the date hereof, including the making of any Revolving Loans
and the issuance of any Letters of Credit under the Credit Agreement on the date hereof, and after giving effect to the application of the proceeds of such
Loans:
(a)

The fair value of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, exceeds, on a consolidated basis, their
debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise;

(b)

The present fair saleable value of the property of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, is greater than the
amount that will be required to pay the probable liability, on a consolidated basis, of their debts and other liabilities, subordinated,
contingent or otherwise, as such debts and other liabilities become absolute and matured;

(c)

the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are able to pay their debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or
otherwise, as such liabilities become absolute and matured; and

(d)

the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are not engaged in, and are not about to engage in, business for which
they have unreasonably small capital.

For purposes of this Certificate, the amount of any contingent liability at any time shall be computed as the amount that would reasonably be expected to
become an actual and matured liability. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Credit
Agreement.
The undersigned is familiar with the business and financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries. In reaching the conclusions set forth in this
Certificate, the undersigned has made such other investigations and inquiries as the undersigned has deemed appropriate, having taken into account the
nature of the particular business anticipated to be conducted by the Company and its Subsidiaries after consummation of the transactions contemplated by
the Commitment Letter.]
[Signature Page Follows]
Annex I-1

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate in such undersigned’s capacity as chief financial officer of the Company, on
behalf of the Company, and not individually, as of the date first stated above.
[COMPANY]
By:
Name:
Title:
Annex I-2

EXHIBIT D
TO
COMMITMENT LETTER
Form of Intercreditor Agreement
[Please see attached]
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Exhibit 10.4
[EXECUTION COPY]
CONFIDENTIAL
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
One Bryant Park
New York, New York 10036
June 9, 2017
Fred’s, Inc.
4300 New Getwell Road
Memphis, Tennessee 38118
Attention: Mr. Rick Hans
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
$550,000,000 Senior Secured Term Loan Facility
Amended and Restated Commitment Letter
Ladies and Gentlemen:
Fred’s, Inc. (the “Company”) has advised Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (together, with its designated affiliates, “ MLPFS”),
TPG Specialty Lending Inc. and its affiliated funds signatory hereto (collectively, “TPG”), the affiliated funds of Birch Grove Capital LP signatory hereto
(collectively, “Birch Grove”), Crystal Financial LLC (“Crystal”), Gordon Brothers Finance Company, LLC (“GBFC”), Pathlight Capital LLC (“Pathlight”),
Silver Point Specialty Credit Fund, L.P. (“Silver Point”), Tennenbaum Capital Partners, LLC (“Tennenbaum”) and Great American Capital Partners, LLC
(“GACP” and, together with TPG, Birch Grove, Crystal, GBFC, Pathlight, Silver Point and Tennenbaum, collectively, the “ Original Initial Lenders”), the
affiliated funds of Apollo Global Management signatory hereto (collectively, “ Apollo”), the affiliated funds of Cerberus Business Finance LLC signatory
hereto (collectively, “Cerberus”), KKR Credit Advisors US LLC on behalf of itself and certain of its affiliates and managed funds and accounts (“KKR”) and
White Oak Asset Finance (“White Oak” and, together with Apollo, Cerberus and KKR, collectively, the “ New Initial Lenders” and, together with the Original
Initial Lenders, collectively, the “Initial Lenders”; the Initial Lenders together with MLPFS, each individually a “Commitment Party” and collectively, the
“Commitment Parties”) that it is seeking a new senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $550,000,000 (the “Term Loan Facility”)
in connection with its acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of the business and operations consisting of not less than 865 but up to 1,200 retail stores and certain
intellectual property, corporate infrastructure and distribution centers of Rite Aid Corporation (collectively, the “Acquired Business”) and to consummate the
other transactions described in the Transaction Description attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Transaction Description”). Capitalized terms used herein but
not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to them in the annexes to this letter, the Transaction Description and in the Summary of Principal
Terms and Conditions attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Term Sheet ” and together with this amended and restated commitment letter, the Transaction
Description, and the annexes, exhibits and schedules to this amended and restated commitment letter, collectively, the “Commitment Letter”).
1.
Commitment. Each of the Initial Lenders is pleased to advise the Company of its several and not joint commitment to provide the principal
amounts of the Term Loan Facility as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto, in each case subject to the terms set forth in this Commitment Letter, the
amended and restated fee letter of even date herewith between MLPFS and the Company (the “Lead Arranger Fee Letter”), the amended and restated fee letter
of even date herewith between Administrative Agent (as defined below) and the Company (the “ Administrative Agent Fee Letter”), and the amended and
restated fee letter of even date herewith among the Initial Lenders and the Company (the “Initial Lender Fee Letter” and, together with the Lead Arranger Fee
Letter and the Administrative Agent Fee Letter, collectively, the “ Fee Letters”). The commitments of the Initial Lenders are several and not joint. The Initial
Lenders shall be severally liable in respect of their respective commitments and all other obligations in this Commitment Letter and in the Fee Letters, and no
Commitment Party shall be responsible for the commitment or any other obligation of any other Commitment Party.

2 .
Titles and Roles; Sell-Side Advisor. The Company hereby appoints each of MLPFS, and TPG (each an “Arranger” and collectively, the
“Arrangers”), in each case, acting alone or through or with branches or affiliates selected by it, to act as the joint lead arrangers. MLPFS in its capacity as
Arranger is referred to herein as “Lead Arranger.” Crystal, GBFC and Pathlight will act as co-documentation agents under the Term Loan Facility in such
capacity “Co-Documentation Agent”. TPG will act as sole and exclusive administrative agent under the Term Loan Facility (in such capacity, the
“Administrative Agent ”) for the Initial Lenders and any other parties to the Term Loan Facility as lenders (individually a “Term Loan Lender” and
collectively “Term Loan Lenders”). Each of the Arrangers, Administrative Agent, and Co-Documentation Agents will perform the duties and exercise the
authority customarily performed and exercised by it in such role, subject to the terms below and MLPFS will be the sole physical bookrunning manager.
MLPFS will have “left” and highest placement in the information memorandum and all marketing materials and other documentation used in connection
with the Term Loan Facility and TPG will have second placement and appear immediately to the right of MLPFS in the information memorandum and all
marketing materials and other documentation used in connection with the Term Loan Facility. The Company agrees that no other agents, co-agents, arrangers
or bookrunners will be appointed, no other titles will be awarded and no compensation (other than compensation expressly contemplated by this
Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters) will be paid to any Term Loan Lender in connection with the Term Loan Facility unless the Commitment Parties and
the Company shall so agree.
The parties acknowledge that MLPFS and/or its affiliates have been or may be retained as the sell-side financial advisor to the Seller and/or the
Acquired Business (in such capacity, the “Financial Advisor”) in connection with the Transactions. The Company agrees to any such retention, and further
agrees not to assert any claim the Company or any of its affiliates might allege based on any actual or potential conflicts of interest that might be asserted to
arise or result from, on the one hand, the engagement of the Financial Advisor or from MLPFS’ and/or its affiliates’ arranging or providing or contemplating
arranging or providing financing for a competing bidder and, on the other hand, the relationship of MLPFS and/or its affiliates with the Company and its
affiliates as described and referred to herein.
3.

[Reserved.]

4 .
Expenses and Indemnification. The Company agrees (a) to pay or reimburse all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees, costs and
expenses incurred by the Commitment Parties or their affiliates in connection with their due diligence, approval, documentation, syndication and closing of
the Term Loan Facility, whether incurred before or after the date hereof (collectively, the “ Expenses”), including the preparation and negotiation of this
Commitment Letter and the Original Commitment Letter (as hereinafter defined) (including any amendment or modification hereto), and including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and legal expenses (provided, that, legal fees shall be limited to the reasonable fees and disbursements of Morgan Lewis & Bockius
LLP as counsel to the Lead Arranger and Choate Hall & Stewart, LLP as counsel to the Administrative Agent and, in addition, one local counsel for the
Administrative Agent in each appropriate jurisdiction), appraisal fees, real property evaluation fees, expenses related to the USA Patriot Act compliance and
background checks, electronic reporting system set-up fees (if any), filing and search charges, recording taxes and field examination expenses and the
enforcement of any of the rights and remedies of the Commitment Parties under this Commitment Letter, in each case regardless of whether the Term Loan
Facility is closed, and (b) to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Commitment Parties, each of their affiliates, and each of their officers, directors,
employees, agents, advisors, and other representatives (each, an “Indemnified Person”) as set forth on Annex A hereto. All Expenses are to be paid to, as
applicable, the Lead Arranger or the Administrative Agent upon demand by any Commitment Party, together with such advance funds on account of such
charges and expenses as, as applicable, Lead Arranger or Administrative Agent may from time to time request. The Company agrees that, once paid, none of
the Expenses shall be refundable under any circumstances, regardless of whether the Term Loan Facility closes, and shall not be credited against any other
amount payable by the Company to any Commitment Party in connection with the Term Loan Facility or otherwise.
2

Crystal has previously received from the Company an expense deposit and work fee of $150,000 (together with any additional amounts, the
“Deposit”) to fund the reimbursement of the Expenses. The Administrative Agent may from time to time request additions to the Deposit if it appears that
such Expenses are likely to exceed the unused portion of such Deposit and the Company agrees to provide such additions to the Deposit. The Deposit will
not be segregated, may be commingled with other funds of Crystal and the Company will not be entitled to receive interest on the Deposit.
5 .
Fees. As consideration for the commitments and agreements of the Commitment Parties hereunder, the Company agrees to pay the fees
described in the Term Sheet and in the Fee Letters on the Closing Date and on the dates set forth in the Fee Letters, as applicable, on the terms and subject to
the conditions set forth therein. The terms of the Term Sheet are an integral part of each Commitment Party’s commitment and other obligations hereunder.
Each of the fees described herein and in the Fee Letters shall be nonrefundable when paid except as expressly set forth therein. All fees payable hereunder and
under the Fee Letters will be paid in immediately available funds. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at the option of any Initial Lender or any Term Loan
Lender, all or any portion of the fees payable to such Initial Lender or Term Loan Lender hereunder may be taken in the form of original issue discount. The
obligation to pay any fee provided for herein or therein or to cause any such fee to be paid will be joint and several with any other party having such an
obligation, shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be subject to reduction by way of setoff or counterclaim.
6.
Conditions. The commitments of each of the Commitment Parties under this Commitment Letter and its obligations to close the Term Loan
Facility on the Closing Date are subject solely to: (a) since January 28, 2017, there shall not have been any event or circumstances that, individually or in the
aggregate, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Target Material Adverse Effect (as such term is defined below) that is continuing, and (b) the
satisfaction of (or procurement of a waiver of) the conditions set forth in Exhibit C to this Commitment Letter. For the avoidance of doubt, the compliance by
the Company with its obligations under this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters, other than satisfaction by the Company of (or procurement of a waiver
of) the conditions described (x) in Section 6(a) and (y) on Exhibit C, is not a condition to the closing of the Term Loan Facility on the Closing Date.
3

The term “Target Material Adverse Effect ” means a material adverse effect on the financial condition or results of operations of the Acquired Stores,
taken as a whole, but shall not be deemed to include any adverse effect arising out of, resulting from or attributable to: (a) an event or circumstance or series
of events or circumstances affecting (i) the United States (or any other country or jurisdiction) or the global economy generally or capital, financial, banking,
credit or securities markets generally, including changes in interest or exchange rates, (ii) political conditions generally of the United States or any other
country or jurisdiction in which Seller or its Affiliates operates or (iii) any of the industries generally in which Seller or any customers thereof operates
(including demand for, and the availability and pricing of, pharmaceutical drugs) or in which products or services of the Acquired Stores are used or
distributed, (b) the negotiation, execution or the announcement of, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by, or the performance of obligations
under, the Acquisition Agreement or the other Transaction Agreements, including effects related to compliance with the covenants or agreements contained
therein or the failure to take any action as a result of any restrictions or prohibitions set forth therein, and any adverse effect proximately caused by (A)
shortfalls or declines in revenue, margins or profitability, (B) loss of, or disruption in, any customer, supplier, and/or vendor relationships, or (C) loss of any
personnel, (c) any changes in applicable Law or U.S. GAAP, or accounting principles, practices or policies that Seller is required to adopt, or the enforcement
or interpretation thereof, (d) actions specifically permitted to be taken or omitted pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement or taken with Buyer’s consent, (e)
the effect of any action taken by Buyer or its Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or with respect to Seller or its Affiliates, (f) any
acts of God, including any earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, tsunami, or other natural disasters, or any other damage to or destruction of Assets
caused by casualty, (g) any hostilities, acts of war (whether or not declared), sabotage, terrorism or military actions, or any escalation or worsening of any such
hostilities, act of war, sabotage, terrorism or military actions, (h) any failure to meet internal or published projections, estimates or forecasts of revenues,
earnings, or other measures of financial or operating performance for any period (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (subject to the other
provisions of this definition) shall not be excluded) or (i) any adverse change or effect that is cured prior to Closing (or each Subsequent Closing, as
applicable); provided, however, that if the event or circumstance described in any of the foregoing clauses (a) or (c), individually or in the aggregate, has a
disproportionate effect on the Acquired Stores relative to other industry participants, the exception described in any of the foregoing clauses (a) or (c) shall
not apply with respect to the portion of such event or circumstance that had such a disproportionate effect on the Acquired Stores. Capitalized terms used in
this paragraph have the meanings given to such terms in the Acquisition Agreement.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Commitment Letter, the Fee Letters, the Loan Documents (as defined in the Term Sheet) or any
other agreement entered into by a Commitment Party concerning the financing of the Acquisition contemplated hereby to the contrary, (a) the only
representations and warranties, the accuracy of which shall be a condition to the closing of the Term Loan Facility shall be (i) such of the representations and
warranties made by the Seller or any of its affiliates in the Acquisition Agreement as are material to the interests of the Administrative Agent, Arrangers and
Term Loan Lenders, but only to the extent that the Company or any of its affiliates has the right to terminate the Company’s (or such of its affiliates’)
obligations under the Acquisition Agreement (or to not consummate the Acquisition) as a result of a breach of such representations and warranties in the
Acquisition Agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement Representations”) and (ii) the Specified Representations (as defined below) and (b) the terms of the
Loan Documents shall be in a form such that they do not provide for additional conditions to the closing of the Term Loan Facility if the conditions set forth
in this Section 6 are satisfied (it being understood that, (i) to the extent any collateral (including the perfection of any security interest therein) is not or
cannot be provided on the Closing Date (other than (A) the pledge and perfection of collateral with respect to which a lien may be perfected upon closing
solely by the filing of financing statements under the Uniform Commercial Code in the jurisdiction of organization of each Loan Party, and (B) the pledge
and perfection of security interests in the equity interests of subsidiaries owned by the Loan Parties (after giving effect to the Acquisition); the assets
described in clauses (A) and (B) being referred to as the “Specified Collateral”) after the use of commercially reasonable efforts by the Company (and the
Seller to the extent provided for in the Acquisition Agreement) to do so, then the provision of such collateral or perfection of any such lien or security interest
in such collateral shall not constitute a condition precedent to the closing of the Term Loan Facility, but shall be required to be provided within 60 days after
the Closing Date, subject to such extensions as are agreed to by the Initial Lenders). For purposes hereof, “Specified Representations” means representations
and warranties of the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents relating to organization, existence, organizational power and authority to enter into the Loan
Documents; due authorization, execution, delivery, enforceability of such Loan Documents; solvency as of the Closing Date (after giving effect to the
Transactions) of the Company and its subsidiaries (in form and scope consistent with the solvency certificate to be delivered pursuant to Exhibit C hereto);
no conflicts of the Loan Documents with organizational documents or material laws; Federal Reserve margin regulations; the Investment Company Act; USA
Patriot Act; use of proceeds not violating (i) laws applicable to sanctioned persons, (ii) laws and regulations promulgated by OFAC, and (iii) anti-money
laundering laws or the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; and the creation, perfection and priority of the security interests (subject to customary permitted liens)
granted in the collateral (subject in all respects to the foregoing provisions of this paragraph). This paragraph and the provisions herein are referred to herein
as the “Certain Funds Provision”.
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7.
Confidentiality. The Company agrees that this Commitment Letter (including the Term Sheet) and the Fee Letters are for its confidential use
only and that neither its existence, nor the terms hereof or thereof, will be disclosed by the Company to any person other than (a) its officers, directors (or
equivalent managers), employees, accountants, affiliates, independent auditors, attorneys, leverage lenders and other advisors, and then only on a “need-toknow” basis in connection with the Transactions and on a confidential basis, (b) the Seller and Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. and their respective officers,
directors (or equivalent managers), employees, accountants, independent auditors, attorneys, and other advisors of each of the Seller and Walgreens Boots
Alliance, Inc., and then only on a “need-to-know” basis, in connection with their consideration of the Transactions and on a confidential basis (provided that,
with respect to the Fee Letters, to the extent portions thereof have been redacted in respect of the amounts, percentages and basis points of compensation set
forth therein and the pricing in a manner satisfactory to (x) in the case of the Initial Lender Fee Letter, the Lead Arranger and the respective Initial Lenders
party thereto, (y) in the case of the Lead Arranger Fee Letter, the Lead Arranger, and (z) in the case of the Administrative Agent Fee Letter, the Lead Arranger,
the Administrative Agent and the respective Initial Lenders party thereto). The foregoing notwithstanding, the Company (and, in the case of clause (ii) below,
each of the Seller and Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc.) may (i) provide a copy of the Commitment Letter (and the Fee Letters, to the extent portions thereof
have been redacted in respect of the amounts, percentages and basis points of compensation set forth therein and the pricing in a manner satisfactory to (x) in
the case of the Initial Lender Fee Letter, the respective Initial Lenders party thereto, (y) in the case of the Lead Arranger Fee Letter, the Lead Arranger, and (z)
in the case of the Administrative Agent Fee Letter, the Administrative Agent and the respective Initial Lenders party thereto) to potential lenders under the
ABL Loan Facility and their officers, directors (or equivalent managers), employees, accountants, affiliates, attorneys, and other advisors involved in the
related commitments subject to confidentiality provisions similar to those provided herein, (ii) following the acceptance of the Company of this Commitment
Letter and the Fee Letters, file or make such other public disclosures of the terms and conditions hereof (including the Term Sheet, but not including the Fee
Letters) as it is required by law or by any regulatory authority, in the opinion of its counsel, to make and (iii) disclose this Commitment Letter and Fee Letters
in connection with any exercise of its remedies in respect hereof and thereof.
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Each Commitment Party agrees that material, non-public information regarding the Company and its subsidiaries and the Acquired Business, their
operations, assets, and existing and contemplated business plans shall be treated by it in a confidential manner, and shall not be disclosed by it to persons
who are not parties to this Commitment Letter, except: (i) to its officers, directors, employees, attorneys, advisors, accountants, auditors, and consultants to
such Commitment Party on a “need to know” basis in connection with Transactions and on a confidential basis, (ii) to subsidiaries and affiliates of such
Commitment Party, provided that any such subsidiary or affiliate shall have agreed to receive such information hereunder subject to the terms of this
paragraph, (iii) to regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over such Commitment Party or its affiliates, (iv) as may be required by statute, decision, or judicial
or administrative order, rule, or regulation, provided that prior to any disclosure under this clause (iv), the disclosing party agrees to provide the Company
with prior notice thereof, to the extent that it is practicable to do so and to the extent that the disclosing party is permitted to provide such prior notice to the
Company pursuant to the terms of the applicable statute, decision, or judicial or administrative order, rule, or regulation, (v) as may be agreed to by the
Company (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), (vi) as requested or required by any governmental authority pursuant to any subpoena or other legal
process, provided that prior to any disclosure under this clause (vi), the disclosing party agrees to provide the Company with prior notice thereof, to the
extent that it is practicable to do so and to the extent that the disclosing party is permitted to provide such prior notice to the Company pursuant to the terms
of the subpoena or other legal process, (vii) as to any such information that is or becomes generally available to the public (other than as a result of disclosure
by such Commitment Party in violation of the terms hereof), (viii) in connection with any proposed assignment or participation of such Commitment Party’s
interest in the Term Loan Facility, provided that any such proposed assignee or participant shall have agreed to receive such information subject to the terms
of this paragraph or as provided below, (ix) to the extent that such information was already in the possession of such Commitment Party or its affiliates or is
independently developed by it or them, (x) to the extent that such information was received by such Commitment Party from a third party, that is not, to its
knowledge, subject to confidentiality obligations owing to the Company, and (xi) for purposes of establishing a “due diligence” defense and in connection
with any litigation or other adverse proceeding involving any parties to this Commitment Letter or the Fee Letters. This paragraph shall terminate on the
second anniversary of the date of the Original Commitment Letter.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Commitment Letter, the Company agrees that (i) each Commitment Party shall have the right to
provide information concerning the Term Loan Facility to loan syndication and reporting services, and (ii) that the Projections, any marketing materials and
all other information provided by or on behalf of the Company and its affiliates to a Commitment Party regarding the Company and its affiliates and the
Transactions in connection with the Term Loan Facility may be disseminated by or on behalf of such Commitment Party to prospective lenders and other
persons, who have agreed to be bound by customary confidentiality undertakings (including, “click-through” agreements), all in accordance with the
standard loan syndication practices of such Commitment Party (whether transmitted electronically by means of a website, e-mail or otherwise, or made
available orally or in writing, including at potential lender or other meetings). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Commitment Letter, the
Company agrees that a Commitment Party may share with its affiliates any information relating to the Term Loan Facility, the Company or its subsidiaries or
the Acquired Business for purposes of the evaluation, negotiation, documentation and syndication of the Term Loan Facility and on and after the Closing
Date, may disclose information relating to the Term Loan Facility to Gold Sheets and other publications or for its marketing materials, with such information
to consist of deal terms and other information customarily found in such publications or marketing materials and that a Commitment Party may otherwise use
the corporate name and logo of the Company or its subsidiaries or the Acquired Business in “tombstones” or other advertisements, marketing materials or
public statements.
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8 .
Information. The Company hereby represents and warrants (but limited, solely in the case of the Acquired Business, to the best of its
knowledge) that (i) all written information, other than Projections (as defined below) and other than forward-looking information and information of a general
economic nature or industry specific information, which has been or is hereafter made available to the Commitment Parties by or on behalf of the Company or
its subsidiaries or any of their representatives in connection with the Company and its subsidiaries and the Acquired Business (“Information”), as and when
furnished, is or will be, when furnished and taken as a whole, correct in all material respects and does not or will not, when furnished and taken as a whole,
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading in
light of the circumstances under which such statements are made and (ii) all financial projections concerning the Company and its subsidiaries and the
Acquired Business that have been or are hereafter made available to Commitment Parties or prospective Term Loan Lenders by the Company or its
subsidiaries (the “Projections”), have been or will be prepared in good faith based upon assumptions that are believed by the Company to be reasonable at
the time made and made available to the Commitment Parties (it being understood that projections by their nature are inherently uncertain and that, even
though the Projections are prepared in good faith on the basis of assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time such Projections were prepared, the results
reflected in the Projections may not be achieved and actual results may differ and such differences may be material). If at any time the Company becomes
aware that any of the representations in the preceding sentence would be incorrect in any material respect if the Information and Projections were being
furnished, and such representations were being made at such time, then the Company will promptly supplement the Information and Projections so that such
representations will be correct in all material respects under those circumstances. The Company agrees to furnish, or cause to be furnished (using
commercially reasonable efforts with respect to the Acquired Business), to each Commitment Party such Information and Projections as it may reasonably
request and to supplement the Information and the Projections from time to time until the Closing Date. In arranging and syndicating the Term Loan Facility,
the Lead Arranger, and in entering into the Term Loan Facility, the Administrative Agent and Term Loan Lenders will be using and relying on the
Information and the Projections without independent verification thereof. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Commitment Letter or
the Fee Letters, none of the accuracy of any representation under this Section 8, the provision of any supplement to any Information or the Projections, nor
the accuracy of any such supplement shall constitute a condition precedent to the closing and/or initial funding of any of the Term Loan Facility on the
Closing Date.
9 .
Sharing Information; Absence of Fiduciary Relationship; Affiliate Activities . The Company acknowledges that each Commitment Party or
one or more of its affiliates may be providing debt financing, equity capital or other services (including financial advisory services) to other companies in
respect of which the Company may have conflicting interests regarding the transactions described herein or otherwise. The Company also acknowledges that
the Commitment Parties do not have any obligation to use in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter, or to furnish to the
Company, confidential information obtained by a Commitment Party from other companies (including the Seller).
The Company further acknowledges and agrees that (a) no fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship between the Company, on the one hand, and a
Commitment Party, on the other hand, is intended to be or has been created in respect of any of the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter,
irrespective of whether such Commitment Party or one or more of its affiliates has advised or is advising the Company on other matters, (b) each Commitment
Party, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, has an arms-length business relationship that does not directly or indirectly give rise to, nor do
you rely on, any fiduciary duty on the part of such Commitment Party, (c) the Company is capable of evaluating and understanding, and it understands and
accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter, (d) the Company has been advised that each
Commitment Party or one or more of its affiliates is engaged in a broad range of transactions that may involve interests that differ from its interests and that
such Commitment Party does not have any obligation to disclose such interests and transactions to it by virtue of any fiduciary, advisory or agency
relationship, and (e) the Company waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against a Commitment Party for breach of fiduciary
duty or alleged breach of fiduciary duty and agrees that the Commitment Parties shall not have any liability (whether direct or indirect) to it in respect of such
a fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on behalf of or in right of the Company, including its stockholders, employees or
creditors. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of this paragraph apply only to the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter and the
relationships and duties created in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter.
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The Company further acknowledges that one or more of the affiliates of any Commitment Party are full service securities firm engaged in securities
trading and brokerage activities as well as providing investment banking and other financial services. In the ordinary course of business, each Commitment
Party or one or more of its affiliates may provide investment banking and other financial services to, and/or acquire, hold or sell, for their respective own
accounts and the accounts of customers, equity, debt and other securities and financial instruments (including bank loans and other obligations) of, the
Company, and other companies with which the Company may have commercial or other relationships. With respect to any debt or other securities and/or
financial instruments so held by a Commitment Party or one or more of its affiliates or any of their respective customers, all rights in respect of such securities
and financial instruments, including any voting rights, will be exercised by the holder of the rights, in its sole discretion.
In particular, the Company acknowledges that the Company has been advised of the role of MLPFS and/or its affiliates as Financial Advisor and
that, in such capacity, (i) the Financial Advisor may recommend to the Seller that the Seller not pursue or accept the offer or proposal of the Company for the
acquisition of the Acquired Business, (ii) the Financial Advisor may advise the Seller and/or the Acquired Business in other manners adverse to the interests
of the Company, including, without limitation, by providing advice on pricing, leverage levels, and timing and conditions of closing with respect to the bid
by the Company, taking other actions with respect to the bid of the Company and taking action under any definitive agreement between the Company, Seller
and/or the Acquired Business, and (iii) the Financial Advisor may possess information about the Seller and/or the Acquired Business, the acquisition of the
Acquired Business, and other potential purchasers and their respective strategies and proposals, but the Financial Advisor shall have no obligation to
disclose to the Company the substance of such information or the fact that it is in possession thereof. In addition, the Company acknowledges that any of the
Arrangers or Commitment Parties or their respective affiliates may be arranging or providing (or contemplating arranging or providing) a committed form of
acquisition financing to other potential purchasers of the Acquired Business and that, in such capacity, such Arranger, Commitment Party or affiliate may
acquire information about the Acquired Business, the sale thereof, and such other potential purchasers and their strategies and proposals, but such party shall
have no obligation to disclose to the Company the substance of such information or the fact that such party is in possession thereof.
10.
USA Patriot Act. Each Commitment Party hereby notifies the Company that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act, Title III
of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001) (the “USA Patriot Act ”), the Commitment Parties and other Term Loan Lenders may be required to
obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Loan Parties (as defined in the Term Sheet), which information includes the name, address, tax
identification number and other information regarding the Loan Parties that will allow the Commitment Parties and other Term Loan Lenders to identify the
Loan Parties in accordance with the USA Patriot Act. This notice is given in accordance with the requirements of the USA Patriot Act and is effective as to
each Term Loan Lender.
1 1 .
Entire Agreement . This Commitment Letter contains the entire commitment of the Commitment Parties for this transaction and, upon
acceptance by the Company, supersedes all prior proposals, commitment letter, negotiations, discussions and correspondence (including, without limitation,
the Original Commitment Letter (except to the extent provided herein)). This Commitment Letter may not be contradicted by evidence of any alleged oral
agreement. No party has been authorized by a Commitment Party to make any oral or written statements inconsistent with this Commitment Letter. This
Commitment Letter is addressed solely to the Company and is not intended to confer any obligations to or on, or benefits to or on, any third party (other than
the Indemnified Persons). Each of the parties hereto agrees that, if executed and accepted by the parties in the manner required herein, each of this
Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters is a binding and enforceable agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein or therein (including the
obligation of the parties to negotiate the Loan Documents in good faith); it being acknowledged and agreed that the closing of the Term Loan Facility is
subject solely to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in Section 6 hereof, including the execution and delivery of the relevant Loan Documents by the
parties hereto in a manner consistent with this Commitment Letter (including the applicable Documentation Principles and the obligation to negotiate in
good faith); provided that nothing contained in this Commitment Letter obligates the Company or any of its affiliates to consummate the Acquisition or to
draw down any portion of the Term Loan Facility.
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1 2 .
Surviving Provisions. The expense and indemnification, sharing information; absence of fiduciary relationship; affiliate transactions,
confidentiality, jurisdiction, governing law and waiver of jury trial provisions contained herein shall remain in full force and effect regardless of whether
definitive financing documentation shall be executed and delivered and notwithstanding the termination or expiration of this Commitment Letter or
termination of the commitments of the Commitment Parties described herein; provided, that, upon the execution and effectiveness of such definitive
financing documentation, to the extent subject to, and covered by the provisions of such financing documentation, the provisions hereof with respect to
expense, indemnification and confidentiality shall be superseded thereby.
13.
Counterparts. This Commitment Letter may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, and all of which,
when taken together, shall constitute one agreement. Delivery of an executed signature page of this Commitment Letter by facsimile transmission or other
electronic means (including an email with a “pdf”) shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof.
14.
No Assignment by Company; Governing Law. This Commitment Letter may not be assigned by the Company without the prior written
consent of each Commitment Party and may not be amended, waived or modified, except in writing signed by each Commitment Party and the Company.
This Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters, the rights of the parties hereto or thereto with respect to all matters arising hereunder or related hereto, and any
and all claims, controversies or disputes arising hereunder or related hereto shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of
New York, but excluding any principles of conflicts of law or other rule of law that would cause the application of the law of any jurisdiction other than the
State of New York, provided, that, notwithstanding the preceding sentence and the governing law provisions of this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters,
it is understood and agreed that (a) the interpretation of the definition of “Target Material Adverse Effect” (and whether or not a Target Material Adverse
Effect has occurred), (b) the determination of the accuracy of any Acquisition Agreement Representation and whether as a result of any inaccuracy thereof the
Company or any of its affiliates has the right to terminate its or their obligations under the Acquisition Agreement or to decline to consummate the
Acquisition and (c) the determination of whether the Acquisition has been consummated in accordance with the terms of the Acquisition Agreement and, in
any case, claims or disputes arising out of any such interpretation or determination or any aspect thereof, in each case, shall be governed by, and construed
and interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of
conflicts of laws thereof. Each of the parties hereto agrees that all claims, controversies, or disputes arising hereunder or hereto shall be tried and litigated
only in the state courts, and to the extent permitted by applicable law, federal courts, in each case located in New York County, New York and each of the
parties hereto submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts relative to any such claim, controversy or dispute. It is understood that with
respect to any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to the Acquisition Agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby and which does not
involve this Commitment Letter, the Term Loan Facility or claims by or against the Company, any Commitment Party or any Indemnified Person, the
immediately preceding sentence shall not override any jurisdiction provision set forth in the Acquisition Agreement.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties hereby agree that MLPFS may, without notice to the Company or any other
Commitment Party, assign its rights and obligations under this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters to any other registered broker-dealer wholly-owned by
Bank of America Corporation to which all or substantially all of Bank of America Corporation’s or any of its subsidiaries’ investment banking, commercial
lending services or related businesses may be transferred following the date of this Commitment Letter.
1 5 .
JURY TRIAL WAIVER . EACH COMMITMENT PARTY AND THE COMPANY EACH WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN
RESPECT OF ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY, OR DISPUTE (WHETHER BASED IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS COMMITMENT LETTER OR THE TRANSACTIONS OR THE ACTIONS OF A COMMITMENT PARTY OR ANY OF ITS
AFFILIATES IN THE NEGOTIATION, PERFORMANCE, OR ENFORCEMENT OF THIS COMMITMENT LETTER OR THE TRANSACTIONS OR THE
ACTIONS OF A COMMITMENT PARTY OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES IN THE NEGOTIATION, PERFORMANCE, OR ENFORCEMENT OF THIS
COMMITMENT LETTER.
1 6 .
Amendment and Restatement. This Commitment Letter amends and restates in its entirety that certain commitment letter dated as of
December 19, 2016 (as amended and in effect immediately prior to effectiveness of this Commitment Letter, the “Original Commitment Letter”) among the
Commitment Parties and the Company.
1 7 .
Acceptance and Termination . This Commitment Letter will be of no force and effect unless executed by each Commitment Party and a
counterpart hereof is accepted and agreed to by the Company and, as so accepted and agreed to, received by each Commitment Party by 11:59 p.m. (Central
time) on June 9, 2017, together with the Fee Letters as duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company, provided that the Lead Arranger Fee Letter
shall only be delivered to the Lead Arranger and the Administrative Agent Fee Letter shall only be delivered to the Administrative Agent. The commitment
of each Commitment Party under this Commitment Letter, if accepted and agreed to by the Company as provided in the immediately preceding sentence, will
terminate (unless the Closing Date occurs on or prior thereto) upon the earliest of (i) 5:00 p.m. on July 31, 2017 (the “Stated Commitment Termination
Date”); provided that upon the written request of the Company to the Commitment Parties made prior to the occurrence of the Stated Commitment
Termination Date (which written request may only be made once), the Stated Commitment Termination Date may, at the sole discretion of the Company (but
subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Commitment Letter and the Fee Letters), be extended to a time not later than 5:00 p.m. on October 31,
2017 (such later time, the “Extended Commitment Termination Date”), (ii) the closing of the Acquisition without the closing of the Term Loan Facility, or
(iii) after delivery of a fully executed and effective Acquisition Agreement, the termination or expiration of the Acquisition Agreement; provided that the
termination of any commitment or this Commitment Letter pursuant to this sentence does not prejudice your rights and remedies in respect of any breach of
this Commitment Letter that occurred prior to any such termination.
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18.
Assignment Provisions. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Commitment Letter to the contrary and notwithstanding any assignment
or other transfer by any Initial Lender (a) no Initial Lender shall be relieved, released or novated from its obligations hereunder (including its obligation to
fund its applicable percentage of the Term Loan Facility on the date of the Initial Draw upon the satisfaction (or waiver by the Commitment Parties) of the
conditions specified in the Term Sheet) in connection with any assignment or other transfer until after the initial funding of such Initial Lender’s commitment
under the Term Loan Facility on the date of the Initial Draw or the Company otherwise consents in writing, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld
and (b) except to the extent consented to by the Company as provided in clause (a) above, no such assignment or other transfer shall, with respect to any
portion of any Initial Lender’s commitments to fund its applicable percentage of the Term Loan Facility on the date of the Initial Draw, relieve such Initial
Lender from its obligations hereunder to fund its applicable percentage of the Term Loan Facility on the date of the Initial Draw upon the satisfaction (or
waiver by the Commitment Parties) of the conditions specified in the Term Sheet, except to the extent such portion is otherwise funded upon the initial
funding on the date of the Initial Draw). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Initial Lenders may assign any of their commitments to their affiliates and
approved funds.
[Signature Pages to Follow]
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If the Company accepts and agrees to the foregoing, please so indicate by executing and returning the enclosed copy of this letter to MLPFS,
together with the Fee Letters. We look forward to continuing to work with you to complete this transaction.
Very truly yours,
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED
By: /s/ Adam Cady
Name: Adam Cady
Title: Managing Director
Project Flintstone - Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

TPG SPECIALTY LENDING INC.
By: /s/ Michael Fishman
Name: Michael Fishman
Title: Co-Chief Executive Officer
TC LENDING, LLC
By: /s/ Michael Fishman
Name: Michael Fishman
Title: Co-Chief Executive Officer
TDL LENDING, LLC, SERIES 3
By: /s/ David Stiepleman
Name: David Stiepleman
Title: President
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

CRYSTAL FINANCIAL LLC
By: /s/ Evren Ozargun
Name: Evren Ozargun
Title: Managing Director
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

GORDON BROTHERS FINANCE COMPANY, LLC
By: /s/ Felicia Galeota
Name: Felicia Galeota
Title: Vice President
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

PATHLIGHT CAPITAL LLC
By: /s/ Katie Hendricks
Name: Katie Hendricks
Title: Director
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

GREAT AMERICAN CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC
By: /s/ John Ahn
Name: John Ahn
Title: President
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

Special Value Continuation Partners, LP
TCP Waterman CLO, LLC
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Fund II, LP
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Operating III, LLC
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Fund IV-B, LP
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Fund V, LLC
Tennenbaum Enhanced Yield Operating I, LLC
Tennenbaum Heartland Co-Invest, LP
Tennenbaum Energy Opportunities Co, LLC
TCP Direct Lending Fund VIII
TCP Direct Lending Fund VIII-A
TCP Direct Lending Fund VIII-L
Reliance Standard Life Insurance Company
On behalf of each of the above entities:
By: TENNENBAUM CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC
Its: Investment Manager
TCP CLO III, LLC
By: SERIES I of SVOF/MM, LLC
Its: Collateral Manager
On behalf of the above entity:
By: /s/ Howard Levkowitz
Name: Howard Levkowitz
Title: Managing Partner
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

APOLLO CENTRE STREET PARTNERSHIP, L.P.
By: Apollo Center Street Management,
LLC, Its Investment Manager
By: /s/ Joseph D. Glatt
Name: Joseph D. Glatt
Title: Vice President
APOLLO MOULTRIE CREDIT FUND, L.P.
By: Apollo Moultrie Credit Fund Management,
LLC, Its Investment Manager
By: /s/ Joseph D. Glatt
Name: Joseph D. Glatt
Title: Vice President
APOLLO TACTICAL VALUE SPN INVESTMENTS, L.P.
By: Apollo Tactical Value SPN Management,
LLC, Its Investment Manager
By: /s/ Joseph D. Glatt
Name: Joseph D. Glatt
Title: Vice President
APOLLO THUNDER PARTNERS, L.P.
By: Apollo Thunder Management,
LLC, Its Investment Manager
By: /s/ Joseph D. Glatt
Name: Joseph D. Glatt
Title: Vice President
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

ATCF S.a r.l.
By: ATCF HoldCo S.a. r.l., its sole shareholder
By: Apollo Tower Credit Management,
LLC, Its Investment Manager
By: /s/ Joseph D. Glatt
Name: Joseph D. Glatt
Title: Vice President
BIRCH GROVE CREDIT STRATEGIES MASTER FUND LP
By: Birch Grove Advisors LLC, Its General Partner
By: /s/ Rodd D. Evonsky
Name: Rodd D. Evonsky
Title: Chief Financial Officer
OPPENHEIMER CAPITAL STRUCTURE OPPORTUNITIES MASTER FUND LTD.
By: Birch Grove Capital LP, Its Sub-Advisor
By: /s/ Rodd D. Evonsky
Name: Rodd D. Evonsky
Title: Chief Financial Officer
BIRCH GROVE SPV--01 LTD
By: Birch Grove Capital LP, Its General Partner
By: /s/ Rodd D. Evonsky
Name: Rodd D. Evonsky
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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BIRCH GROVE FUND--01 LTD
By: Birch Grove Advisors LLC, Its General Partner
By: /s/ Rodd D. Evonsky
Name: Rodd D. Evonsky
Title: Chief Financial Officer
CERBERUS LEVERED LOAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND III, L.P.
By: Cerberus Levered Opportunities III GP, LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Daniel E. Wolf
Name: Daniel E. Wolf
Title: Senior Managing Director
CERBERUS NJ CREDIT OPPORTUNITIES FUND, L.P.
By: Cerberus NJ Credit Opportunities GP, LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Daniel E. Wolf
Name: Daniel E. Wolf
Title: Senior Managing Director
CERBERUS ASRS HOLDINGS LLC
By: /s/ Daniel E. Wolf
Name: Daniel E. Wolf
Title: Senior Managing Director
CERBERUS KRS LEVERED LOAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND, L.P.
By: Cerberus KRS Levered Opportunities GP, LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Daniel E. Wolf
Name: Daniel E. Wolf
Title: Senior Managing Director
CERBERUS PSERS LEVERED LOAN OPPORTUNITIES FUND, L.P.
By: Cerberus PSERS Levered Opportunities GP, LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ Daniel E. Wolf
Name: Daniel E. Wolf
Title: Senior Managing Director
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

CERBERUS FSBA HOLDINGS LLC
By: /s/ Daniel E. Wolf
Name: Daniel E. Wolf
Title: Senior Managing Director
KKR CREDIT ADVISORS (US) LLC,
On behalf of itself and its affiliates and managed funds and accounts
By: /s/ Jeffrey B. Van Horn
Name: Jeffrey B. Van Horn
Title: Authorized Signatory
SILVER POINT SPECIALTY CREDIT FUND, L.P.,
By: Silver Point Specialty Credit Fund Management, LLC, as its investment manager
By: /s/ Michael A. Gatto
Name: Michael A. Gatto
Title: Authorized Signatory
WHITE OAK ASSET FINANCE
By: /s/ Tom Otte
Name: Tom Otte
Title: Partner
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO
AS OF THE DATE FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN:
FRED’S, INC.
By: /s/ Michael K. Bloom
Name: Michael K. Bloom
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Project Flintstone – Amended and Restated Term Loan Commitment Letter

SCHEDULE 1
Commitments
Commitment Parties

Commitment

The following affiliated funds of TPG Specialty Lending Inc.:
TC Lending, LLC

$56,250,000

TDL Lending, LLC, Series 3

$93,750,000

Crystal Financial LLC

$48,750,000.00

Gordon Brothers Finance Company, LLC

$37,500,000.00

Pathlight Capital LLC

$23,750,000.00

Tennenbaum Capital Partners, LLC on behalf of:

$61,875,000.00

Special Value Continuation Partners, LP
TCP Waterman CLO, LLC
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Fund II, LP
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Operating III, LLC
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Fund IV-B, LP
Tennenbaum Senior Loan Fund V, LLC
Tennenbaum Enhanced Yield Operating I, LLC
Tennenbaum Heartland Co-Invest, LP
Tennenbaum Energy Opportunities Co, LLC
TCP Direct Lending Fund VIII
TCP Direct Lending Fund VIII-A
TCP Direct Lending Fund VIII-L
Reliance Standard Life Insurance Company
Great American Capital Partners, LLC

$61,875,000.00

Affiliated funds of Apollo Global Management

$28,500,000.00

Affiliated funds of Birch Grove Capital LP

$40,000,000.00

Affiliated funds of Cerberus Business Finance LLC

$28,500,000.00

KKR Credit Advisors US LLC on behalf of itself and certain of its affiliates
and managed funds and accounts

$28,500,000.00

Silver Point Specialty Credit Fund, L.P.

$26,250,000.00

White Oak Asset Finance

$14,500,000.00
Total
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$550,000,000.00

ANNEX A
Indemnification Provisions
To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Company (the “ Indemnifying Person”) agrees that it will indemnify, defend, and hold harmless
each of the Indemnified Persons from and against (i) any and all losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses
and disbursements and (ii) any and all actions, suits, proceedings and investigations in respect thereof, and (iii) any and all legal costs (provided, that, the
obligations to reimburse any Indemnified Person for legal fees and expenses shall be limited to reasonable legal fees and expenses of one firm of counsel for
all such Indemnified Persons and if necessary, of one local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction (and, to the extent required by the subject matter, one
specialist counsel for each such specialized area of law in each appropriate jurisdiction) and in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest, one
counsel for such affected Indemnified Person) or other costs, expenses or disbursements in giving testimony or furnishing documents in response to a
subpoena or otherwise (including, without limitation, the costs, expenses and disbursements, as and when incurred, of investigating, preparing or defending
any such action, proceeding or investigation (whether or not in connection with litigation in which any of the Indemnified Persons is a party) and including,
without limitation, any and all losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses and disbursements, resulting
from any act or omission of any of the Indemnified Persons), directly or indirectly, caused by, relating to, based upon, arising out of or in connection with (a)
the Transactions or (b) the Commitment Letter, the Original Commitment Letter or the Fee Letters; provided that such indemnity agreement shall not apply to
any portion of any such loss, claim, damage, obligation, penalty, judgment, award, liability, cost, expense or disbursement of an Indemnified Person to the
extent it is found in a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction (not subject to further appeal) to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of such Indemnified Person. These Indemnification Provisions shall be in addition to any liability which the Indemnifying Person may have to
the Indemnified Persons.
If any action, suit, proceeding or investigation is commenced, as to which any of the Indemnified Persons proposes to demand indemnification, it
shall notify the Indemnifying Person with reasonable promptness; provided that any failure by any of the Indemnified Persons to so notify the Indemnifying
Person shall not relieve the Indemnifying Person from its obligations hereunder. The Indemnified Persons shall have the right to retain counsel of their choice
to represent them, and the Indemnifying Person shall pay the reasonable fees, expenses, and disbursement of such counsel, and such counsel shall, to the
extent consistent with its professional responsibilities, cooperate with the Indemnifying Person and any counsel designated by the Indemnifying Person. The
Indemnifying Person shall be liable for any settlement of any claim against any of the Indemnified Persons made with its written consent, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld. Without the prior written consent of the applicable Indemnified Person, the Indemnifying Person shall not settle or
compromise any claim, unless (i) such Indemnified Person and each other Indemnified Person from which such Indemnified Person could have sought
indemnification or contribution has given his, her or its prior written consent or (ii) the settlement, compromise, consent or termination (A) includes an
express unconditional release of all Indemnified Persons and their respective affiliates from all losses, claims, damages, expenses and liabilities, directly or
indirectly, arising out of, relating to, resulting from or otherwise in connection with such claim, (B) does not include any statements as to or any findings (or
admissions) of fault, culpability or failure to act by or on behalf of any Indemnified Person and (C) is paid by the Indemnifying Person in cash.
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In order to provide for just and equitable contribution, if a claim for indemnification pursuant to these Indemnification Provisions is made but is
found by a judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction (not subject to further appeal) that such indemnification may not be enforced in such case, even
though the express provisions hereof provide for indemnification in such case, then the Indemnifying Person, on the one hand, and the applicable
Indemnified Persons, on the other hand, shall contribute to the losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses
and disbursements to which the applicable Indemnified Persons may be subject in accordance with the relative benefits received by the Indemnifying Person,
on the one hand, and the applicable Indemnified Persons, on the other hand, and also the relative fault of the Indemnifying Person, on the one hand, and the
applicable Indemnified Persons collectively and in the aggregate, on the other hand, in connection with the statements, acts or omissions which resulted in
such losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, liabilities, costs, expenses and disbursements and the relevant equitable
considerations shall also be considered, provided, that, no Indemnified Person shall be liable for any fault, fraud, tort, or breach of any other Indemnified
Person or for a claim or cause of action against such other Indemnified Person. No person found liable for a fraudulent misrepresentation shall be entitled to
contribution from any other person who is not also found liable for such fraudulent misrepresentation.
Neither expiration nor termination of the commitment of a Commitment Party under the Commitment Letter or funding or repayment of the loans
under the Term Loan Facility shall affect these Indemnification Provisions which shall remain operative and continue in full force and effect.
No Indemnified Person shall be liable for any damages arising from the use by others of Information or other materials obtained through internet,
Intralinks, SyndTrak or other similar transmission systems in connection with the Term Loan Facility, unless to the extent it is found in a final non-appeable
judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction (not subject to further appeal) to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such
Indemnified Person. In addition, no Indemnified Person shall be responsible or liable for special, indirect, consequential, exemplary, incidental or punitive
damages which may be alleged as a result of this Commitment Letter or the Fee Letters and the Company, on behalf of itself and each of its affiliates,
irrevocably and unconditionally waives any right to seek such damages for any claim that may be alleged as a result of any breach, or as a result, of this
Commitment Letter or any element of the transactions contemplated hereby.
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CONFIDENTIAL
EXHIBIT A
FRED’S, INC.
Transaction Description
June 9, 2017
Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Exhibit A shall have the meanings set forth in the Commitment Letter or the other Exhibits and
Annexes thereto.
The Company (through one or more of its wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries) intends to acquire (the “Acquisition”) all of (w) the Purchased Assets
and assume the Assumed Liabilities (as each of such terms is defined in the Acquisition Agreement) of not less than 865 but up to 1,200 retail stores of Rite
Aid Corporation, (x) the Distribution Centers and the Cross-Dock Facilities (as each such term is defined in the Acquisition Agreement) (hereinafter, the
“Acquired Distribution Centers”), and (y) the Purchased Intellectual Property and the Corporate Infrastructure (as each of such terms is defined in the
Acquisition Agreement) (such assets, collectively, the “ Acquired Business”), in each case, from Rite Aid Corporation (“Seller”), all as set forth in the
Acquisition Agreement as defined below. In connection therewith:
(a) The Acquisition will be effected pursuant to an Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement, in form and substance satisfactory to the
Arrangers and the Initial Lenders holding at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the commitments in respect of the Term Loan Facility under
this Commitment Letter, without giving effect to any syndication or assignment thereof (such Initial Lenders, the “Majority Initial Lenders”) in their sole
discretion, by and among AFAE, LLC and Seller, and for the limited purposes set forth therein, the Company and Walgreen Boots Alliance, Inc. (and together
with the schedules and exhibits thereto, the Transition Services Agreement and the other Ancillary Agreements referred to therein, and the other documents
and instruments executed and/or delivered in connection therewith, including any reverse transition services agreement (each of which shall be in form and
substance satisfactory to the Arrangers and the Majority Initial Lenders in their sole discretion), collectively, the “ Acquisition Agreement ”; provided that
until such time the Acquisition Agreement shall be duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto, capitalized terms used herein by reference to
definitions contained in the Acquisition Agreement, shall instead be defined by reference to the definitions contained in the draft Acquisition Agreement
provided to the Commitment Parties with the heading “Sidley Comments March 19, 2017” (the “Draft Acquisition Agreement ”) (it being understood and
agreed that the Arrangers and the Majority Initial Lenders have not approved the Draft Acquisition Agreement as an acceptable form of the Acquisition
Agreement). Such Acquisition shall be consummated pursuant to an initial Closing and one or more Subsequent Closings (each, as defined in the Acquisition
Agreement) (such retail store locations and the related assets acquired pursuant to a Subsequent Closing, being hereinafter a “Series”, provided that all retail
store locations and the related assets acquired pursuant to a Series of Subsequent Closings (each an “Acquired Store Series”) occurring on consecutive
business days (with an average of not less than 50 retail stores per day acquired pursuant thereto (or, if less, (x) the entire remaining balance of stores and
related assets to be acquired by the Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, (y) at any time after the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired
67% of all retail store locations and related assets required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, up to 25 separate transfers of one or more
retail store locations and related assets to be acquired by the Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement or (z) as agreed to by the Required Lenders (as
such term is defined in Exhibit B)) shall be deemed to form a part of the same Acquired Store Series)). Following the Acquisition, the Acquired Business will
be owned by the Company, except for any assets to be acquired in connection with any Subsequent Closing or the Distribution Center Closing (as each of
such terms are defined in the Acquisition Agreement and with the Distribution Closing being hereinafter referred to as the “Final APA Closing”).
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(b) The Acquired Business will be released from all obligations in connection with any debt for borrowed money, including the credit facility
provided to Seller and its subsidiaries for which Citibank, N.A. is the agent (the “Existing Credit Facility”) and any security interests in, encumbrances or
liens on any of the assets of the Acquired Business (other than Permitted Liens (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement)) will be released and terminated
(such release of obligations and the termination and discharge of such liens and encumbrances, the “Release”).
(d) Borrowers and the other Loan Parties (as defined in Exhibit B) will enter into the Term Loan Facility and the applicable Loan Documents.
(e) Borrowers will enter into a senior secured loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,650,000,000 (as may be increased to
$1,700,000,000 on or prior to the Closing Date in the form of an increase to the ABL FILO Term Facility and/or the ABL Revolving Facility (as defined
below)) consisting of (a) senior secured asset-based term loans advanced on a “first-in, last-out” basis in an aggregate principal amount of $350,000,000 (as
may be increased up to $400,000,000 on or prior to the Closing Date) (the “ABL FILO Term Facility”), (b) senior secured asset-based IP term loans advanced
on a “last out” basis in an aggregate principal amount of $50,000,000 (the “ABL IP Term Facility ”) and (c) a senior secured asset-based revolving loan and
letter of credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,250,000,000 (as may be increased up to $1,300,000,000 on or prior to the Closing Date) (the
“ABL Revolving Facility”), in each case subject to the applicable borrowing base and on the terms and conditions set forth in that certain Senior Secured
Loan Facility Second Amended and Restated Commitment Letter, dated on or about the date hereof (the “ ABL Commitment Letter”), by and among the
Company, MLPFS, as arranger, Bank of America, N.A., as agent and the other parties thereto, with such changes thereto which are reasonably satisfactory to
the Initial Lenders (the “ABL Loan Facility”; such loans made under the ABL FILO Term Facility the “ ABL FILO Loans”, such loans made under the ABL IP
Term Facility the “ABL IP Loans” and such loans made under the ABL Revolving Facility the “ABL Revolving Loans” collectively, the “ABL Loans”; and
the commitments to make such ABL FILO Loans the “ABL FILO Commitments”, the commitments to make such ABL IP Loans the “ABL IP Commitments”
and the commitments to make such ABL Revolving Loans the “ABL Revolving Commitments”, collectively the “ABL Commitments”), which shall be
secured by liens that are subordinated to the liens securing the Term Loan Facility, except for the liens on the ABL Priority Collateral (as defined in Exhibit
B) which will be senior to the liens securing the Term Loan Facility. It is understood and agreed that, at the election of the Borrowers and the other parties to
the ABL Commitment Letter, the ABL IP Term Facility may be reduced on or prior to the Closing Date and the ABL FILO Term Facility and/or the ABL
Revolving Facility may be increased (in addition to any increase on or prior to the Closing Date effected pursuant to the accordion provisions of the ABL
Commitment Letter) by an aggregate amount not to exceed the aggregate principal amount of such reduction in the ABL IP Term Facility.
(f) The fees, premiums, expenses and other transaction costs incurred in connection with the Transactions that are due and payable on or prior to the
Closing Date (the “Transaction Costs”) will be paid.
(g) The proceeds of the Term Loan Facility and ABL Loan Facility will be used to pay the consideration and other amounts owing in connection
with the Acquisition under the Acquisition Agreement, to pay all or a portion of the Transaction Costs and for general corporate purposes.
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The Acquisition, the Release, the Term Loan Facility, the ABL Loan Facility and the other transactions described above or related thereto are collectively
referred to as the “Transactions”.
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EXHIBIT B
TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED COMMITMENT LETTER
FRED’S, INC.
$550,000,000 Senior Secured Term Loan Facility
(“Term Loan Facility”)
Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions
June 9, 2017
This Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions (the “Term Sheet ”) is part of the amended and restated commitment letter, dated June 9, 2017 (the
“Commitment Letter”), addressed to Fred’s, Inc. (the “Company”) by Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (together, with its designated
affiliates, “MLPFS”), TPG Specialty Lending Inc. and its affiliated funds signatory hereto (collectively, “TPG”), the affiliated funds of Birch Grove Capital
LP signatory thereto (collectively, “Birch Grove”), Crystal Financial LLC (“Crystal”), Gordon Brothers Finance Company, LLC (“GBFC”), Pathlight Capital
LLC (“Pathlight”), Silver Point Specialty Credit Fund, L.P. (“Silver Point”), Tennenbaum Capital Partners, LLC (“Tennenbaum”) and Great American Capital
Partners, LLC (“GACP” and, together with TPG, Birch Grove, Crystal, GBFC, Pathlight, Silver Point and Tennenbaum, collectively, the “ Original Initial
Lenders”), the affiliated funds of Apollo Global Management signatory thereto (collectively, “ Apollo”), the affiliated funds of Cerberus Business Finance
LLC signatory thereto (collectively, “Cerberus”), KKR Credit Advisors US LLC on behalf of itself and certain of its affiliates and managed funds and
accounts (“KKR”) and White Oak Asset Finance (“White Oak” and, together with Apollo, Cerberus and KKR, collectively, the “ New Initial Lenders” and,
together with the Original Initial Lenders, collectively, the “Initial Lenders”; the Initial Lenders together with MLPFS, each individually a “Commitment
Party” and collectively, the “Commitment Parties”), and is subject to the terms and conditions of the Commitment Letter. Capitalized terms used herein and
the accompanying annexes shall have the meanings set forth in the Commitment Letter unless otherwise defined herein.
Borrowers:

The Company, AFAE, LLC and any other wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company organized under the laws of
the United States or a State or instrumentality thereof with assets to be included in the Borrowing Base
(individually, a “Borrower” and collectively, “Borrowers”). All references to Borrowers shall mean such
subsidiaries of the Company after giving effect to the Acquisition.

Guarantors:

Each of the Company’s existing and subsequently acquired or organized direct or indirect subsidiaries that are not
Borrowers (collectively, the “Guarantors”, and together with Borrowers, individually a “Loan Party” and
collectively, “Loan Parties” ); provided, that, Guarantors shall not include (a) any non-US subsidiary of the
Company organized or acquired after the Closing Date that is a “controlled foreign corporation” (within the
meaning of Section 957 of the Internal Revenue Code) (“CFC”) and any U.S. subsidiary of the Company that is
treated as a “disregarded entity” for federal income tax purposes the sole assets of which are equity interests in
CFCs and that has no material assets or material operations other than the equity interests of CFC’s (such entity, a
“CFC Holdco”), (b) immaterial subsidiaries (to be defined in a mutually acceptable manner as to individual and
aggregate revenues and assets), and (c) special purpose entities whose only assets consist of real estate,
improvements and fixtures thereon that are subject to existing mortgages to secure debt for borrowed
money. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event any holder of any debt for borrowed money of any Loan Party
obtains any guaranty from any such CFC or such CFC Holdco, then, in such event, such CFC and/or CFC Holdco
shall be required to provide a guaranty of the obligations under the Term Loan Facility.
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Administrative Agent:

TPG (in such capacity, “Administrative Agent”).

Lenders:

TPG, Crystal, GACP, GBFC, Pathlight, Tennenbaum, Apollo, Birch Grove, Cerberus, KKR and Silver Point and
such other institutions as may become parties to the Term Loan Facility as lenders (collectively “Term Loan
Lenders”) but not including any Disqualified Lenders.
The term “Disqualified Lender” means (i) any natural person, (ii) those banks, financial institutions and other
institutional lenders and investors that have been separately identified in writing by the Company to
Administrative Agent and Initial Lenders prior to the date of the Original Commitment Letter, (iii) those persons
that are competitors of the Company that are separately identified by the Company to the Administrative Agent
and Initial Lenders in writing (it being understood and agreed that any bona fide debt funds or any financial
investors in such persons shall not constitute a competitor thereof) prior to the date of the Original Commitment
Letter or from time to time thereafter (and if after the date of the Original Commitment Letter subject to the
approval of Administrative Agent and provided that such notice shall not apply to retroactively disqualify any
parties that have previously acquired an assignment of or participation interest in the Term Loans), and (iv) in the
case of each of clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), any of their affiliates that are clearly identifiable as such by their names or
identified in writing by the Company to the Administrative Agent.

Joint Lead Arrangers and
Bookrunners:

MLPFS (in such capacity, “Lead Arranger”) and TPG (collectively with the Lead Arranger, the “Arrangers”).

Co-Documentation Agents:

GBFC, Crystal and Pathlight (collectively, “Co-Documentation Agents”).

Term Loan Facility:

The Term Loan Facility will consist of a senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of
$550,000,000 provided to Borrowers, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein. Borrowers shall have
the option to permanently reduce the amount of the commitments under the Term Loan Facility, on a pro rata
basis, in the aggregate amount of up to $50,000,000 on or prior to the Closing Date, provided that (i) Borrowers
shall have delivered written notice to the Initial Lenders stating the amount of such reduction, and (ii) the ABL
Commitments shall be increased in the amount equal to the amount of the reduction. Amounts under the Term
Loan Facility will be available in U.S. dollars.
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Term Loans under the Term Loan Facility (the “Term Loans”) shall be made in two drawings. The first drawing (the
“Initial Draw”) shall be in an aggregate principal amount of at least $325,000,000 and shall be made by the
Borrowers on or before the tenth (10 th ) business day after the Closing Date. The second drawing (the “Delayed
Draw”) shall be made by the Borrowers on or before the earlier of (i) the date that is ninety (90) days after the
Closing Date and (ii) the acquisition by the Company (through one or more of its wholly-owned domestic
subsidiaries) of 600 Acquired Stores (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) in the aggregate (the “Outside Draw
Date”). Repayments and prepayments of the Term Loans may not be reborrowed.
Upon the funding of any Term Loan, the commitments in the amount of such Term Loan shall automatically
terminate. On the Outside Draw Date, any unused commitments under the Term Loan Facility shall automatically
terminate and the ability to request the Delayed Draw shall automatically terminate.
The Company will be appointed to act as the agent for Loan Parties for all purposes of dealing with Administrative
Agent and the Term Loan Lenders, including requesting Term Loans.
Amortization:

Commencing on the first day after the first full calendar quarter after the second anniversary of the Closing Date,
the Term Loans will be repaid in consecutive equal quarterly installments of principal in an amount equal to
1.25% of the aggregate Term Loan commitments on the Closing Date, with the final installment to be in the then
remaining balance of the Term Loan (and including principal, accrued and unpaid interest and other amounts) due
on the Maturity Date.

Term Loan Borrowing Base:

To the extent that, at any time, and for so long as, the outstanding amount of the Term Loans exceeds the Term
Loan Borrowing Base then in effect, the ABL Loan Agent shall establish and maintain a reserve (the “Term Loan
Push Down Reserve”) against the “Borrowing Base” under the ABL Loan Facility equal to the amount of such
excess.
“Term Loan Borrowing Base” means the amount calculated as follows:
(a) 10% of the face amount of eligible credit card receivables of Borrowers; plus
(b) 10% of the net amount of eligible pharmacy receivables of Borrowers; plus
(c) 10% of the Net Recovery Percentage of eligible merchandise inventory (other than pharmacy inventory) of
Borrowers multiplied by the value of such eligible inventory; plus
(d) 10% of the Net Recovery Percentage of eligible pharmacy inventory of Borrowers multiplied by the value of
such eligible inventory; plus
(e) Term Loan Pharmacy Scripts Availability (defined below).
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The “value” of each category of eligible inventory will be determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles as consistently applied by the Company pursuant to its then current practices (or in the case
of certain categories of inventory to be specified by ABL Loan Agent, the retail value thereof), but in any event at
all times consistent with the practices used in the most recent field examination and appraisals that have been
received by ABL Loan Agent in accordance with the Loan Documents.
The following defined terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth below:
“Net Recovery Percentage” means the fraction, expressed as a percentage (a) the numerator of which is the amount
equal to the recovery on the aggregate amount of the applicable category of eligible inventory at such time on a
“going out of business” basis (or, in the case of any Acquired Store (through the period during which the
Transition Services Agreement is in effect), on a “store closing sale” basis) as set forth in the most recent
acceptable inventory appraisal received by ABL Loan Agent in accordance with the requirements of the Loan
Documents, net of operating expenses, liquidation expenses and commissions reasonably anticipated in the
disposition of such assets and (b) the denominator of which is the original cost (or as to certain categories of
inventory as specified by ABL Loan Agent, the retail value) of the aggregate amount of the eligible inventory
subject to such appraisal.
“Pharmacy Scripts Advance Rate” means 75% on the Closing Date, which percentage shall be reduced on the first
day of each fiscal quarter, commencing with the first day after the first full fiscal quarter of the Borrowers occurring
after the second anniversary of the Closing Date, by the required quarterly amortization under the Term Loan
Facility divided the then applicable Aggregate Pharmacy Scripts Value (as defined below).
“Term Loan Pharmacy Scripts Availability” means the lowest of:
(a) The sum of (i) the Pharmacy Scripts Advance Rate multiplied by the product of (x) the average per script “net
orderly liquidation value” of eligible prescription files (“pharmacy scripts”) based on the most recent
acceptable appraisal received by ABL Loan Agent in accordance with the requirements of the Loan
Documents, net of operating expenses, liquidation expenses and commissions reasonably anticipated in the
disposition of such assets (“Pharmacy Scripts NOLV”), multiplied by (y) the number of eligible pharmacy
scripts (the product of (x) and (y) being the “Aggregate Pharmacy Script Value”), minus (ii) the sum of (x) the
“Pharmacy Scripts Availability”, if any and (y) the “FILO Pharmacy Scripts Availability” whether or not the
ABL FILO Term Loan has been drawn (as such terms are defined in the “Borrowing Base” and the “FILO
Borrowing Base”, as applicable, under the ABL Loan Facility), or
(b ) the amount equal to 85% of the Term Loan Cap (determined without regard to this limitation in this clause
(b)).
“Term Loan Cap ” means, at any time of determination, the lesser of (a) the then outstanding principal amount of
the Term Loans plus the unused Term Loan commitments and (b) the Term Loan Borrowing Base.
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Eligibility:

Criteria for determining eligible credit card receivables, eligible pharmacy receivables, eligible merchandise
inventory, eligible pharmacy inventory, and eligible pharmacy scripts will be in the permitted discretion of ABL
Loan Agent in accordance with ABL Loan Agent’s customary practices and as appropriate under the circumstances
as determined by ABL Loan Agent pursuant to field examinations and other due diligence (it being understood
that eligibility criteria with respect to the foregoing as of the Closing Date shall be mutually acceptable to the
“Collateral Agents” under the ABL Loan Facility and the Initial Lenders).

Optional Prepayments:

Subject to the Early Termination Fee provided in the Initial Lender Fee Letter, Term Loans may be prepaid in
whole or in part from time to time at the option of Borrowers, upon notice and in minimum principal amounts and
multiples to be agreed and will be applied to installments of principal in the inverse order of maturity (and
including all breakage or similar costs, if any).

Mandatory Prepayments:

Borrowers will be required to make prepayments:
(a)

in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of asset dispositions (except for (i) dispositions in
connection with any Permitted Real Estate Financings (as hereinafter defined) or (ii) dispositions resulting
from casualty losses or condemnations and subject to exceptions to the extent mutually agreed upon and
including sales in the ordinary course of business, but not any bulk sales);

(b) in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of any debt issued by any Loan Party or its subsidiaries
(other than indebtedness under Permitted Real Estate Financings and certain other categories of permitted
debt to be specified);
(c)

in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of any equity issuance by any Loan Party or its
subsidiaries (other than equity issuances by a Loan Party or its subsidiary to its or their members or
management and other employees, in each case as to such members, management or other employees pursuant
to employee stock or option plans approved by the board of directors and other exceptions to be agreed);

(d)

in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds of casualty insurance and condemnation receipts
received by any Loan Party or its subsidiaries, subject to reinvestment rights to be agreed;

(e) in an amount equal to 100% of the net proceeds of extraordinary receipts (the definition of which is to be
agreed), except for proceeds less than an amount to be agreed; and
(f) in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash proceeds received from the Permitted Real Estate Financings.
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Mandatory prepayments specified in clauses (a) through (e) will be applied first to the ABL Loans (without
permanent reduction in commitments), and to cash collateralize Letters of Credit in the event that the asset sold or
that is the basis for the receipts is ABL Priority Collateral or first to the Term Loans in the event that the asset sold
is the basis for the receipts is Term Loan Priority Collateral; provided that, if the Prepayment Exception
Conditions are satisfied at the time of a prepayment under clauses (b) or (c) above, such amounts may (at the sole
discretion of the Borrowers) be applied first to the Term Loans and thereafter to the ABL Loans (and in the case of
the ABL Revolving Loans, without permanent reduction in commitments), and to cash collateralize Letters of
Credit. Mandatory prepayments specified in clause (f) will be applied as provided in the definition of Permitted
Real Estate Financings. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, subject to customary terms and
conditions, each Term Loan Lender shall be entitled to decline its pro rata share of any mandatory prepayment
specified in clause (d) or (f) above (other than any prepayment resulting from a refinancing of all or a portion of the
Term Loan Facility).
The “Prepayment Exception Conditions” means: (A) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, (B) Excess Availability for the immediately preceding 30 consecutive day period shall have been (i)
for the period from the Closing Date through the second anniversary of the Closing Date, not less than the greater
of (1) 35% of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $600,000,000 and (ii) thereafter, not less than the greater of (1) 30%
of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $535,000,000, (C) after giving effect to any such prepayment, the Excess
Availability shall be not less than the greater of such amounts in the foregoing clause (B), (D) Excess Availability
as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12) months following such payment shall be not
less than the greater of such amounts in the foregoing clause (B), and (E) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, on a
pro forma basis, after giving effect to the specified transaction the proceeds of which are proposed to be used to
make such prepayment (x) based on the most recent financial statement received by Agent prior to the date thereof
for the 12 month period prior thereto and (y) as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12)
months following such specified transaction, in each case of clause (x) and (y), shall be not less than 1.00 to 1.00.
Interest and Fees:

See Schedules 1 and 2 attached hereto.

Use of Proceeds:

The proceeds of the Term Loans will be used by Borrowers (a) to pay costs, expenses and fees in connection with
the Term Loan Facility, the Acquisition and the other Transactions, (b) for payment of consideration for the
acquisition of additional retail stores and related assets and/or the Acquired Distribution Centers pursuant to, and
in accordance with the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, and (c) to pay down the ABL Loan Facility without
permanent reduction in commitments thereunder.

Closing Date:

The date on or before July 31, 2017 (or to the extent that the Company has extended the Stated Commitment
Termination Date in accordance with the terms of this Commitment Letter, the date on or before the Extended
Commitment Termination Date) on which the conditions set forth in Section 6 of the Commitment Letter are
satisfied or waived (the “Closing Date”).
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Term:

5 years from the Closing Date (the “Maturity Date”).

Collateral:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the limitations set forth below, to secure all obligations of each Loan
Party, (a) first priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens), perfected security interests in and liens on all
Term Loan Priority Collateral and (b) second priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens), perfected
security interests in and liens on all ABL Priority Collateral subordinate only to the liens securing the ABL Loan
Facility pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement (as defined below).
“AB L Priority Collateral” means all present and future assets and properties of the Loan Parties, including (a)
accounts (other than accounts arising under contracts for sale of Term Loan Priority Collateral as such term is
defined below) and payment intangibles, including credit card receivables, (b) general intangibles (including all
intellectual property and loans or advances payable by a Loan Party to any other Loan Party) and prescription
files, (c) chattel paper (other than chattel paper relating to Term Loan Priority Collateral), (d) documents, (e)
instruments (including any promissory notes), (f) supporting obligations, (g) letters of credit and letter-of-credit
rights, (h) deposit and securities accounts, investment property (including any stock or other equity or ownership
interests in the subsidiaries and affiliates of each Loan Party), (i) commercial tort claims, (j) inventory, (k) all
books, records and documents related to the foregoing (including databases, customer lists and other records,
whether tangible or electronic, which contain any information relating to any of the foregoing) and (l) all proceeds
and products of any or all of the foregoing in whatever form received, including proceeds of business interruption
and other insurance and claims against third parties), other than (x) Excluded Assets or (y) to the extent
constituting Term Loan Priority Collateral.
“Term Loan Priority Collateral” means all present and future assets and properties of the Loan Parties consisting of
(a) equipment, (b) fixtures, (c) motor vehicles, (d) fee and leasehold real property (including improvements and
rights related thereto), (e) any deposit account used exclusively for the deposit of proceeds of Term Loan Priority
Collateral, (f) to the extent evidencing, governing, securing or otherwise related to any of the foregoing and the
other Term Loan Priority Collateral, documents, general intangibles (excluding all intellectual property, any loans
or advances payable by a Loan Party to any other Loan Party and all prescription files), chattel paper, instruments,
investment property (excluding any stock or other equity or ownership interests in the subsidiaries and affiliates of
each Loan Party), commercial tort claims, letters of credit, supporting obligations and letter of credit rights, (g)
accounts arising from contracts of sale of Term Loan Priority Collateral and (h) all proceeds and products of any or
all of the foregoing in whatever form received (but not including proceeds of business interruption insurance or
any identifiable proceeds of ABL Priority Collateral), other than Excluded Assets.
“Collateral” means the ABL Priority Collateral and the Term Loan Priority Collateral.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Collateral shall not include the following (the
“Excluded Assets”): (a) shares of any subsidiary that is a CFC or a CFC Holdco, in each case in excess of sixty-five
percent of all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of such subsidiary entitled to vote to secure the
obligations of Borrowers, if a pledge of a greater percentage would result in material adverse tax consequences to
the Company, (b) leasehold interests in real property, but only to the extent granting such lien is expressly
prohibited by such lease, (c) deposit accounts exclusively used for trust, payroll, payroll taxes and other employee
wage and benefit payments to or for the benefit of any Loan Party’s employees, (d) any rights or interests in any
contract, agreement, lease, permit, license, charter or license agreement, as such, if under the terms of such contract,
agreement, lease, permit, license, charter or license agreement covering real or personal property, or applicable law
with respect thereto, the valid grant of a security interest or lien therein to Administrative Agent would constitute
or result in a breach, termination or default under such contract, agreement, lease, permit, license, charter or license
agreement and such breach, termination or default has not been or is not waived or the consent of the other party to
such contract, agreement, lease, permit, license, charter or license agreement has not been or is not otherwise
obtained or under applicable law such prohibition cannot be waived; provided, that, the foregoing exclusion shall
in no way be construed (i) to apply if any such prohibition is unenforceable under Sections 9-406, 9-407 or 9-408
of the Uniform Commercial Code or other applicable law or (ii) so as to limit, impair or otherwise affect
Administrative Agent’s unconditional continuing security interests in and liens upon any rights or interests of a
Loan Party in or to monies due or to become due under any such contract, lease, permit, license, charter or license
agreement, (e) any United States intent-to-use trademark applications to the extent that, and solely during the
period in which, the grant of a security interest therein would impair the validity or enforceability of such intentto-use trademark applications under applicable federal law; provided, that, upon submission and acceptance by the
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office of an amendment to allege use pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 1060(a), such
intent-to-use trademark application shall be considered Collateral, (f) any governmental licenses or state or local
franchises, charters and authorizations, to the extent security interests in such licenses, franchises, charters or
authorizations are prohibited thereby, provided, that, the foregoing exclusion shall in no way be construed (i) to
apply if any such prohibition is unenforceable under the Uniform Commercial Code or other applicable law or (ii)
so as to limit, impair or otherwise affect Administrative Agent’s unconditional continuing security interests in and
liens upon any proceeds thereof, (g) equipment owned by any Loan Party on the Closing Date or thereafter
acquired that is subject to a lien securing a purchase money obligation or capitalized lease permitted to be
incurred pursuant to the Loan Document if the contract or other agreement in which such lien is granted validly
prohibits the creation of any other lien on such equipment, and (h) pledges and security interests prohibited by
applicable law, rule or regulation (including any legally effective requirement to obtain the consent of any
governmental authority). Proceeds of Excluded Assets shall be deemed Collateral.
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In addition, no actions will be required by Loan Parties to perfect security interests in (i) commercial tort claims
with a value of less than an amount to be agreed, (ii) promissory notes in an principal amount of less than an
amount to be agreed, (iii) share certificates of subsidiaries organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside of the
United States or Canada and (iv) store deposit accounts which are not maintained at a depository bank where other
deposit accounts are and so long as funds in such accounts are remitted to a concentration account on a daily basis
or other regular periodic basis in a manner consistent with the requirements contained under the heading “Cash
Management”.
As to specific items of Collateral, Administrative Agent may determine not to perfect its security interest therein
based on the de minimus value thereof relative to the costs of such perfection. The obligations secured shall
include hedging and bank product obligations of any Loan Party where a Term Loan Lender or an affiliate of a
Term Loan Lender is a counterparty.
Intercreditor arrangements between Administrative Agent and the agent or other representative for the ABL Loan
Facility (the “ABL Loan Agent ”) will be set forth in an intercreditor agreement (the “Intercreditor Agreement ”),
which will be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D, subject to such revisions as may be agreed by
the Administrative Agent, the Majority Initial Lenders and the ABL Loan Agent.
Documentation:

Definitive loan documentation (collectively, the “Loan Documents”), including, without limitation, a term loan
agreement, security agreements, pledge agreements, guarantees, control agreements, mortgages, evidence of
insurance coverage, lender’s loss payable endorsements as to casualty and business interruption insurance,
mortgagee’s title insurance (with satisfactory endorsements and coverage for matters disclosed by surveys), flood
certificates and evidence of flood insurance for all fee and leasehold real property subject to a mortgage, the
Intercreditor Agreement, lien search results, customary opinion letters of counsel to the Loan Parties, collateral
access agreements, collateral assignment of rights under acquisition documents (including any transition services
agreement), payoff letters, borrowing base certificate and documents and agreements related to all of the foregoing,
each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, Administrative Agent and Initial Lenders.
The terms and provisions of the Loan Documents will be mutually agreed upon, the terms of which (including
materiality thresholds, baskets, exceptions, qualifications and grace periods) will be negotiated in good faith
(giving due regard to the operational requirements, size, industry, businesses, financial condition, leverage, capital
structure, projected performance, reporting and accounting systems, Excess Availability, collateral and practices of
the Company and its subsidiaries, the Transactions, and the practices and procedures of the Administrative Agent
and the asset-based lending market), and will be consistent with this Term Sheet (the “Documentation
Principles”).
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With respect to lien waivers and access agreements from lessors of leased real property or operators of premises
where inventory or books and records of Borrowers are located, Borrowers shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to obtain such agreements prior to closing for the corporate headquarters, distribution centers and
warehouses (but not for retail store locations) and to the extent not delivered prior to closing, shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such agreements thereafter. To the extent that Administrative Agent has
not received a reasonably acceptable lien waiver and access agreement for a leased or third party location of any
Loan Party consisting of a warehouse, distribution center or store location in a state where a landlord has a lien
under applicable law, ABL Loan Agent shall establish a one-month reserve in respect of amounts payable under
the applicable lease or other agreement with such lessor or operator subject to certain limitations to be agreed.
The real estate mortgages in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Term Loan Lenders shall be
filed no later than sixty (60) days after the date of the Closing Date (or such later period as the Administrative
Agent may agree), provided that mortgages shall not be required with respect to real estate that has a value below
$100,000.
Borrowers shall use their best efforts to deliver certificates of title with respect to motor vehicles to the
Administrative Agent upon the Administrative Agent’s request if (i) an Event of Default has occurred or (ii) Excess
Availability is less than or equal to 25% of the Combined Loan Cap.
Representations and Warranties:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the Documentation Principles, limited to the following, and subject to
materiality and other negotiated limitations and exceptions, in each case as agreed by the parties, the term loan
agreement governing the Term Loan Facility will contain the following representations and warranties: due
organization and qualification; accuracy of financial information; subsidiaries; due authorization; no conflict;
governmental consents; binding obligations; perfected liens; title to assets; no encumbrances; jurisdiction of
organization; location of chief executive office; organizational identification number; commercial tort claims;
litigation; compliance with law (including regulatory and licensing requirements), regulation, etc. (including
without limitation Regulations T, U and X, Investment Company Act, the USA Patriot Act, environmental laws,
FCPA, OFAC and other anti-terrorism laws); no material adverse change; fraudulent transfer; solvency; ERISA
compliance; employee and labor matters; environmental matters; intellectual property; leases; deposit accounts
and securities accounts; complete disclosure; material contracts; indebtedness; payment of taxes; margin stock;
the Acquisition and acquisition documents (including the Acquisition Agreement and the Transition Services
Agreement); eligible credit card receivables, eligible pharmacy receivables, eligible inventory, eligible
prescription files and other eligible assets; location of inventory and equipment; inventory records; insurance; no
default; no brokers; equity interests; customer and trade relations; no casualty.
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Affirmative Covenants:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the Documentation Principles, limited to the following, and subject to
materiality and other negotiated limitations and exceptions, in each case as agreed by the parties, the term loan
agreement governing the Term Loan Facility will contain the following affirmative covenants: financial
statements, financial projections, management letters and other information; notices of defaults, litigation and
other material events; collateral matters (including without limitation, reporting, notices and appraisal
requirements); payment of obligations; cash management; reports and certificates; existence; maintenance of
properties, including implementation and maintenance of appropriate systems; taxes; insurance; inspection;
compliance with laws (including without limitation the USA Patriot Act, FCPA, OFAC and other anti-terrorism
laws and Medicaid/Medicare or other regulatory laws); environmental; disclosure updates; formation of
subsidiaries; senior debt status; bank products; accounting changes; further assurances; additional loan parties;
lender meetings; material contracts (including the Acquisition Agreement and the Transition Services Agreement);
employee and labor matters; new locations of Collateral; use of proceeds; compliance with terms of leaseholds;
books and records; accountants; physical inventories; ERISA matters.

Collateral and Financial Reporting:

Collateral and financial reporting shall be usual and customary for facilities of this nature and as may be deemed
appropriate by Administrative Agent, including:
(a) At any time prior to the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired 90% of all retail store locations (and
related assets) required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, weekly borrowing base
certificates (except that, in connection with a Subsequent Closing, such borrowing base certificate may be
delivered upon the consummation of a Subsequent Closing) and, thereafter, monthly borrowing base
certificates so long as Excess Availability is not less than the greater of (i) 20.0% of the Combined Loan Cap
or (ii) $335,000,000 and no default or event of default exists, otherwise weekly; provided that, at any time
borrowing base certificates are delivered on a weekly basis, such borrowing base certificates shall continue to
be delivered weekly until the later of (A) the date that is four consecutive weeks after such weekly reporting
commenced and (B) (1) if such weekly reporting commenced as a result of the occurrence of any default or
event of default, the date that no default or event of default is continuing, and/or (2) if such weekly reporting
commenced as a result of the Borrowers’ failure to maintain Excess Availability as required above, the date
that Excess Availability shall have exceeded such levels, at all times, for a period of thirty (30) consecutive
days;
(b) ABL Loan Agent shall cause (i) two (2) field examinations and two (2) appraisals of each of inventory and
pharmacy scripts in each 12 month period to be conducted at the expense of Borrowers, provided that (ii) at
any time Excess Availability is less than the greater of (A) 20.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (B)
$335,000,000, ABL Loan Agent shall cause a third field examination and a third appraisal of each of
inventory and pharmacy scripts to be conducted in such 12 month period at the expense of Borrowers.
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Subject to customary terms and conditions set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement (including customary prior
notice periods and opportunity for ABL Loan Agent to conduct any such appraisal or field exam), in the event
that the ABL Loan Agent has not conducted such appraisals, and field examinations in accordance with the
cadence set forth in clause (i) above or, as mutually agreed by the Administrative Agent and Term Loan
Lenders, clause (ii) above (to the extent applicable), and provided the results of such appraisals and field
exams to the Administrative Agent, Administrative Agent may cause such appraisals and/or field
examinations to be conducted at the expense of Borrowers, which appraisal or field exam shall be utilized by
the ABL Loan Agent in connection with determining “eligibility”, the applicable Net Recovery Percentage
and the Pharmacy Script NOLV, provided that the amount available to be borrowed under the Borrowing Base
o r the FILO Loan Borrowing Base under the ABL Loan Facility does not increase. All appraisals and field
exams shall be (x) conducted by appraisers and firms that are reasonably acceptable to the Administrative
Agent (it being agreed that Tiger Capital Group, LLC and Hilco Merchant Resources are deemed to be
reasonably acceptable appraisers with respect to inventory and pharmacy scripts and Nardella & Taylor, LLP
and Richter Consulting are deemed to be reasonably acceptable field examiners) and (y) satisfactory in scope
to the Administrative Agent (it being agreed that the scope of the most recent appraisals and field
examinations are satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and upon any changes in circumstance or financial
condition of Borrowers, the Administrative Agent shall have the reasonable opportunity to consult with the
ABL Loan Agent regarding any required changes to such scope);
(c) Monthly financial statements, annual unqualified audited financial statements and projections;
(d) Other financial and collateral reports (including rolling 13-week cash flow projections and reporting); and
(e) Prior to the Closing Date the Company shall provide monthly financial statements for Fred’s Inc. and shall use
reasonable best efforts to cause the Seller to deliver monthly financial statements for the 1,200 retail stores of
the Acquired Business including the 4-Wall EBITDA.
The term “Excess Availability” as used herein means, at any time, (i) the ABL Loan Cap at such time (plus, with
respect to the ABL FILO Term Facility and the ABL IP Term Facility, at any time prior to the date that is ninety
(90) days after the Closing Date and solely to the extent the ABL FILO Term Facility and/or the ABL IP Term
Facility, as applicable, is not funded, the sum of (A) the lesser of (x) the FILO Borrowing Base under the ABL Loan
Facility and (y) the ABL FILO Commitments and (B) the lesser of (x) the ABL IP Borrowing Base under the ABL
Loan Facility and (y) the ABL IP Commitments), minus (ii) the ABL Revolving Loans and Letters of Credit then
outstanding. At all times Excess Availability is tested the Borrowers shall certify to the Administrative Agent and
the Term Loan Lenders that all expenses, including rent, trade payables and amounts due under the Transition
Services Agreement have been paid in the ordinary course of business, in all material respects.
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“Combined Loan Cap” shall have the meaning set forth in the ABL Commitment Letter.
The term “ABL Loan Cap” as used herein means, at any time, the lesser of (i) the “Borrowing Base” under the ABL
Loan Facility at such time and (ii) the aggregate amount of the ABL Revolving Commitments.
Through the later of the date that is (x) the six (6) month anniversary of the Closing Date and (y) sixty (60) days
following the date that the Borrowers shall have acquired 80% of all retail store locations (and related assets)
required to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the ABL Loan Agent will, at the expense of the
Borrowers, retain Berkeley Research Group, LLC as a consultant and financial advisor (“Advisor”) to provide: (i)
financial reporting and borrowing base validation services (including, without limitation, rolling 13-week cash
flow projections and reporting); (ii) pre-close evaluation of the cash management and collateral reporting available
off the clone system following a month-end close during the ten (10) store pre-close testing project; (iii) progress
reporting on the Company’s progress relating to integration and Transition Services Agreement processes; (iv)
evaluation of the satisfactory integration (during such period of engagement) and plan of integration of the ERP
system; and (v) financial advisory services as requested by the ABL Loan Agent and Administrative Agent. Any
and all reports prepared by the Advisor shall be provided to the Administrative Agent and Initial Lenders. ABL
Loan Agent shall cause the Advisor, from time to time upon reasonable advance request by the Administrative
Agent and the Initial Lenders (but, in any event, not more frequently than one time per week), to participate in
status calls with the Administrative Agent and the Initial Lenders with respect to the services performed and reports
prepared by the Advisor.
Cash Management:

As of the Closing Date, Loan Parties shall have a cash management system in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to ABL Loan Agent and Administrative Agent (it being understood that a cash management system
similar in function to that of Rite Aid Corporation shall be satisfactory to ABL Loan Agent and Administrative
Agent). Loan Parties will direct all credit card issuers and processors, and those customers making payments on
receivables, to remit payments to deposit accounts that, subject to the Certain Funds Provision, are the subject of
control agreements among the applicable Loan Party, Administrative Agent, ABL Loan Agent and the depository
bank in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to ABL Loan Agent and Administrative Agent and Loan
Parties will be required to promptly remit any payments received by them to these accounts. Funds deposited into
the deposit accounts of Loan Parties shall be remitted to ABL Loan Agent for application to the obligations upon a
Cash Dominion Event.
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“Cash Dominion Event” means (a) Excess Availability is less than the greater of (i) 15.0% of the Combined Loan
Cap at any time or (ii) $270,000,000, or (b) an event of default exists or has occurred and is continuing; provided,
that,
(i)

to the extent that the Cash Dominion Event has occurred due to clause (a) of this definition, if Excess
Availability shall be equal to or greater than the applicable amount for at least 30 consecutive days, the
Cash Dominion Event shall no longer be deemed to exist or be continuing until such time as Excess
Availability may again be less than the amount in clause (a) of this definition, and

(ii) to the extent that the Cash Dominion Event has occurred due to clause (b) of this definition, if such event
of default is cured or waived or otherwise no longer exists, the Cash Dominion Event shall no longer be
deemed to exist or be continuing.
Financial Covenant:

Borrowers shall maintain minimum Excess Availability at all times equal to the greater of (a) the sum of (i) 10% of
the lesser of (A) the Maximum Credit (as defined in the ABL Commitment Letter), plus the then outstanding
principal amount of the term loans and commitments under the ABL FILO Term Facility, plus the then outstanding
principal amount of the term loans and commitments under the ABL IP Term Facility, and (B) the sum of the
Borrowing Base (without giving effect to the ABL FILO Push Down Reserve, ABL IP Push Down Reserve or the
Term Loan Push Down Reserve), plus the FILO Borrowing Base, plus the ABL IP Borrowing Base (as each such
term in this clause (B) is defined in the ABL Commitment Letter), and (ii) 5% of the Term Loan Cap, and (b) (x)
from the Closing Date through the 60 day anniversary of the Closing Date, $135,000,000 and (y) thereafter,
$175,000,000.

Negative Covenants:

Subject to the Certain Funds Provisions and the Documentation Principles, limited to the following, and subject to
materiality and other negotiated limitations and exceptions (including baskets in amounts to be agreed for certain
covenants), in each case as agreed by the parties, the term loan agreement governing the Term Loan Facility will
contain the following negative covenants: dividends, distributions, redemptions and repurchases of capital stock;
incurrence of debt (including capital leases, provided that indebtedness in respect of Permitted Real Estate
Financings shall be permitted) and guarantees; repurchases, repayments or prepayment of subordinated debt or
optional repurchases, prepayments or other optional payments in respect of other debt; creation or suffering of
liens; loans, investments and acquisitions (including the acquisition of additional store locations under the
Acquisition Agreement after the Closing Date); affiliate transactions; changes in the conduct of business, fiscal
year or accounting practices; asset sales, store closings, mergers, consolidations and other fundamental changes;
restrictions affecting subsidiaries; limitation on amendment of organizational documents and certain material
agreements (including the Acquisition Agreement and Transition Services Agreement); use of proceeds; inventory
and equipment with bailees; bank accounts and credit card arrangements; and burdensome agreements.
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The negative covenant on dividends, redemptions and repurchases of capital stock and on optional prepayments
of indebtedness will expressly allow such dividends, redemptions and repurchases, or such optional prepayments,
provided, that, (i) no such dividends, redemptions and repurchases or optional prepayments may be made on or
before the second anniversary of the Closing Date (other than dividends in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$10,000,000 in any fiscal year, so long as no default or event of default shall have occurred and be continuing or
would result therefrom (including under the Financial Covenant)) and (ii) Loan Parties may make dividends,
redemptions and repurchases of capital stock and on optional prepayments of indebtedness after the second
anniversary of the Closing Date, provided, that, (A) as of the date of any such payment in respect thereof, and after
giving effect thereto, each of the Payment Conditions (as defined below) is satisfied and (B) Administrative Agent
shall have received prior notice and other information related to such transactions in a manner and on terms to be
agreed.
The negative covenants shall permit the Loan Parties to enter into one or more (a) term loan real estate financings
(“Mortgage Financing”) and/or (b) asset dispositions consisting of sale-leaseback transactions (“Sale-Leaseback”
and, together with any Mortgage Financing, collectively, the “Permitted Real Estate Financings”) of owned real
estate and related improvements, in each case solely consisting of the Acquired Distribution Centers so long as (A)
no default or event of default then exists or would arise therefrom, (B) in the case of any Sale-Leaseback, (x) any
disposition of any such property shall be for the fair market value of such property being sold pursuant to such
Sale-Leaseback at the time of such disposition, (y) such Sale-Leaseback is made pursuant to leases on market
terms, and (z) the Loan Parties shall cause each purchaser to enter into a collateral access agreement with the
Administrative Agent on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent (unless otherwise agreed by the
Administrative Agent, which shall not impair the right of the Administrative Agent to impose Reserves), (C) in the
case of any Mortgage Financing, (w) such indebtedness shall not have a maturity date occurring prior to 91 days
after the term of the Term Loan Facility or require amortization payments in excess of monthly straight-line
amortization on a thirty (30) year term, (x) the Liens securing such Mortgage Financing shall not at any time
encumber any property other than the applicable Acquired Distribution Center that is the subject of such
financing, (y) the obligors under any such Mortgage Financing shall not consist of any party that is not a Loan
Party (other than to the limited extent of any SPE holding title to such Acquired Distribution Center), and (z) the
Loan Parties shall cause each holder of indebtedness under such Mortgage Financing (or agent therefor) to enter
into a collateral access agreement with the Administrative Agent on terms reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent (unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent, which shall not impair the right of the
Administrative Agent to impose Reserves), (D) the aggregate Sale-Leaseback amount and indebtedness (including
capitalized lease obligations) incurred pursuant to any such Permitted Real Estate Financings shall not exceed
$125,000,000 at any time outstanding and (E) the net proceeds from any such Permitted Real Estate Financings
shall be applied as follows: (x) up to 30% of such net proceeds to the repayment of the outstanding Term Loan
Facility and (y) the remainder of such net proceeds to the repayment of the ABL Loans (without, in the case of
ABL Revolving Loans, a permanent reduction in commitments) and to cash collateralize Letters of Credit. Any
mortgage, lien or other security interest held by the Administrative Agent with respect to any Acquired
Distribution Center that is the subject of a Permitted Real Estate Financing shall be discharged upon the
consummation of such Permitted Real Estate Financing.
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The negative covenant governing acquisitions after the Closing Date (other than pursuant to the Acquisition
Agreement) will expressly allow an acquisition, provided that, except as otherwise provided below, (i) no
acquisition or series of related acquisitions involving consideration in excess of $40,000,000 per year (of which,
through the first anniversary of the Closing Date, not more than $20,000,000 in the aggregate shall be paid in
consideration of any acquisition of assets not constituting prescription files), in any one case or in the aggregate,
shall occur prior to the second anniversary of the Closing Date; provided that the limitations set forth in this clause
(i) shall no longer apply in the event that Excess Availability as of the fiscal year ended January 2018 is greater
than $500,000,000, (ii) as of the date of any such acquisition and after giving effect thereto, each of the Payment
Conditions is satisfied, (iii) the acquisition shall be with respect to an operating company or division or line of
business that engages in a line of business substantially similar, reasonably related or incidental to the business
that Borrowers are engaged in, (iv) the board of directors (or other comparable governing body) of the person to be
acquired shall have duly approved such acquisition and such person shall not have announced that it will oppose
such acquisition or shall not have commenced any action which alleges that such acquisition will violate
applicable law, and (v) Administrative Agent shall have received prior notice and other information related to such
transactions in a manner and on terms to be mutually agreed.
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The negative covenants will include a provision permitting the acquisition by the Borrowers of additional stores
(and related assets) from Seller under the Acquisition Agreement, provided that the consummation of any such
Subsequent Closing shall be subject only to the following conditions (the “Subsequent Acquisition Conditions”):
(a) the closing of the acquisition of Purchased Assets pursuant to such Subsequent Closing, in accordance with the
Acquisition Agreement, (b) as of the date of any such purchase and after giving effect thereto, Excess Availability
shall be not less than the greater of (x) 25% of the Combined Loan Cap and (y) $200,000,000 (determined after
giving effect to the acquisition of the eligible assets related to such stores), (c) to the extent not previously
provided, the Administrative Agent shall have received customary lien release documents with respect to the assets
then being acquired, (d) Administrative Agent shall have received a current borrowing base certificate with respect
to the assets acquired pursuant to such Subsequent Closing, (e) Administrative Agent shall have received not less
than three business days’ prior written notice of the proposed Subsequent Closing, (f) (i) at any time during the
Acquisition Period (x) the Specified Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects at such time
where not already qualified by materiality or “material adverse effect”, otherwise in all respects, (y) the Acquisition
Agreement Representations (set forth in (1) the first sentence of Section 3.05 (or equivalent substitute provision) of
the Acquisition Agreement, (2) Section 3.09 (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement, (3)
second and third sentence of Section 3.13 (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement, (4)
the last sentence of Section 3.15 (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement, (5) the last
sentence of Section 3.18 (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition Agreement and (6) such other
provisions of the Acquisition Agreement, as mutually agreed by the Arrangers and the Majority Initial Lenders, on
the one hand, and the Borrowers on the other hand) will be true and correct as and to the same extent required by
Section 6 of the Commitment Letter (it being understood that references to “the Acquisition” therein shall for this
purpose refer to such Subsequent Closing) and (z) the Sellers shall have certified to the Borrowers that the
covenants contained in the first sentence of Section 5.01 (or equivalent substitute provision) of the Acquisition
Agreement (with respect to Inventory levels and prescription volumes), Section 5.01(f) (or equivalent substitute
provision) of the Acquisition Agreement and such other Sections of the Acquisition Agreement (as may be
mutually agreed by the Arrangers and the Majority Initial Lenders, on the one hand, and the Borrowers on the
other hand) have been complied with in all material respects; and (ii) at any time after the Acquisition Period or
after the LCT Limitation (as defined in the ABL Commitment Letter) has been exceeded, the Borrowers shall have
satisfied all conditions precedent set forth below under the heading “Conditions Precedent to Initial Draw and
Delayed Draw” with respect to such Term Loans, and (g) Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate of a
responsible officer of the Company certifying and attaching calculations demonstrating (as applicable),
compliance with each of the conditions set forth herein.
“Acquisition Period” means, the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the six-month
anniversary of the Closing Date.
Any new domestic or foreign subsidiary acquired pursuant to an acquisition after the Closing Date will be joined
as a Borrower or Guarantor (except as to any subsidiary that is not required to be a Guarantor) and additional Loan
Documents executed and delivered in connection therewith. Assets acquired after the Closing Date (other than
pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement) will only be eligible after a satisfactory field examination,
appraisal and legal diligence, subject, in all instances (including in respect of assets acquired pursuant to the terms
of the Acquisition Agreement), to reserves and eligibility criteria.
“Payment Conditions” means, at the time of determination with respect to any specified transaction or payment the
following:
(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received unqualified audited financial statements for the fiscal year of
the Borrowers ended January 2019,
(b) as of the date of any such transaction or payment, and after giving effect thereto, no default or event of default
shall exist or have occurred and be continuing,
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(c) as of the date of any such transaction or payment, on a pro forma basis and after giving effect thereto, either:
(i) (A) the Excess Availability for the immediately preceding 30 consecutive day period shall have been not
less than the greater of (1) 20.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $335,000,000, (B) the Excess
Availability on the date of such specified transaction or payment shall be not less than the greater of such
amounts, (C) Excess Availability as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12)
months following such transaction or payment (with certain exceptions to be agreed) shall be not less
than the greater of such amounts and (D) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio based on the most recent
financial statement received by the Administrative Agent prior to the date thereof for the 12 month
period prior thereto, shall be not less than 1.00 to 1.00; or
(i i ) provided that the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for any 12 month period ended on or after the second
anniversary of the Closing Date, shall not have been less than 1.00 to 1.00, (A) the Excess Availability
for the immediately preceding 30 consecutive day period shall have been not less than the greater of (1)
30.0% of the Combined Loan Cap or (2) $500,000,000, (B) the Excess Availability on the date of such
specified transaction or payment shall be not less than the greater of such amounts, and (C) Excess
Availability as projected as of the end of each month for each of the twelve (12) months following such
transaction or payment shall be not less than the greater of such amounts; and,
(d) Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate of an authorized officer of Borrowers certifying as to
compliance with the preceding clauses and demonstrating (in reasonable detail) the calculations required
thereby which is reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Term Loan Lenders.
Borrowers shall not be permitted to draw the ABL FILO Term Loan or the ABL IP Term Loan under the ABL Loan
Facility until the Term Loan Facility is fully funded.
Events of Default:

Limited to the following, subject to the Documentation Principles, and subject to cure periods to be agreed,
materiality and other negotiated limitations, in each case as agreed by the parties, the term loan agreement
governing the Term Loan Facility will contain the following events of default: payment and performance defaults
under any of the Loan Documents, cross-defaults to other material indebtedness (to be defined as indebtedness in
excess of $25,000,000), an early termination date occurs under any swap contract, breach of representations and
warranties, insolvency (whether or not insolvency proceedings have been instituted), voluntary and involuntary
bankruptcy, judgments and attachments in excess of an amount to be agreed (or not subject to stay), non-monetary
judgments that could have a material adverse effect, revocation of (or attempted revocation of) any guaranty,
dissolution, change in control, impairment of a material portion of the security, ERISA, actual or asserted
invalidity or unenforceability of any Loan Documents or liens securing obligations under the Loan Documents,
invalidity of subordination or intercreditor provisions, material uninsured loss, felony indictment, injunction or
court or other governmental order preventing continuing conduct of all or any material part of the business affairs
of the Loan Parties, or suspension or termination of all or a substantial portion of its business.
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Conditions Precedent to Closing:

The conditions precedent to the closing of the Term Loan Facility will consist of those conditions precedent set
forth in Section 6 of the Commitment Letter.

Conditions Precedent to Initial Draw
and Delayed Draw:

The Initial Draw shall be made in one advance on or before ten (10) business days after the Closing Date. The
advance under the Initial Draw shall be subject to (i) five (5) days’ prior written notice from the Company to the
Administrative Agent of the request for the Term Loan in accordance with the procedures set out in the Loan
Documents and (ii) the Draw Conditions (as defined below).
The Delayed Draw shall be made in one advance on or before the Outside Draw Date. The advance under the
Delayed Draw shall be subject to (i) five (5) days’ prior written notice from the Company to the Administrative
Agent of the request for the Term Loan in accordance with the procedures set out in the Loan Documents and (ii)
the Draw Conditions (as defined below).
“Draw Conditions” means, as of the date of any advance under the Term Loan Facility and after giving effect
thereto, (a) Excess Availability shall be not less than the greater of (x) 25% of the Combined Loan Cap and (y)
$200,000,000 (determined after giving pro forma effect to the acquisition of the eligible assets related to stores
acquired on such date as part of a Subsequent Closing that has satisfied the Subsequent Acquisition Conditions),
(b) Administrative Agent shall have received a current borrowing base certificate dated as of the date of such
advance giving effect to the assets acquired pursuant to a Subsequent Closing occurring on such date (if any),
provided that the Subsequent Acquisition Conditions are satisfied with respect to such Subsequent Closing, and
(c) the Specified Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects at such time where not already
qualified by materiality or “material adverse effect”, otherwise in all respects.

Assignments and Participations:

Each Term Loan Lender will be permitted to make assignments of its interest in the Term Loan Facility in a
minimum amount equal to $5,000,000 (other than in the case of assignments to other affiliates, approved funds or
other Term Loan Lenders) to any affiliates, approved funds or other Term Loan Lenders and other financial
institutions (other than Disqualified Lenders) constituting an “eligible assignee”. For the avoidance of doubt, each
of the Approved Assignees shall be deemed to be an “eligible assignee”.
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No assignment or participation may be made to natural persons, any Loan Party or any of their affiliates or
subsidiaries, or any holder of any subordinated debt of a Loan Party or any Disqualified Lenders that have been
identified to Administrative Agent and whose identity is available to each Term Loan Lender on request, provided
that the Term Loan Lenders may make an assignment or participation to Disqualified Lenders after an event of
default. Administrative Agent shall not have any responsibility or obligations to determine whether any Term
Loan Lender or potential Term Loan Lender is a Disqualified Lender and will have no liability with respect to any
assignment to a Disqualified Lender. Each Term Loan Lender may collaterally assign its rights under the Term
Loan Facility to any financing source.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any assignment of a portion of commitments prior to the funding of the Delayed
Draw shall be subject to the Assignment Provisions set forth in paragraph 18 of the Commitment Letter (as though
the references therein to Initial Draw also refer to Delayed Draw).
Amendments and Waivers:

Amendments, waivers and consents with respect to the provisions of the Loan Documents will require the approval
of Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders, provided that, in addition to the approval of Required Lenders,
(a) the consent of each Term Loan Lender directly and adversely affected thereby will be required with respect to
matters relating to (i) increases in the commitment of such Term Loan Lender, (ii) reductions of principal, interest
or fees (provided that a waiver of default interest, default or event of default shall not constitute a reduction of
interest for this purpose), (iii) extensions of final maturity or the due date of any interest, fee or other payments, and
(iv) changes to the order of application of funds and (b) the consent of all Term Loan Lenders will be required with
respect to: (i) modifications of the pro rata sharing requirements of the Loan Documents, (ii) modification of the
voting percentage or change in the definition of “Required Lenders” or any other provisions specifying the
number of Term Loan Lenders or portion of the Loans or commitments required to take any action under the Loan
Documents, (iii) permitting any Borrower to assign its rights under the Loan Documents, (iv) releases of all or
substantially all of the value of the Collateral or guarantees (other than in connection with transactions permitted
pursuant to the Loan Documents), (v) subordination of the lien on Collateral in favor of Administrative Agent
(other than with respect to certain permitted liens to be agreed) or subordination of the payment of the obligations
in respect of the Term Loan Facility and (vi) increases in the percentages applied to eligible assets in the Term
Loan Borrowing Base or other modifications to the Term Loan Borrowing Base or any components thereof which
would result in an increase in the amount of the Term Loan Borrowing Base.
B-20

“Required Lenders” means those non-defaulting Term Loan Lenders who collectively hold more than 50% of the
aggregate amount of outstanding commitments under the Term Loan Facility plus the outstanding amount of the
Term Loans under the Term Loan Facility, provided, that, at any time that there are 2 or more unaffiliated Term
Loan Lenders, “Required Lenders” must include at least 2 unaffiliated Term Loan Lenders.
The Loan Documents shall contain customary provisions for replacing defaulting Term Loan Lenders, replacing
Term Loan Lenders claiming increased costs, tax gross ups and similar required indemnity payments and replacing
non-consenting Term Loan Lenders in connection with amendments and waivers requiring the consent of all Term
Loan Lenders or of all Term Loan Lenders adversely affected thereby so long as Term Loan Lenders holding at
least 50% of the aggregate amount of the loans and commitments under the Term Loan Facility shall have
consented thereto.
Cost and Yield Protections:

Customary for facilities and transactions of this type, including customary tax gross-up provisions and including
provisions relating to Dodd-Frank, Basel III and FATCA.

Governing Law:

New York but excluding any principles of conflicts of law or other rule of law that would cause the application of
the law of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York (other than certain security documents that will be
governed by local law as applicable or as the parties may otherwise agree); subject to the proviso set forth in the
“Governing Law” section of the Commitment Letter.

Expenses, Waivers and Indemnity:

The Loan Parties will pay all of the reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses and customary
administrative charges incurred by Administrative Agent, Lead Arranger and the Initial Lenders including, without
limitation, reasonable legal costs and expenses, reasonable financial consultant and advisor costs and expenses,
filing and search charges, recording taxes, appraisals, real estate evaluations and field examination charges and
expenses, provided, that, legal fees shall be limited to the reasonable fees of one counsel for Lead Arranger and one
counsel for Administrative Agent and, in addition, one local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction and, to the
extent required by the subject matter, one specialist counsel for each such specialized area of law in each
appropriate jurisdiction, and in the case of the enforcement, collection or protection of the rights of Term Loan
Lenders, in addition, one additional counsel for the Term Loan Lenders in the absence of any conflict of interest.
Waivers to include, but not be limited to a waiver by Administrative Agent, Arrangers, Term Loan Lenders and
each Loan Party of its rights to jury trial; waiver by each Loan Party of claims for special, punitive, exemplary,
indirect or consequential damages in respect any breach or alleged breach by Administrative Agent, Arrangers, or
any Term Loan Lender of any of the Loan Documents.
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Loan Parties shall indemnify and hold harmless Administrative Agent, Arrangers and Term Loan Lenders and their
respective directors, officers, agent, representatives and employees from and against all losses, claims, damages,
expenses, or liabilities including, but not limited to, reasonable and documented legal or other expenses incurred
in connection with investigating, preparing to defend, or defending any such loss, claim, damage, expenses or
liability, incurred in respect of the Term Loan Facility or the relationship between Administrative Agent, Arrangers
or any Term Loan Lender and any Loan Party (provided, that, the obligation to reimburse any indemnified person
for legal fees and expenses shall be limited to legal fees and expenses of one firm of counsel for all such
indemnified persons and one local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction (and, to the extent required by the
subject matter, one specialist counsel for each such specialized area of law in each appropriate jurisdiction) and in
the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest as determined by the affected indemnified person, one
counsel for such affected indemnified person), except that the foregoing indemnity will not, as to any Indemnified
Person, apply to costs, expenses or liabilities to the extent they (a) are found in a final, non-appealable judgment of
a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from (i) the willful misconduct, bad faith or gross negligence of
such indemnified person or (ii) a material breach of the material obligations of such indemnified person under the
Commitment Letter, the Fee Letters or the Loan Documents or (b) relate to any claim, litigation, investigation or
proceeding between or among indemnified persons other than (i) claims against any Administrative Agent,
Arranger or Term Loan Lenders or their respective affiliates, in each case in their respective capacities or in
fulfilling their respective roles as the agent or arranger or any other similar role under the Term Loan Facility as the
case may be (excluding their role as a Term Loan Lender) to the extent such persons are otherwise entitled to
indemnification and (ii) claims arising out of any act or omission on the part of the Loan Parties or their
subsidiaries or affiliates.
This Term Sheet for the Term Loan Facility is not meant to be, nor shall it be construed as an attempt to describe all of the terms of the documentation, or the
specific phrasing for, the provisions of the documentation. Rather, it is intended only to outline certain material terms to be included in the Loan Documents,
provided, that the Loan Documents will not contain any conditions precedent to (x) the initial funding under the Term Loan Facility other than those set
forth in Section 6 of the Commitment Letter and (y) borrowings used to consummate a Subsequent Acquisition under the Term Loan Facility other than the
Subsequent Acquisition Conditions. All references to any Term Loan Lender in this Term Sheet include its successors and assigns and such Term Loan
Lender may designate one of its affiliates to act in its place in any of the roles for which it is specified in the Term Sheet.
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SCHEDULE 1
TO
EXHIBIT B TO COMMITMENT LETTER
Interest and Certain Fees
Interest Rate:

Term Loans shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the LIBOR Rate plus the Applicable Margin. If
LIBOR Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed zero for purposes of the Term Loan Facility.
As used herein:
“Applicable Margin” means 9.50% per annum.
“LIBOR Rate” means the greater of (i) 1.00% or (ii) the rate per annum equal to the London Interbank
Offered Rate, or a comparable or successor rate which rate is approved by the Administrative Agent, as
published on the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such other commercially available source
providing such quotations as may be designated by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion
from time to time) at or about 11:00 a.m., London time, two (2) Business Days prior to the commencement
of each month for a one month term (and, if any such rate is below zero, the LIBOR Rate shall be deemed
to be zero).

Default Rate:

Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default, the applicable rates of
interest for all Term Loans shall be increased by 2% per annum above the otherwise then applicable
rates.

Rate and Fee Basis; Payment Dates:

All per annum rates and fees will be computed on basis of actual days elapsed over a 360 day
year. Interest is payable on the first day of each month in arrears.

Fees:

The Company shall pay all fees as and when required under the Fee Letters.
At the option of any Term Loan Lender, all or any portion of the fees payable to such Term Loan Lender
under the Commitment Letter or under the Fee Letters may be taken in the form of original issue discount.
B-23

EXHIBIT C
TO
COMMITMENT LETTER
Conditions Precedent to the Closing of the Term Loan Facility
The conditions precedent to the closing of the Term Loan Facility will consist of the condition precedent set forth in Section 6(a) of the
Commitment Letter and the following conditions precedent:
(a)

The Administrative Agent and Term Loan Lenders shall have received (i) an effective Acquisition Agreement, duly executed by each of the
parties thereto, in form and substance satisfactory to the Arrangers and the Majority Initial Lenders in their sole discretion and (ii) evidence
that the Acquisition (other than the Acquired Stores, the Acquired Distribution Centers, the Corporate Infrastructure, and the related assets and
liabilities to be acquired in any Subsequent Closing or the Final APA Closing, as each of such terms is defined in the Acquisition Agreement)
shall have been, or, substantially concurrently with the initial borrowing under the Credit Facility shall be, consummated in all material
respects in accordance with applicable laws and the terms of the Acquisition Agreement (including the Ancillary Agreements referred to
therein).

(b)

The Acquired Store Series of the Company commencing on the Closing Date shall not consist of less than 100 retail stores of the Acquired
Business (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be completed within 10 business days thereafter).

(c)

The ABL Loan Facility shall have been or, substantially concurrently with the closing of the Term Loan Facility shall be, consummated.

(d)

Subject in all cases to the Certain Funds Provisions, the Administrative Agent and Initial Lenders shall have received: (i) the loan agreement,
guaranties, security agreements, pledge agreements, intellectual property security agreements, Intercreditor Agreement, collateral assignment
of rights under acquisition documents (including any transition services agreement) and other definitive documentation for the Term Loan
Facility, in each case to the extent the Loan Parties are party thereto, executed and delivered by the applicable Loan Parties and the
Commitment Parties party thereto subject to and on terms and consistent with this Commitment Letter (including the Funds Certain
Provisions and Documentation Principles), (ii) a reasonably satisfactory cooperation and license agreement from the Sellers and its affiliates in
connection with the Administrative Agent’s and/or Term Loan Lenders’ access to conduct field examinations of the Purchased Assets,
including the Duplicate IT System (subject to the limits on field examinations set forth herein), use of any intellectual property licensed to the
Borrowers and exercise of rights and remedies under the Term Loan Facility (including conducting “store closing” and similar themed sales),
as applicable, in respect of any retail stores of the Acquired Business subject to the Transition Services Agreement or which utilize (in
accordance with the Acquisition Agreement) intellectual property of the Sellers, (iii) customary legal opinions, (iv) customary evidence of
authority from each Loan Party, (v) customary officer’s certificates from each Loan Party, (vi) good standing certificates (to the extent
applicable) in the respective jurisdictions of organization of each Loan Party, (vii) customary lien searches with respect to each Loan Party,
(viii) UCC financing statements for each Loan Party, (ix) current borrowing base certificate dated as of the Closing Date (or such other date
agreed to by the Administrative Agent) (x) evidence of insurance coverage including certificates naming the Administrative Agent as
additional insured and lender’s loss payee to casualty and business interruption insurance and (xi) borrowing request and disbursement
authorization letter (including funds flow memorandum). Administrative Agent shall have received evidence that notices to each credit card
processor used by Borrowers have been sent to such credit card processor with respect to the security interest of Administrative Agent and
instructions to remit payments to a bank account of Borrowers specified therein and not to change such bank account without the prior written
consent of Administrative Agent. Subject in all cases to the Certain Funds Provision, Administrative Agent, for the benefit of itself and Term
Loan Lenders, shall hold perfected, first priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens) security interests in and liens upon the Term
Loan Priority Collateral and perfected second priority (subject to certain specified permitted liens) security interests in and liens upon the
ABL Priority Collateral, and none of the Collateral shall be subject to any other pledges, security interests, mortgages or assignments as
security, except for liens permitted under the Loan Documents. Receipt by Administrative Agent of (A) customary payoff letters as to the
Company’s existing ABL credit facility (the “ Existing Fred’s ABL ”) reflecting the amounts required to repay in full all outstanding
obligations thereunder (other than (x) contingent indemnity and expense reimbursement obligations for which no claims have been asserted
and (y) any letters of credit outstanding thereunder which shall be permitted to be rolled into the ABL Loan Facility and “grandfathered”
thereunder) and providing that upon receipt of such funds all such arrangements under the Existing Fred’s ABL are terminated and the liens
securing any obligations thereunder are released and (B) customary lien releases and discharges in respect of the Existing Credit Facility for
the assets acquired on the Closing Date under the Acquisition Agreement.
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On the Closing Date, after giving effect to the Transactions, the Company, the Loan Parties and their respective subsidiaries shall not have any
third party debt for borrowed money other than (i) the Term Loan Facility, (ii) the ABL Loan Facility, (iii) ordinary course capital leases,
purchase money indebtedness, equipment financings, letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds of the Loan Parties and their
respective subsidiaries that are not otherwise prohibited by the Loan Documents, (iv) intercompany indebtedness of the Loan Parties and their
subsidiaries not otherwise prohibited by the Loan Documents and (v) certain other debt for borrowed money that the Company and the
Administrative Agent reasonably agree may remain outstanding after the Closing Date.
(e)

The opening Excess Availability at closing after the application of proceeds of the initial funding under the ABL Loan Facility and/or
issuance of initial Letters of Credit (as such term is defined in the ABL Loan Facility documents) under the ABL Loan Facility and after
payment of all fees and expenses of the Transactions payable on the Closing Date, shall be not less than the greater of (x) 25% of the
Combined Loan Cap and (y) $200,000,000.

(f)

Administrative Agent, Administrative Agent and each Term Loan Lender shall have received at least 5 business days prior to the Closing Date
all documentation and information as is reasonably requested by Administrative Agent or a Term Loan Lender that is required by regulatory
authorities under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money-laundering rules and regulations, including, without limitation, the USA
Patriot Act, in each case to the extent requested in writing at least 10 business days prior to the Closing Date.
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(g)

Administrative Agent shall have received (i) (A) projected balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flows and projected Excess
Availability and Borrowing Base, FILO Borrowing Base and Term Loan Borrowing Base of the Company and its subsidiaries after giving
effect to the Transactions and covering the term of the Term Loan Facility, which projections shall be on a monthly basis for the twelve-month
period following the Closing Date and on an annual basis thereafter for the term of the Term Loan Facility, in each case with the results and
assumptions in all of such projections in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent (it being understood that
Administrative Agent has received all such projections under this clause (A) as of the date of the Commitment Letter) and (B) to the extent the
Company may prepare them, any updates and modifications to such projected financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, (ii) an
opening pro forma balance sheet, income statements, statements of cash flows for the Company and its subsidiaries (including the Acquired
Business) as of and for the twelve-month period ended at least 30 calendar days prior to the Closing Date, (iii) interim unaudited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year to date period ended at least 30 calendar days prior to the Closing Date, with prior
year comparison since the last audited financial statements for which financial statements are available, (iv) a quality of earnings report from
Ernst & Young for the 1,200 retail stores of the Acquired Business setting forth 4-wall EBITDA for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2017 and
a report prepared by the Seller’s management setting forth 4-wall EBITDA for the 1,200 retail stores of the Acquired Business for the period of
12 fiscal months ended April 29, 2017 and (v) an acceptable appraisal of each of inventory and pharmacy scripts for the 1,200 retail stores of
the Acquired Business.

(h)

Administrative Agent shall have received a customary solvency certificate from the chief financial officer of the Company substantially in the
form attached hereto as Annex I as of the Closing Date.

(i)

All costs, fees and expenses contemplated hereby or in the Fee Letters due and payable on the Closing Date to Administrative Agent,
Arrangers, and the Term Loan Lenders in respect of the Transactions shall have been paid, provided that invoices for any costs and expenses
to be reimbursed on the Closing Date must be received at least two business days (or such later date as to which the Company may agree in its
sole discretion) prior to the Closing Date or otherwise such costs and expenses will be paid no later than 10 days after the Closing Date.

(j)

The Specified Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date where not already qualified by materiality
or “material adverse effect”, otherwise in all respects, and the Acquisition Agreement Representations will be true and correct as and to the
extent required by Section 6 of the Commitment Letter.
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ANNEX I
TO
EXHIBIT C TO COMMITMENT LETTER
SOLVENCY CERTIFICATE
of
FRED’S, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
[Pursuant to the [Term Loan Agreement], the undersigned hereby certifies, solely in such undersigned’s capacity as chief financial officer of Fred’s, Inc. (the
“Company”) and not individually, as follows:
As of the date hereof, after giving effect to the consummation of the Transactions occurring on the date hereof, including the making of any Term Loans
under the Term Loan Agreement on the date hereof, and after giving effect to the application of the proceeds of such Term Loans:
(a)

The fair value of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, exceeds, on a consolidated basis, their
debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise;

(b)

The present fair saleable value of the property of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, is greater than the
amount that will be required to pay the probable liability, on a consolidated basis, of their debts and other liabilities, subordinated,
contingent or otherwise, as such debts and other liabilities become absolute and matured;

(c)

the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are able to pay their debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or
otherwise, as such liabilities become absolute and matured; and

(d)

the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are not engaged in, and are not about to engage in, business for which
they have unreasonably small capital.

For purposes of this Certificate, the amount of any contingent liability at any time shall be computed as the amount that would reasonably be expected to
become an actual and matured liability. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Term Loan
Agreement.
The undersigned is familiar with the business and financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries. In reaching the conclusions set forth in this
Certificate, the undersigned has made such other investigations and inquiries as the undersigned has deemed appropriate, having taken into account the
nature of the particular business anticipated to be conducted by the Company and its Subsidiaries after consummation of the transactions contemplated by
the Commitment Letter.]
[Signature Page Follows]
ANNEX I-1

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate in such undersigned’s capacity as chief financial officer of the Company, on
behalf of the Company, and not individually, as of the date first stated above.
[COMPANY]
By:
Name:
Title:
ANNEX I-1

EXHIBIT D
TO
COMMITMENT LETTER
Form of Intercreditor Agreement
[Please see attached]
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Michael K. Bloom, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Fred’s, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: September 7, 2017

/s/ Michael K. Bloom
Michael K. Bloom
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Jason A. Jenne, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Fred’s, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: September 7, 2017

/s/ Jason A. Jenne
Jason A. Jenne
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
30

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13(a) OR 15(d) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
Each of the undersigned hereby certifies that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 29, 2017 of Fred’s, Inc. (the “Company”)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
Date: September 7, 2017

/s/ Michael K. Bloom
Michael K. Bloom
Chief Executive Officer

Date: September 7, 2017

/s/ Jason A. Jenne
Jason A. Jenne
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
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